Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

11-22-2012 12:00 AM

Characterization of a tumour suppressor function of RanBPM

Elnaz Atabakhsh The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter The University of Western Ontario

Graduate Program in Biochemistry A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Elnaz Atabakhsh 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, Cancer Biology Commons, and the Molecular Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Atabakhsh, Elnaz, "Characterization of a tumour suppressor function of RanBPM" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 958. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/958

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

CHARACTERIZATION OF A TUMOUR SUPPRESSOR FUNCTION OF RANBPM

(Spine Title: Characterization of a tumour suppressor function of RanBPM)

(Thesis Format: Integrated Article)

by

Elnaz Atabakhsh

Graduate Program in Biochemistry

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Elnaz Atabakhsh 2012

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Supervisor	<u>Examiners</u>
Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter	Dr. Liliana Attisano
Supervisory Committee	
	Dr. Gabriel DiMattia
Dr. Sean Cregan	
	Dr. David Rodenhiser
Dr. Fred Dick	Dr. Lina Dagnino

The thesis by

Elnaz <u>Atabakhsh</u>

entitled:

Characterization of a tumour suppressor function of RanBPM

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

Abstract

Ran-binding protein M (RanBPM) is an evolutionarily conserved nucleocytosolic protein that has been proposed to regulate various cellular processes, including protein stability, gene expression, receptor-mediated signalling pathways, cell adhesion, development, and apoptosis. Despite the multitude of functions attributed to RanBPM however, little is known regarding the precise mechanisms by which RanBPM executes these cellular roles. In this work, we seek to address this matter by describing functions for RanBPM in the regulation of apoptotic and pro-survival signalling pathways, and in cellular transformation.

We first identify RanBPM as a pro-apoptotic protein that regulates the activation of the intrinsic apoptotic signalling pathway in response to DNA damage. We show that RanBPM executes its pro-apoptotic functions by modulating the expression and localization of Bcl-2 family proteins. Next, we demonstrate that RanBPM functions as a novel inhibitor of the ERK1/2 signalling cascade, and that RanBPM regulates the expression of Bcl-2 factors through repression of this pathway. We also extend these analyses to show that RanBPM forms a complex with c-Raf, and that it prevents aberrant ERK1/2 signalling by destabilizing the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex, thus maintaining low cellular c-Raf expression. Our studies also implicate an important function for RanBPM in the regulation of gene expression programs. We find that disruption of RanBPM expression affects transcriptional networks involved in the regulation of organism development and tumourigenesis, and that decreased RanBPM levels alter the expression of factors involved in signal transduction through the Notch, Wnt, PI3K, and ERK1/2 Importantly, our work also reveals that the down-regulation of RanBPM pathways. expression is associated with the acquisition of markers of cellular transformation, specifically evasion from apoptosis, sustained proliferative signalling, and increased cellular migration and invasion, suggesting a novel tumour suppressor function for RanBPM.

Taken together, our studies provide insight into the molecular mechanisms by which may RanBPM mediate its diverse biological functions, and reveal that altered RanBPM expression may have important ramifications in the regulation of organism development and disease pathogenesis. **Keywords:** RanBPM, Bcl-2, ERK1/2, c-Raf, development, apoptosis, signalling, gene expression, cellular transformation, tumour suppression

Co-authorship Statement

The chapters of this thesis were written by Elnaz Atabakhsh and edited by Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter.

The data presented in chapter 2 contains portions of the published manuscript: <u>RanBPM has pro-apoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to</u> <u>DNA damage.</u> Elnaz Atabakhsh, Dawn M. Bryce, Karen J. Lefebvre, and Caroline Schild-Poulter. *Mol Cancer Res* (2009). In this chapter, the experiments in Figures 2.1 and 2.2 were performed by DMB and CSP. EA and CSP performed the experiments in Figure 2.3, and EA and DMB performed the experiments in Figure 2.4. The experiments presented in Figure 2.5 were performed by EA. The manuscript was written and edited by CSP.

The data presented in chapter 3 have been published in the manuscript: <u>RanBPM</u> <u>is a novel inhibitor of ERK signalling</u>. Elnaz Atabakhsh and Caroline Schild-Poulter. *PLoS One* (2012). All experiments in this chapter were performed by EA. The manuscript was written and edited by EA and CSP.

The data presented in chapter 4 have been published in the manuscript: <u>RanBPM</u> expression regulates transcriptional pathways involved in development and <u>tumourigenesis</u>. Elnaz Atabakhsh, Jean H. Wang, Xu Wang, David E. Carter, and Caroline Schild-Poulter. *Am J Cancer Res* (2012). In this chapter the probe preparation and GeneChip hybridization was performed by DEC at the London Regional Genomic Centre, and the experiments presented in Figure 4.2 were performed by JHW and XW. All other experiments, and data and bioinformatics analyses were performed by EA. The original draft of this manuscript was written by EA and edited by CSP. Revisions to the manuscript were made by EA based upon suggestions by CSP.

For Mamanie, Mahsheed, Dai Bahman and My grandparents Sakineh and Yadola "Twenty years from now you will be more disappointed by the things you didn't do than by the ones you did do. So...explore, dream, discover."

– Mark Twain

Acknowledgements

I want to start by thanking my supervisor, Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter, for your support and guidance during the course of my degree. Your door has always been open to discuss any idea or problem, whether it was science-related or otherwise. Thank you for your advice, mentorship, and for helping me to become a keen and independent scientist. I am honoured to have trained under your supervision.

To my advisory committee members, Dr. Sean Cregan and Dr. Fred Dick, thank you for your many helpful discussions regarding my research, and for your support and encouragement throughout the last five years. I sincerely appreciate everything that you have done for me.

To past and present members of the Schild-Poulter Lab: Vicki, Louisa, Wesley, Sarah, Xu, Dawn, Jean, and our numerous undergrad students. Thank you for making our lab a great place to work. To Vicki and Louisa, especially: whether we were brainstorming science, laughing at one of my many "isms", or dealing with "ops" and "codes", everyday in the lab with you was great.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Mrs. Marilynne Fuller for your continued and generous support of me and this project. As well, a major thank you to Jeff and Jeremy at Robarts IT for the countless times you helped me out of a computer disaster before I lost my mind, and the immense patience you've shown while helping me deal with my aversion to technology.

On a personal note, I would like to first thank the most important people in my life, my loving family, for supporting me in everything that I do. To my mother Farzaneh, my sister Mahsheed, and my uncle Bahman: Your incredible strength, unwavering love, and constant encouragement have allowed me to always dream big and to become the person I am today. I cannot put into words how much you mean to methank you from the bottom of my heart!

And finally, to the group of people who have made my time in grad school truly wonderful: Piya, Brad, Jake, Jess, Lazar, Chris, and Joey. The times spent with you laughing, talking about everything and nothing, celebrating the small victories, or ranting about the trials of science have meant more to me than I could ever express. You are the best friends anyone could ask for.

List of Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
AP-1	Activating protein 1
APAF1	Apoptotic protease-activating factor 1
AR	Androgen receptor
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	ATM-related
Αβ	Amyloid β
BAG1	Bcl-2 associated athanogene 1
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BH	Bcl-2 homology
CBF1	C promoter-binding factor 1
CDC37	Cell division cycle 37 (also called p50)
CDK11p ⁴⁶	Cyclin-dependent kinase 11 p46 fragment
CHIP	Carboxy terminal of Hsp70-interacting protein
CK1	Casein kinase 1
CR	Conserved region
CRA	CT11-RanBPM
CREB	Cyclic AMP-response element-binding protein
CRD	Cysteine-rich domain
C(t)	Cycle threshold
C-terminal	Carboxy terminal
CTLH	C-terminal to LisH
cyt c	cytochrome <i>c</i>
Da	Dalton
DDR	DNA damage response
Dll	Delta-like
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA-PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DSBs	Double-stranded breaks
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ErbB2	Epidermal growth factor receptor 2

ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FOX	Forkhead box
Fz	Frizzled
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
Grb2	Growth factor receptor bound-protein 2
GSC	Germline stem cell
GSK3	Glycogen synthase kinase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HD	Huntington's disease
Hes	Hairy and enhancer of split
Неу	Hes-related repressor protein
HIPK2	Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2
HMG	High mobility group
HOX	Homeobox
HSP	Heat shock protein
IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis protein
IR	Ionizing radiation
IPA	Ingenuity pathway analysis
JAG	Jagged
JAK	Janus kinase
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
KDa	Kilodalton
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LisH	Lissencephaly homology
LRP5/6	Lipoprotein-related receptor proteins 5 and 6
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
МАРКК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МАРККК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MET	MET proto-oncogene
MMP	Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
MTOC	Microtubule organizing centre
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-B
NICD	Notch intracellular domain
N-region	Negative-charge region
N-terminal	Amino terminal

Oct-1	Octamer factor 1
OMM	Outer mitochondrial membrane
p75NTR	p75 neurotrophin receptor
PANTHER	Protein analysis through evolutionary relationships
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide-3 kinase
pRB	Retinoblastoma protein
PUMA	p53-regulated modulator of apoptosis
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR
RanBPM	Ran-binding protein M (also called RanBP9)
RanBPM si-mt	RanBPM shRNA point-mutant expression construct
RBD	Ras-binding domain
RON	Recepteur d'origine nantais
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
SAPK	Stress-activated protein kinase
Ser/S	Serine
Sos	Son of sevenless
SOX	SRY-related HMG box
SPRY	Sp1A and ryanodine receptors
SRC	v-src sarcoma
TAF4	TATA box binding protein-associated factor 4
TCF/LEF	T cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TM	Transmembrane
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRIM5	Tripartite motif 5
Trk	Tropomyosin-related kinase
Tyr/Y	Tyrosine
UV	Ultraviolet
WLS	Wntless

Title	i
Certificate of Examination	ii
Abstract	iii
Co-authorship Statement	v
Dedication	vi
Epigraph	vii
Acknowledgements	viii
List of Abbreviations	ix
Table of Contents	xii
List of Tables	xvii
List of Figures	xviii
List of Appendices	xix
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
1.1 General introduction	1
1.2 RanBPM	2
1.2.1 Structure and proposed functions	2
1.2.2 Regulation of intracellular signalling pathways	4
1.2.3 Functions in developmental regulation	5
1.2.4 Functions in apoptotic signalling	6
1.2.5 Summary	7
1.3 Apoptosis	7
1.3.1 Overview	7
1.3.2 Intrinsic apoptotic pathway	8
1.4 Bcl-2 family proteins	11
1.4.1 Overview	11
1.4.2 Pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins	13
1.4.3 Anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins	14
1.4.4 Bcl-2 proteins and cancer	15
1.5 ERK1/2 signalling pathway	16
1.5.1 Mitogen-activated protein kinases	16

Table of Contents

1.5.2 Overview of ERK1/2 signalling	18
1.5.3 Raf kinases	20
1.5.3.1 Overview and structure of Raf kinases	20
1.5.3.2 Activation of c-Raf	22
1.5.3.3 C-Raf protein folding and stability	24
1.5.3.3.1 Heat shock proteins	24
1.5.3.3.2 Regulation of c-Raf folding and stability by molecular chaperones	26
1.5.4 Deregulation of Ras-Raf-ERK1/2 signalling in cancer	27
1.6 Cellular transformation and tumourigenesis	27
1.6.1 Hallmarks of cancer	27
1.6.1.1 Evasion from apoptosis	28
1.6.1.2 Uncontrolled cellular replication	28
1.6.1.3 Sustained proliferative signalling	29
1.6.1.4 Escape from growth suppression	29
1.6.1.5 Increased angiogenesis, and enhanced cellular migration and invasion	30
1.6.2 Deregulated developmental signalling in cancer	32
1.6.2.1 Notch signalling	32
1.6.2.2 Wnt/β-catenin signalling	33
1.6.2.3 Summary	35
1.7 Scope of thesis	35
1.8 Chapter 1 references	38
Chapter 2 – RanBPM has pro-apoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage	54
2.1 Introduction	54
2.2 Materials and methods	55
2.2.1 Plasmid expression constructs	55
2.2.2 siRNA and shRNA constructs	56
2.2.3 Cell culture, treatments and irradiation	56
2.2.4 Transfection assays	57
2.2.5 Extracts and western blot analyses	57

2	.2.6 Caspase assays
2	.2.7 Apoptotic index and survival assays
2	.2.8 Statistical analyses
2.3 R	lesults
2	.3.1 RanBPM overexpression induces cell death
2	.3.2 RanBPM down-regulation prevents caspase activation and cell death in response to IR
2	.3.3 RanBPM affects levels and localization of Bcl-2 family factors
2.4 D	Discussion
2.5 C	Chapter 2 references
Chapter	3 – RanBPM is an inhibitor of ERK signalling
3.1 I	ntroduction
3.2 N	Iaterials and methods
3	.2.1 Plasmid expression constructs
3	.2.2 siRNA and shRNA constructs
3	.2.3 Cell culture and treatments
3	.2.4 Transfection assays
3	.2.5 Western blot, co-immunoprecipitations and GST pull-down assays
3	.2.6 Quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR
3	.2.7 Cell growth and migration assays
3	.2.8 Statistical analyses
3.3 R	lesults
3	.3.1 RanBPM modulates transcriptional and post-transcriptional events that regulate Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L expression
3	.3.2 RanBPM inhibits ERK1/2 activation
3	.3.3 Inhibition of ERK1/2 signalling down-regulates Bcl-2 protein levels in RanBPM shRNA cells
3	.3.4 RanBPM targets the ERK1/2 signalling pathway downstream of Ras
3	.3.5 RanBPM forms a complex with c-Raf and inhibits c-Raf expression
3	.3.6 RanBPM disrupts Hsp90-c-Raf association
3.	.3.7 Inhibition of RanBPM expression promotes cellular transformation
3.4 D	Discussion

3.5 Chapter 3 references
Chapter 4 – RanBPM expression regulates transcriptional pathways involved in development and tumourigenesis
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods
4.2.1 Cell culture
4.2.2 Plasmid expression constructs and transfection assays
4.2.3 Western blotting
4.2.4 RNA extraction, quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR and statistical analyses
4.2.5 RNA quality assessment, probe preparation and GeneChip hybridization
4.2.6 Bioinformatics and data analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Identification of gene targets regulated by RanBPM expression
4.3.2 IPA and PANTHER analyses
4.3.3 Validation of selected gene targets
4.3.4 Identification of over-represented transcription factor binding sites
4.4 Discussion
4.4.1 Summary
4.4.2 Implications in development
4.4.3 Implications in signalling
4.4.4 Implications in transcriptional regulation
4.4.5 Potential implications in epigenetic regulation
4.4.6 Conclusion
4.5 Chapter 4 references
4.6 Chapter 4 supplementary materials
Chapter 5 – Discussion and future directions
5.1 Summary of findings
5.2 Functions for RanBPM in tumour suppression
5.2.1 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression confers resistance to apoptosis

5.2.2 Decreased RanBPM expression is associated with loss of growth factor dependence in cells	164
5.2.3 Absence of RanBPM expression corresponds with enhanced cellular migration and invasion	167
5.3 Regulation of diverse transcriptional programs by RanBPM	167 168
5.4 Oncogenic and metastatic potential of RanBPM in vivo	172
5.5 Chapter 5 references	174
Appendices	180
Curriculum Vitae	184

List of Tables

Table 4.1 IPA analysis of top biological functions altered in RanBPM shRNA cells	122
Table 4.2 IPA analysis of cellular networks affected by RanBPM down-regulation.	123
Table 4.3 oPOSSUM analysis of over-represented transcription factor binding sites.	132
Supplementary Table 4.1 Primers for candidate gene validation by qRT-PCR	154
Supplementary Table 4.2 List of genes affected by RanBPM down-regulation	155

List of Figures	5
-----------------	---

Figure 1.1 RanBPM domain map	3
Figure 1.2 Intrinsic apoptotic pathway	10
Figure 1.3 Bcl-2 family proteins	12
Figure 1.4 ERK1/2 signalling pathway	19
Figure 1.5 Raf protein structure	21
Figure 1.6 C-Raf activation cycle	23
Figure 2.1 Ectopic expression of RanBPM in Hela cells induces cell death through apoptotic pathways	62
Figure 2.2 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression affects the induction of caspase activity following IR treatment	64
Figure 2.3 RanBPM down-regulation reduces apoptosis and increases cell survival	67
Figure 2.4 RanBPM down-regulation affects Bax localization and Bcl-2 expression	70
Figure 2.5 RanBPM down-regulation in HCT116 cells	72
Figure 3.1 Regulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L by RanBPM	89
Figure 3.2 RanBPM is a negative regulator of ERK1/2 activation	92
Figure 3.3 Regulation of Bcl-2 expression by RanBPM occurs through ERK1/2	95
Figure 3.4 RanBPM inhibits ERK1/2 activation through regulation of c-Raf	98
Figure 3.5 RanBPM interacts with c-Raf and reduces c-Raf-Hsp90 association	101
Figure 3.6 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression enhances cellular transformation	104
Figure 4.1 PANTHER analysis of cellular processes altered by RanBPM down-regulation	126
Figure 4.2 Validation of selected gene targets identified in microarray analyses	130
Supplementary Figure 4.1 Analysis of Hela and HCT116 stable cell lines	153
Figure 5.1 ERK-dependent and ERK-independent functions of RanBPM	162

List of Appendices

Appendix]	Copyright permissions	180
------------	-----------------------	-----

Chapter 1

1. Introduction

1.1 General introduction

On average, the human body generates 60 billion cells per day, and must eliminate the same number of cells daily in order to maintain cellular homeostasis [1]. This requires the balance between signals that stimulate cell proliferation and those that mediate cell death, and not surprisingly, deregulation of either of these processes can result in the pathogenesis of diseases such as cancer [1-3]. In humans, cancer development (tumourigenesis) occurs as a result of complex, multi-step genetic alterations that drive the progression from a normal cell to a transformed, malignant cell These alterations arise from genomic instability that causes gain-of-function [4]. mutations that generate proto-oncogenes and loss-of-function mutations in tumour suppressors, which together disrupt control over cellular growth and proliferation [4-6]. Different combinations of mutations within these genes are attributed to the over 100 different types of human cancers that have been identified to date [4]. Over the last thirty years, intensive studies on the mechanisms that govern malignant transformation have led to the proposal that cancer occurs as a result of broad genetic alterations that disrupt a small number of key cellular processes [4, 5]. Based upon this notion, in 2000 Hanahan and Weinberg proposed the six hallmarks of cancer, which were defined as: uncontrolled cellular replication, failure to respond to growth-suppressor signals, sustained proliferative signalling, evasion from apoptosis, increased angiogenesis, and enhanced cellular migration and invasion [5]. These hallmarks represent the changes in cellular physiology that mediate the progression of cells from a normal to a malignant state, via a series of intermediate stages that define the physiology of pre-metastatic disease [5].

At its core, cancer is a disease that occurs as a result of loss of cellular homeostasis. Therefore, in order to understand how cancer develops, it is also necessary to attain a detailed understanding of how normal cells balance the numerous intrinsic and extrinsic signals that stimulate growth or promote death. The current focus of many cancer researchers is to unravel the complex regulatory networks that mediate normal cellular growth, proliferation, survival, and death, and couple this with elucidating the mechanisms by which cells disrupt control of these networks to become cancerous. The aim of this thesis is to contribute to this field of research by characterizing a novel function for Ran-binding protein M (RanBPM, also called RanBP9) in the regulation of signalling pathways that govern cell survival and cell death, and the implications of this role for RanBPM in the regulation of cellular transformation.

1.2 RanBPM

1.2.1 Structure and proposed functions

RanBPM (also known as RanBP9) is a 90kDa nucleocytoplasmic protein, initially identified as a binding partner of the Ran GTPase that localized to the microtubule organizing centre (MTOC) [7]. These initial observations of RanBPM were later dismissed however [8], and subsequent studies on this protein have been aimed at identifying its cellular function. The RanBPM protein is ubiquitously expressed [8, 9] and highly conserved, with RanBPM orthologues identified in plants [10], lower eukaryotes (known as Vid30/Gid1 in yeast) [11], and vertebrates species [8], and is characterized by four well-conserved domains (Fig. 1.1). The N-terminus of RanBPM contains a SPRY (Sp1A and ryanodine receptors) domain that is proposed to function as a protein-interaction module [12, 13]. SPRY domains have been identified in over 600 eukaryotic proteins with diverse cellular roles such as calcium and cytokine signalling, and retroviral restriction [12, 13]. The presence of SPRY domains is believed to be of critical importance for the overall function of proteins that contain this domain [12, 13]. For example truncation or deletion of the SPRY domain in the TRIM5 (tripartite motif 5) protein, which is involved in retroviral restriction in primates, completely abolishes its anti-viral activity and also inhibits the anti-viral activity of wildtype TRIM5 [14]. In addition, mutations in the SPRY domain of the Pyrin protein alter its function, and result in an auto-inflammatory condition called familial Mediterranean fever [12, 15, 16]. Interestingly, deletion of the SPRY domain in RanBPM has been found to disrupt its interaction with several of its binding partners [12], suggesting that this domain may also



Figure 1.1 RanBPM domain map. The four conserved regions of the RanBPM protein are comprised of the SPRY, LisH, CTLH, and CRA domains. The relative amino acid position in the human RanBPM protein is indicated for each domain. Figure adapted from [17].

be important for RanBPM function. The central region of the RanBPM protein contains a LisH (Lissencephaly homology) domain that is involved in protein dimerization [18, 19], and a CTLH (C-terminal to LisH) domain, for which a function is currently not known [18]. LisH domains have been found in more than 100 eukaryotic proteins, the majority of which are involved in regulation of microtubule dynamics [18]. Mutations in the LisH domain of proteins have been associated with disease development, including conditions that arise as a result of abnormal cell migration [18]. While a function for the CTLH domain has not been elucidated, structurally conserved CTLH complexes consisting of several LisH- and CTLH-domain containing proteins (including RanBPM) have been identified in plant, yeast, and mammalian cells [10, 20, 21]. The yeast CTLH complex was found to regulate proteasomal and vacuolar degradation of fructose-1,6bisphosphate [20], while in mammals a component of this complex was reported to participate in the lysosomal trafficking of ubiquitinated proteins [22]. The last 100 amino acids of RanBPM comprise an alpha-helical region called the CRA (CT11-RanBPM) domain, that is proposed to mediate protein-protein interactions [23], and has been identified in several proteins that are components of CTLH complexes [10, 20, 21].

RanBPM has been reported to function in a multitude of cellular processes including regulation of protein stability [24, 25], transcriptional regulation of steroid receptors [26-28], functioning as an adaptor/scaffold for receptor signalling pathways [29-32], and in the regulation of development [33-35] and apoptosis [36-39]. Despite these findings however, the precise modality by which RanBPM functions remains largely undetermined.

1.2.2 Regulation of intracellular signalling pathways

Early studies on RanBPM revealed that the N-terminal region of the protein contains a long stretch of proline and glutamine residues [8]. It is well established that proteins which possess glutamine-rich regions form aggregates [40], a characteristic which has been attributed to the development of several pathological conditions including Huntington's Disease (HD) [40]. The presence of a glutamine-rich region in RanBPM

led to the hypothesis that protein-protein interactions may be important to its cellular function, a notion that was supported by the observation that RanBPM was a component of a large, multi-subunit protein complex exceeding 670kDa in size [8]. This also led to the suggestion that RanBPM may function as a scaffolding protein that integrates signals from multiple pathways within the cell [9, 41]. Consistent with such a role, RanBPM was proposed to localize to the plasma membrane and function as a scaffold for several cell-surface receptors, by coupling receptor activation to the induction of downstream signalling events. For example, interaction of RanBPM with the intracellular kinase domain of the MET proto-oncogene (MET) receptor was found to stimulate extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 signalling, and to enhance cell migration [30]. Further, its interaction with the intracellular kinase domain of the tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) B receptor was found to promote ERK1/2 and Akt activation, and lead to neuronal differentiation [31]. In an opposing role, Cheng *et al.* reported that RanBPM interacted with the cytoplasmic domain of the neural cell adhesion molecule L1, and inhibited L1-mediated ERK1/2 activation and neurite outgrowth [29]. In studies with the LFA-1 (lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1) integrin, RanBPM was observed to bind the cytoplasmic domain of the β_2 integrin LFA-1 at the plasma membrane, and couple LFA-1 with intracellular signalling and transcriptional activation [9]. Together, these findings led to a model for RanBPM function, in which RanBPM mediates intracellular responses to extracellular cues that govern cell function and behaviour.

1.2.3 Functions in developmental regulation

Most studies on RanBPM are centred upon the identification and characterization of its interaction partners, but fail to ascribe a biological significance to these interactions. However, several recent reports have pointed to an important function for this protein in neuronal and germline development. In support of a role in neuronal development, Brunkhorst *et al.* reported that RanBPM interacted with the transcriptional co-activator TAF4 (TATA box binding protein-associated factor 4) in neural stem cells and mediated neuritogenesis during differentiation [35]. Additionally, work by Scantlebury and colleagues determined that in the *Drosophila* nervous system, RanBPM function was required for proper larval feeding behaviour, response to light, and for coordinated locomotion [42]. With regard to a function in germline development, RanBPM was found to regulate the size and morphology of the microenvironment (niche) that determines germline stem cell (GSC) fate in the *Drosophila* ovary, and to regulate the capacity of this niche for GSCs [34]. Moreover, recent studies using knockout mice demonstrated that RanBPM is critical for normal gonad development in mammals, as absence of RanBPM expression resulted in the loss of all germ cells in the gonads of male and female mice, and rendered them sterile [33].

The importance of RanBPM function in development is further substantiated by the observation that it is a vital gene in *Drosophila*, and that larvae expressing mutant forms of RanBPM exhibit feeding defects that cause them to be markedly smaller than control flies [34, 42]. RanBPM appears to be equally important for normal development in mammals, although unlike in *Drosophila*, deletion of RanBPM in mice is not lethal [33]. Intriguingly, in the study by Puverel *et al.*, over half of RanBPM knockout mice died perinatally, and those which did survive were significantly smaller in size than their normal littermate controls [33]. While the causes of perinatal lethality and growth suppression in these mice have not yet been elucidated, they support the notion that perturbation of RanBPM expression has significant consequences for normal organism development.

1.2.4 Functions in apoptotic signalling

RanBPM has also been linked to the regulation of apoptotic pathways. It was reported to bind the intracellular death domain of the p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75NTR), a member of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily that promotes apoptosis in neuronal cells [43]. It was also found to bind a caspase-cleaved fragment of cyclin-dependent kinase 11 (CDK11p⁴⁶) that functions as an effector protein in receptor-activated apoptotic signalling pathways [37]. Additionally, RanBPM interacts with factors involved in transcriptional regulation of intrinsic apoptotic signalling. Kramer and colleagues reported that binding of RanBPM to the transcription factor p73 stabilized

the p73 protein, and enhanced its pro-apoptotic activity [25]. An interaction of RanBPM was also observed with homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2), which promotes p53-dependent apoptosis [38]. Recent studies have also identified a function for RanBPM in apoptotic regulation in diseased states. Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that is characterized by accumulation of the amyloid β (A β) protein in extracellular plaques, and by widespread neuronal and synaptic loss [44]. RanBPM was found to enhance A β generation [45] and to augment A β -mediated apoptosis and neurodegeneration in neuronal cell lines [39].

1.2.5 Summary

Since its initial discovery nearly 15 years ago, extensive efforts have been made to understand the cellular function(s) of RanBPM. This has been complicated, however, by the fact that the majority of reports on RanBPM identify binding partners for this protein without providing insight into the functional consequences of these interactions. Nevertheless these observations have identified several processes in which RanBPM appears to have a critical role, including apoptosis and the regulation of diverse signalling pathways. They also highlight an important role for RanBPM in development, and suggest a function for RanBPM in disease pathogenesis. While it remains to be determined how RanBPM can govern so many distinct processes, it appears that elucidating the cellular functions of RanBPM may have great implications in understanding normal organism function and the development of pathophysiological conditions.

1.3 Apoptosis

1.3.1 Overview

Initially defined in 1972 as a counterbalance for cell proliferation, apoptosis is a process of programmed cell death that is critical to both physiological and pathological development [2]. Activation of apoptosis can be triggered either by extracellular stimuli

(extrinsic pathway) or intracellular stimuli (intrinsic pathway) that converge upon a family of cysteine proteases called caspases, which are responsible for the execution of cell death [46]. In the extrinsic apoptotic pathway, specialized immune cells produce death-inducing ligands that bind pro-apoptotic receptors at the cell membrane and activate intracellular signalling pathways that lead to caspase activation [46]. Conversely exposure of cells to stresses such as heat shock, growth factor withdrawal, or radiation-induced DNA damage, activates the intrinsic apoptotic pathway that mediates caspase activation via disruption of mitochondrial function [46, 47]. Upon activation, caspases cleave specific cellular substrates to induce apoptotic cell death [47]. The end stages of apoptosis are characterized by chromatin condensation, nuclear fragmentation, cell shrinkage and fragmentation, and ultimately the engulfment and elimination of cells by phagocytosis [1].

1.3.2 Intrinsic apoptotic pathway

DNA is under constant assault from environmental and intracellular factors, which pose a threat to the integrity of the genome [48]. Genotoxic agents such as ionizing radiation (IR) or reactive oxygen species (ROS) can generate DNA lesions and strand breaks [48, 49], the most dangerous form of which is DNA double-stranded breaks (DSBs) [50, 51]. If not repaired properly, DNA damage can lead to genomic instability and chromosomal rearrangements, both of which are critical features of cancer development [52]. Thus cells have developed intricate signalling pathways, collectively known as the DNA damage response (DDR), to sense and repair DNA strand breaks [51, 52]. Alternatively when repair is not possible, the DNA damage response activates cell death pathways that eliminate damaged cells before the compromised genetic material can be propagated [51-53]. In the DDR, DNA lesions signal the recruitment and assembly of repair complexes at the sites of damage, and the activation of checkpoint signalling [53, 54]. Checkpoint signalling mediates cell cycle arrest in order to allow cells sufficient time to repair the damaged DNA and to restore genomic integrity [53, 54]. Successful DNA repair causes the inactivation of checkpoint signalling and re-entry into the cell cycle [53, 54]. However, in instances where DNA damage exceeds a certain

threshold and is too extensive to be repaired, the intrinsic apoptotic pathway is activated to eliminate damaged cells (Fig 1.2) [52, 54]. DNA damage can signal apoptotic activation through several cellular factors including caspase-2, and the transcription factors p53 and E2F1 [49, 51, 55]. P53 is one of the key proteins involved in mediating DNA damage-induced apoptosis. It has been extensively demonstrated to function as a critical tumour suppressor in cells that prevents genomic instability by promoting cell death in response to irreparable DNA damage [56]. Upon its activation by upstream DNA damage signalling cascades, p53 transactivates the expression of pro-apoptotic B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) family factors. Pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins trigger mitochondrial membrane permeabilization (MMP), which causes mitochondrial dysfunction and marks the commitment of cells to apoptotic cell death [52]. Mitochondrial dysfunction results in the release of integral mitochondrial proteins such as cytochrome c (cyt c) from the intermembrane space into the cytoplasm [57]. Cytosolic cyt c then recruits the apoptotic protease-activating factor-1 (APAF-1), and the initiator caspase pro-caspase-9, and together these form the death signalling complex known as the apoptosome [57]. Within the apoptosome, pro-caspase-9 undergoes autocatalytic activation and cleaves and activates the effector caspases, caspase -3 and -7 [57, 58]. Effector caspases have a wide range of cellular targets, including factors involved in the cell cycle and DNA repair, as well as cytoskeletal and structural proteins. Cleavage of these substrates promotes downstream signalling events that culminate in the execution of apoptotic cell death.

Apoptosis is a highly regulated process, and the ability to undergo apoptosis is pivotal to preventing genomic instability and chromosomal rearrangements, and to maintaining cellular and tissue homeostasis [1]. Consequently, deregulation of apoptotic pathways is associated with the occurrence of pathological conditions such as cancer. For example, somatic mutations in p53 are among the most common in cancer, occurring in nearly half of all human malignancies [59]. These mutations result in the simultaneous loss of the tumour suppressor activity of p53 and in the acquisition of oncogenic activity by p53, and are often associated with more aggressive and metastatic cancers [59]. Mutations in the expression and activity of several Bcl-2 family proteins have also been associated with the occurrence and progression of certain cancers, and are often



Figure 1.2 Intrinsic apoptotic pathway. In resting cells, Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L prevent mitochondrial membrane permeabilization by inhibiting Bax and Bak activity. Induction of upstream apoptotic signalling leads to Bax and Bak oligomerization at the mitochondrial membrane, and cytochrome *c* (cyt *c*) release into the cytoplasm. Together with APAF-1 and pro-caspase-9, cyt *c* forms a death signalling complex (apoptosome), in which caspase-9 is activated, and mediates cleavage and activation of the executioner caspases, caspase-3 and caspase-7.

prognostic indicators of poor patient outcome [60-62]. As such, these proteins have become the focus of tremendous research aimed at elucidating the mechanisms that regulate their expression and function under normal conditions, and how these processes are deregulated in cancer.

1.4 Bcl-2 family proteins

1.4.1 Overview

Bcl-2 proteins comprise a large family of pro- and anti-apoptotic factors, with critical functions in apoptotic regulation. In the absence of death stimuli, anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins bind pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 members and retain them in an inactive state, thereby preventing cell death. Upstream apoptotic signalling causes the release and activation of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, followed by MMP and cyt c release, resulting in cell death. Due to their critical roles in apoptosis, the expression of Bcl-2 proteins is highly regulated, and changes in the relative cellular ratios of the pro- and anti-apoptotic members determines the commitment to cell death. Bcl-2 proteins are divided into three sub-classes: the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Fig 1.3A), the multi-BH (Bcl-2 homology) domain pro-apoptotic proteins (Fig. 1.3B), and the pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins that as the name indicates contain only the BH3 motif (Fig 1.3C). The BH1-3 motifs in the anti-apoptotic, and multi-domain pro-apoptotic, Bcl-2 proteins form a hydrophobic groove that can be bound by the BH3 motif of BH3-only proteins [63]. In the proapoptotic BH3-only proteins, this motif serves as an interaction surface that either binds and represses anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, or binds and activates pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins [63]. It is believed that for the majority of BH3-only proteins, this motif is required for their death-promoting activity [63, 64]. Finally, the C-termini of Bcl-2 proteins contain hydrophobic regions (known as the transmembrane (TM) domain) that facilitate their interaction with, and their insertion into, intracellular membranes, such as the mitochondria [63].



Figure 1.3 Bcl-2 family proteins. The domain structure of the (A) multi-domain antiapoptotic, (B) multi-domain pro-apoptotic, and (C) BH3-only pro-apoptotic, Bcl-2 proteins is depicted. The respective positions of the Bcl-2 homology (BH), and transmembrane [(TM), purple] domains are indicated for each protein. Figure adapted from [63].

1.4.2 Pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins

The two classes of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins function to regulate the activation and execution of MMP and cell death. The pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins act as stress sensors that are activated in response to various stimuli including DNA damage, and function upstream of the mitochondria to activate the pro-apoptotic multi-BH domain proteins [65]. The function of the multi-BH domain pro-apoptotic proteins is to execute mitochondrial permeabilization and cyt c release [65].

To date, eight BH3-only Bcl-2 proteins have been identified, including Noxa, p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA), Bad, and Bim, which are each activated by specific death stimuli. Activation of BH3-only proteins is achieved through changes in their expression levels, either via up-regulation of gene expression or changes in post-translational modifications. This increases the cellular ratio of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, relative to the anti-apoptotic proteins, and shifts the balance toward cell death [47, 65]. BH3-only proteins can activate the pro-apoptotic multi-BH domain proteins by two distinct mechanisms [64]. They can bind and sequester anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, thus facilitating the release and indirect activation of the pro-apoptotic multi-BH domain proteins [64, 66]. Alternatively, BH3-only proteins can directly bind the pro-apoptotic multi-BH domain proteins, resulting in their release from inactive heterodimers, and their activation [64, 66]. Based upon their roles as stress sensors and activators of downstream apoptotic signalling, BH3-only proteins are essential to the initiation of apoptosis [64].

The two main multi-BH domain pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins are Bax and Bak, which function by oligomerizing at the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM), thus causing mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death. Activation of Bax and Bak occurs through changes in their post-translational modifications and sub-cellular localization [64, 66]. In the absence of death stimuli Bax resides in the cytoplasm as an inactive monomer (Fig. 1.2) [57, 65]. Upon activation by BH3-only proteins, it translocates to the mitochondria where it undergoes conformational changes that facilitate its insertion into the OMM [57, 65]. Conversely, Bak resides at the OMM, and is retained in an inactive state through heterodimerization with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Fig. 1.2) [57, 65]. Upon activation Bak is released from these inactive heterodimers, and undergoes

conformational changes that cause its oligomerization [57, 65]. Bax and Bak oligomers form pores or channels in the mitochondrial membrane that disrupt the voltage gradient across the membrane, and lead to loss of mitochondrial integrity. This, coupled with the release of inner mitochondrial proteins such as cyt c into the cytosol, commits the cells to apoptotic cell death [47].

1.4.3 Anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins

The central function of the anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family is to prevent apoptosis by opposing the death-inducing activity of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins [60, 63]. The five members of this sub-class (Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, Bcl-w, Mcl-1, and A1) are known to protect cells from a variety of cytotoxic insults including IR, UV radiation, and cytokine withdrawal [60, 63]. In resting cells, anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins sequester pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins and neutralize their death-promoting activity. Apoptosis is triggered by "de-repression" of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, wherein anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins become inactivated, and mitochondria become sensitized to permeabilization due to enhanced levels of activated Bax and Bak [66]. Further, anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins can localize to the cytoplasmic surfaces of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), nuclear, and mitochondrial membranes to maintain their membrane integrity, which may also have important implications in regulating cell death [47, 61, 63]. These proteins also have documented roles in regulating cellular and tissue homeostasis, and in development [47, 63, 67].

The execution of these pivotal cellular functions by anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins necessitates intricate regulation of their expression and activity. This is achieved through complex transcriptional and post-translational mechanisms [61]. Extensive studies on Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L in particular have implicated roles for the cyclic AMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) [68-70] and nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- κ B) [68, 71-74] transcription factors in promoting Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L gene expression, while p53 has been found to repress Bcl-2 gene expression [75, 76]. Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, and Mcl-1 are also known to be regulated through post-translational modifications that modulate their antiapoptotic activity, and protein stability. For example, their phosphorylation can be associated either with enhanced protein stability and anti-apoptotic function [77-79], or with increased ubiquitination and proteasome-dependent degradation [79-84], depending upon the stimulus that triggers the modification. The multi-level regulation of expression and activity of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins is achieved mainly through the induction of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) signalling cascades [79, 80, 82, 85-87]. These pathways regulate the expression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 factors either through direct phosphorylation of their proteins, or indirectly by modulating the activity of transcription factors that regulate their gene expression. This shifts the balance either toward cell survival or cell death, depending upon the effect of the pathway on cellular levels of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins.

1.4.4 Bcl-2 proteins and cancer

The ability of cells to undergo apoptosis is critical to tumour suppression. Mutations that result in deregulated expression and activity of Bcl-2 family proteins have important implications in the initiation and progression of several types of cancer [62, 63, 65]. Based upon their roles in promoting cell death, Bax and Bak are proposed to function as tumour suppressors [60, 61, 63]. In support of this notion, Bax was reported to be mutated and/or inactivated in colon tumours [52, 88], and decreased Bax expression was associated with increased tumourigenicity and poor patient outcome [89-91]. Tumour suppressor functions for both Bim [92] and Bid [93] have also been suggested. These observations, as well as the potent role of BH3-only proteins in promoting apoptosis, have made them attractive targets in the development of chemotherapeutic agents that function by reactivating the apoptotic machinery in order to promote tumour cell death [61, 67].

Significant evidence also supports a tumour-promoting function for anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins. Indeed Bcl-2 itself was initially identified based upon a chromosomal translocation event (denoted t(14;18) translocation) occurring in lymphomas. This translocation fuses the Bcl-2 gene to the immunoglobulin heavy chain gene locus,

resulting in aberrant transactivation of Bcl-2, and a marked increase in its expression [62, 94]. Additional studies have determined that the Bcl-2 gene is often amplified and/or overexpressed in many human cancers [62, 95]. Bcl-2 is a proto-oncogene [47, 62], but is unique in that unlike most oncogenes, it does not promote tumourigenesis via enhanced cellular proliferation, but rather through suppression of cell death [65, 67]. Importantly, mutations in Bcl-2 confer resistance to radiation and chemotherapies in patients, and are poor prognostic indicators in many cancers [62, 94, 95]. Likewise, Bcl-X_L expression is associated with increased radio- and chemotherapeutic resistance in many cancers [95, 96], and Mcl-1 expression is reported to be increased in multiple myeloma [97] and chronic lymphocytic leukemia [98]. These collective findings have resulted in substantial efforts aimed at identifying novel therapies that will antagonize the functions of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, in order to restore normal apoptotic signalling and response to chemotherapeutic agents in tumours [67, 95]. These strategies include targeting the pathways that modulate the expression and activity of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, such as MAPK signalling.

1.5 ERK1/2 signalling pathway

1.5.1 Mitogen-activated protein kinases

Since their initial discovery over 20 years ago, the MAPK superfamily of serine/threonine kinases has become one of the most intensively studied signal transduction modulators in eukaryotes [99, 100]. These evolutionarily and functionally conserved proteins link cell surface receptors to intracellular signal transducers, and have been implicated in the regulation of many important cellular processes including embryogenesis, cellular proliferation, cell differentiation, metabolism, and cell death [99, 101, 102]. Deregulated MAPK signalling has also been attributed to the development of many pathological conditions including inflammatory and degenerative disorders, and cancer [100, 103]. Signalling through the MAPK pathway involves a "phospho-relay" system [101], whereby mitogenic stimuli lead to the sequential activation of three
kinases, each by its upstream kinase, following the general pattern of

$\mathsf{MAPKKK} \rightarrow \mathsf{MAPKK} \rightarrow \mathsf{MAPK}$

that is also regulated at each step by a MAPK phosphatase that serves to attenuate signalling [100-102].

While each MAPK exhibits a certain degree of specificity for its cellular targets (sometimes called MAPK effectors), there is also considerable overlap amongst different MAPKs for these substrates [99, 100]. This overlap allows for the incorporation of signals from numerous stimuli into specific cellular substrates that mediate the response to that stimulus [99]. Thus, regulation of MAPK signalling is achieved through the formation of complexes that integrate various signal inputs and ensure substrate specificity [99]. Within these complexes, scaffolding proteins tether the different components of the signalling pathway to each other, thereby facilitating kinase activation, and determining the specificity of kinases for their targets [99, 100]. These scaffolding complexes can also impact the sub-cellular localization of MAPKs, which has important consequences for MAPK activity, and substrate recognition [99]. Substrates of activated MAPKs include transcription factors, cytoskeletal proteins, other kinases, and upstream components of the MAPK signalling pathway [100, 102, 104]. Upon activation, MAPKs can translocate to the nucleus, where they modulate the activity and DNA binding affinity of transcription factors, thus altering gene expression patterns [100, 102]. In the cytoplasm, active MAPKs can regulate cell motility and morphology through phosphorylation of cytoskeletal proteins [99, 104], and can activate downstream kinases to promote cell cycle progression and cell proliferation [102, 104]. They can also activate negative feedback loops to attenuate their signalling by phosphorylating upstream components of the signalling cascade [102, 105]. This is particularly important as the duration of MAPK signalling determines the functional outcome of signalling, such as whether cells will undergo proliferation or differentiation in response to a given stimulus [100, 102, 105].

To date, four distinct sub-classes of MAPKs have been identified in mammals: ERK1 and 2 (ERK1/2), c-Jun N-terminal kinases/stress activated protein kinases (JNK/SAPK), p38 kinases, and ERK5 [99, 101, 102], which are each activated by unique MAPKKs to govern distinct cellular responses [99, 102]. Of these, ERK1/2 is perhaps the most well studied MAPK sub-family, which is attributed in part to its pivotal roles in regulating both normal and pathological processes [105].

1.5.2 Overview of ERK1/2 signalling

ERK1 and ERK2 (often referred to as ERK1/2) are ubiquitously expressed, highly related kinases that have important functions in many fundamental cellular and physiological processes, and in the development of various diseases [99, 105, 106]. ERK1/2 signalling can be activated in response to growth factors, cytokines, viral infection, G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) activation, transforming agents, and cellular stresses [99, 101, 105] to mediate responses such as cell cycle progression and proliferation, cell motility, differentiation, metabolism, cell survival, and apoptosis [105-107]. ERK1/2 signalling is also required for physiological processes such as growth factor response, tissue development and homeostasis, and memory formation, and aberrant signalling through this pathway is known to cause pathologies including cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease [105, 108].

The most well established model of the ERK1/2 pathway is signalling that is activated by the binding of extracellular growth factors to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) at the plasma membrane (Fig 1.4) [99, 105]. Ligand binding initiates the catalytic activity of RTKs, and results in autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues on the cytoplasmic tails of the receptors. Tyrosine phosphorylation leads to the recruitment of the adaptor protein Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein 2) and the guanine exchange factor Sos (Son-of-sevenless) to the membrane, followed by their interaction with the small G-protein Ras. Sos induces Ras activation by mediating GTP loading on Ras. Once activated, Ras recruits the serine/threonine kinase Raf to the membrane and binds it, causing conformational changes that lead to Raf phosphorylation, and activation of its kinase activity. Raf mediates the phosphorylation and activation of MEK1/2, which in turn phosphorylates and activates ERK1/2.



Figure 1.4 ERK1/2 signalling pathway. The binding of growth factors to cell-surface receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) results in receptor activation and recruitment of the adaptor protein Grb2, and the guanine exchange factor Sos to the membrane, where they mediate GTP-loading on Ras. Activation of Ras leads to the induction of MAPK signalling and the sequential phosphorylation and activation of Raf, MEK1/2, and ERK1/2. Upon its activation, ERK1/2 phosphorylates numerous nuclear and cytosolic substrates that mediate the specific cellular responses to the stimulus, such as cell proliferation and migration.

To date over 70 cellular substrates of ERK1/2 have been identified [100, 105, 109]. The functional outcome of ERK1/2 activation is dependent, to a great extent, on the substrates that it phosphorylates, which is determined by the stimuli that initiate the signalling pathway [105]. For example, one of the most potent downstream signalling events mediated by ERK1/2 is the activation of transcription factors, including Elk1, c-Fos, Ets, and CREB, achieved through the nuclear translocation of activated ERK1/2 [99, 105]. Activation of transcription factors can govern cellular responses including DNA replication, cell cycle progression, and cell survival [102, 107, 108]. In addition to transcription factors, another important target of activated ERK1/2 is substrates that regulate feedback loops that determine the duration and intensity of ERK1/2 signalling [105]. For example, ERK1/2 can directly mediate inhibitory phosphorylation of MEK [109], Raf [110], and Sos [109] that prevents signal propagation through the cascade. These inhibitory feedback loops ensure appropriate cellular response to the stimulus is achieved (ie. differentiation versus proliferation), and are critical in preventing deregulated ERK1/2 signalling [105].

1.5.3 Raf kinases

1.5.3.1 Overview and structure of Raf kinases

Raf protein kinases link the signals from ligand-mediated receptor activation to downstream signalling pathways, in order to regulate diverse cellular and physiological programs. In mammals, three distinct Raf isoforms encoded by three distinct genes, have been identified: A-Raf, B-Raf, and c-Raf (also known as Raf-1) [111, 112]. Raf proteins are ubiquitously expressed, though A-Raf expression is highest in urogenital organs, and B-Raf expression is most abundant in neuronal tissues [99]. Rafs share a common structure consisting of three conserved regions (CR) with distinct functions, denoted CR1, CR2, and CR3 (Fig 1.5) [111-113]. CR1 and CR2 are located within the N-terminal region of Raf that is required for regulation of Raf activity, whereas CR3 is located within the C-terminal region that contains the Raf catalytic kinase domain



Figure 1.5 Raf protein structure. The mammalian isoforms of Raf (A-Raf, B-Raf, and c-Raf) each consist of three conserved regions: CR1, CR2, and CR3. CR1 (pink) contains the Ras-binding domain (RBD) and cysteine-rich domain (CRD), which are necessary for the recruitment of Raf to the membrane, and for binding to Ras. One of the 14-3-3 binding sites (S259) needed for proper Raf folding is found within CR2 (purple). The catalytic domain of Raf is located within CR3 (green), which also contains the activation loop (yellow) that is pivotal for Raf kinase activity. Immediately upstream of CR3 lies the N-region (negative-charge region) that contains two residues (S338 and Y341) that must be phosphorylated to achieve Raf kinase activation. In the extreme C-terminal region of Raf lies the second 14-3-3 binding site (S621). All amino acid positions indicated correspond to the respective residues in the c-Raf protein. (S, serine; Y, tyrosine). Figure adapted from [112].

[99, 111]. The CR1 of Raf contains the Ras-binding domain (RBD) and cysteine-rich domain (CRD), which facilitate membrane recruitment of Raf, and its interaction with Ras [112, 114]. CR2 is a small region containing several inhibitory phosphorylation sites that are critical to inhibiting Ras binding, and repressing Raf activity [111]. The catalytic domain of Raf is found within CR3, and contains the ATP-binding domain and activation segment [111]. These regions undergo phosphorylation events that are necessary for induction of Raf kinase activity [111]. Since the identification of c-Raf over 20 years ago, Raf proteins have been the subject of intensive study aimed at elucidating the mechanisms that regulate their activation and signalling. While signalling downstream of Raf is well characterized, the mechanisms by which Raf activation occurs remain under study. However, using c-Raf as the model, significant progress has been made in delineating the complex and intricate process of Raf activation [105, 111, 112].

1.5.3.2 Activation of c-Raf

The c-Raf activation/inactivation cycle consists of a series of post-translational modifications, changes in sub-cellular localization, and intra- and inter-molecular protein interactions of c-Raf (Fig 1.6) [110]. In the absence of receptor signalling, c-Raf is held in an inactive state in the cytoplasm. This is achieved through the formation of a "closed" conformation of the protein, where the N-terminal regulatory region folds over the C-terminal catalytic region and inhibits its kinase activity [111, 115]. In this inactive state, a 14-3-3 dimer binds phosphorylated residues in the N-terminal (S259) and Cterminal (S621) regions of c-Raf, and tethers them together, thereby stabilizing the closed conformation [105, 111, 115]. This conformation further represses c-Raf activity by obstructing the interaction surfaces needed for recruitment of c-Raf to the membrane and for its interaction with Ras [112, 115]. Receptor activation mediates the translocation of c-Raf to the membrane, where it is dephosphorylated at S259, releasing 14-3-3 from the N-terminal region of c-Raf, and loosening the closed conformation [105, 111, 115]. These conformational changes allow c-Raf to adopt an "open" conformation that exposes its kinase domain, and enables binding of Ras-GTP to the RBD of c-Raf [111]. In addition to the Ras-binding domain, Ras also binds the CRD of c-Raf, which functions to



Figure 1.6 C-Raf activation cycle. Phosphorylation of c-Raf at S259 and S621 mediates the binding of 14-3-3 to c-Raf, and the formation of the closed, inactive conformation of the protein. Activated Ras (Ras-GTP) recruits c-Raf to the membrane where S259 is dephosphorylated, allowing c-Raf to adopt an open conformation. Phosphorylation of c-Raf at S338 and Y341 of the N-region facilitates full activation of c-Raf kinase activity, and induction of downstream signalling. Repression of c-Raf activity is achieved by dephosphorylation of S338 and inhibitory phosphorylation at S289, which cause its dissociation from Ras. C-Raf is subsequently re-phosphorylated on S259 to re-form its closed, inactive conformation. (S, serine; Y, tyrosine). Figure adapted from [111].

further stabilize c-Raf membrane localization, and Ras-c-Raf interaction [111]. This also serves as the initiating event in c-Raf catalytic activation [111, 112]. Between the Nterminal regulatory region and C-terminal catalytic region resides the N-region (negatively-charged region) of c-Raf, consisting of Ser³³⁸-Ser-Tyr-Tyr³⁴¹ residues [112, 115]. Phosphorylation of S338 and Y341 within this region is essential for the activation of c-Raf kinase activity [111, 113]. While it has been well established that phosphorylation at Y341 is mediated by SRC (v-src sarcoma) and JAK (Janus kinase) family kinases, a great deal of controversy remains over the kinase(s) responsible for phosphorylation of c-Raf at S338, a fact which has been attributed to the diverse stimuli that can signal c-Raf activation [111-113]. In addition to mediating c-Raf activation, phosphorylation of the N-region also facilitates c-Raf-MEK1/2 interaction at the membrane, and the induction of downstream signalling events [111, 113]. Inactivation of c-Raf, and attenuation of its signalling, is achieved through inhibitory phosphorylation at multiple residues including S259 and S289, coupled with dephosphorylation at S338, and binding to 14-3-3 [110, 111]. This restores c-Raf to its closed, inactive conformation in the cytoplasm until the next round of c-Raf signalling is initiated. The complex conformational changes that drive the c-Raf activation cycle underscore the importance of c-Raf protein structure in modulating its activity and downstream signalling. In-depth analyses of the regulation of c-Raf folding and structure have highlighted an important role for molecular chaperones in this process.

1.5.3.3 C-Raf protein folding and stability

1.5.3.3.1 Heat shock proteins

Molecular chaperones are critical to the maintenance of proteostasis, and the prevention of protein misfolding and aggregation within the cell [116]. They function by assisting in the folding of nascent polypeptides, forming of protein complexes, and preventing the aggregation of misfolded or unfolded proteins by mediating either their refolding or degradation [116, 117]. Heat shock protein (HSP) 90 is a highly conserved

molecular chaperone that regulates the folding and stability of over 200 cellular substrates (known as Hsp90 client proteins), with roles in immune response, cell signalling, and protein trafficking [116-118]. Hsp90 can either function alone, or as a component of a multi-chaperone complex with a related molecular chaperone called Hsp70 [119]. Like its counterpart, Hsp70 is a highly conserved chaperone that regulates the folding, trafficking, degradation, and protein-protein interactions of its client substrates [120]. Both Hsp70 and Hsp90 contain an ATPase domain, and utilize the energy from ATP hydrolysis to bind and fold their client proteins [116, 120].

The activity of molecular chaperones is further regulated by a group of cofactors, known as co-chaperones, which either associate with Hsp70 and Hsp90 alone, or together as components of the multi-chaperone complex [116, 119]. In mammalian cells, over 20 co-chaperones have been identified thus far [116], which are grouped into four general categories according to their functions. Co-chaperones can (1) physically link Hsp70 and Hsp90 and mediate the transfer of client proteins between these two chaperone systems, (2) modulate the ATPase activity of chaperones, thus modifying their affinity for substrates, (3) target client proteins to specific chaperones, and (4) recruit chaperones to execute specific cellular tasks such as protein trafficking and degradation [116, 119]. In support of a role in degradation, some co-chaperones have been found to link Hsp70 and Hsp90 to proteasomes. The co-chaperone CHIP (carboxy terminal of Hsp70-interacting protein) is an E3 ubiquitin ligase [121] that binds the Hsp70-Hsp90 complex and mediates the ubiquitination and degradation of unfolded client proteins [116, 119]. BAG1 (Bcl-2 associated athanogene 1) is a co-chaperone that binds the ATPase domain of Hsp70 and opposes its protein folding activity, therefore targeting Hsp70 client proteins to proteasomes for degradation [119]. In addition, certain co-chaperones function on specific classes of protein substrates. For example, the co-chaperone Cdc37 (cell division cycle 37 homologue, also called p50) specifically binds kinases that are Hsp90 client proteins, and assists Hsp90 in their folding and activation [122]. Studies on Raf proteins have uncovered a pivotal role for the molecular chaperone and co-chaperone machinery in regulating the folding, kinase activity, and stability of c-Raf.

1.5.3.3.2 Regulation of c-Raf folding and stability by molecular chaperones

Early studies on c-Raf established that it exists as a component of a high molecular weight protein complex of 300-500kDa, that consisted of Hsp90 and Cdc37 [123, 124]. C-Raf was found to bind Hsp90 via its C-terminal catalytic domain [123, 125] both in its inactive state in the cytoplasm, and when activated and bound to Ras at the plasma membrane [124]. The c-Raf-Hsp90 complex was initially postulated to be necessary for membrane recruitment and activation of c-Raf [126]. However, seminal studies by Schulte and colleagues revealed that in addition to mediating its membrane recruitment, binding of c-Raf to Hsp90 was also critical for stabilization of the c-Raf protein, as disruption of this binding targeted c-Raf for proteasomal degradation [124, 127, 128]. The integration of these findings provided a model wherein the binding of Hsp90 to c-Raf is required to stabilize the tertiary structure of the c-Raf protein and facilitate native c-Raf folding, and to mediate c-Raf activation and signalling [113, 129].

In addition to Hsp90, other components of the molecular chaperone machinery including Hsp70 [113], BAG1 [130], and CHIP [131, 132], have been reported to bind c-Raf and regulate its activity, stability, and degradation. BAG1 binds the catalytic domain of c-Raf and stimulates its kinase activity, thereby promoting the activation of ERK1/2signalling independently of Ras activation [130]. The same study also reported that Hsp70 competes with c-Raf for binding to BAG1. They found that in resting cells BAG1 tightly binds c-Raf and promotes its activation. However in response to cellular stress such as heat shock, the protein levels of Hsp70 are up-regulated, resulting in the displacement of c-Raf from BAG1, and the suppression of downstream signalling pathways. Therefore, Hsp70 was proposed to function as a negative regulator of c-Raf-BAG1 interaction, and of cell growth signalling [130]. More recently, work by Dogan et al. uncovered a role for inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) proteins in regulating c-Raf stability and degradation through a chaperone-dependent mechanism [132]. They observed that the binding of IAPs to c-Raf interferes with c-Raf folding and disrupts its native conformation, resulting in the recruitment of CHIP to the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex, and the proteasomal degradation of c-Raf [132]. Together, these findings reveal the intricate mechanisms by which c-Raf expression and signalling are modulated within the cell.

1.5.4 Deregulation of Ras-Raf-ERK1/2 signalling in cancer

In the last decade overwhelming evidence has pointed to a central role for deregulated ERK1/2 signalling in promoting cancer development and metastasis, due to the significant growth, migration, and survival advantages afforded to cells harbouring mutations of this pathway [108, 133, 134]. This is reinforced by the finding that components of ERK1/2 signalling are mutated in a significant majority of cancers. Activating mutations in Ras have been observed in 30% of all cancers [135] and occur with particular frequency in pancreatic (90%), colorectal (50%), and thyroid (60%) cancers [134]. Of the Raf kinases, B-Raf is most commonly mutated in cancer [111], with the highest incidence of mutations reported in melanoma (70%) and thyroid cancer (50%) [112, 134]. To date over 100 different mutations in B-Raf have been reported in tumours, though the majority of tumours exhibit a valine to glutamic acid mutation at amino acid 600 (V600E), which disrupts the inactive conformation of the kinase and renders it constitutively active [111, 112]. By comparison, mutations in c-Raf are quite rare [112, 133] but have been found in acute myeloid leukemia [111]. In addition to mutations in Ras and Raf, ERK1/2 is hyperactivated in 30% of human cancers [112], and upstream components of the signalling cascade, including several RTKs, are often mutated in tumours [134]. These staggering statistics have led to tremendous efforts to identify therapeutic strategies capable of inactivating components of the ERK pathway, and thus repress its signalling in cancers harbouring mutations in this pathway.

1.6 Cellular transformation and tumourigenesis

1.6.1 Hallmarks of cancer

Three decades of research into the molecular and physiological processes associated with the development of cancer led to the classification of six essential markers of cell transformation and metastasis [5, 136]. These were termed the "hallmarks of cancer" and were defined as: evasion from apoptosis, uncontrolled cellular replication, increased angiogenesis, enhanced cellular migration and invasion, evasion from growth-suppressor signals, and sustained proliferative signalling [5]. In recent

years, an important role has also emerged for the tumour microenvironment as a key contributor to malignancies [137, 138]. The tumour microenvironment consists of the normal stromal cells that surround the cancer tissue, and is exploited by cancer cells to promote tumour angiogenesis, proliferation, migration, and invasion [137-139]. Current cancer research seeks to provide insight into the mechanisms by which tumour cells manipulate their environment and normal cellular networks to accomplish malignant transformation. This process is believed to be achieved largely through the acquisition of the hallmarks of cancer.

1.6.1.1 Evasion from apoptosis

The process of cellular transformation in itself exposes cancer cells to numerous cellular stresses, such as increased DNA damage arising from hyperproliferation, and accumulation of ROS arising from increased metabolism [137, 140]. While these stresses typically activate apoptotic signalling, cancer cells often develop mechanisms to avoid apoptotic induction. This is accomplished in several ways, such as up-regulation of prosurvival Bcl-2 proteins [61, 67] and the down-regulation of DNA damage sensors such as p53 [59]. Deregulation of apoptosis disrupts cellular and tissue homeostasis, and results in cancer metastasis and resistance to cancer therapies [137].

1.6.1.2 Uncontrolled cellular replication

Normal cells exhibit finite replicative capacities, meaning that they are programmed to undergo a specific number of cell divisions, after which growth stops and cells become senescent [141]. On occasion, cells may acquire the capacity to overcome this senescent state, thus allowing for continued replication [141]. Ultimately however, these cells will enter a second inhibitory state called crisis, which is characterized by wide-spread cell death [5, 141]. However, in highly rare instances, a sub-population of cells are able to also overcome crisis and consequently become immortalized, which is defined by their ability to undergo infinite cycles of cell replication [5]. It is believed that

senescence and crisis function as two important tumour suppressor mechanisms in cells [137]. The number of replications that cells are able to undergo before entering senescence or crisis is suggested to be largely dependent upon the length of telomeres, which protect DNA ends by preventing end-to-end chromosome fusions and genomic instability [136, 141]. Cancer cells are proposed to circumvent senescence and crisis through several mechanisms, such as acquiring mutations in the telomerase gene, thus preventing telomere shortening, or by inactivating factors such as p53 that sense the genomic instability that can be caused by chromosome-end fusions [56, 136, 137]. Uncontrolled cellular replication is associated with tumour growth and progression [137].

1.6.1.3 Sustained proliferative signalling

While in normal cells the expression and release of factors that govern cell growth and division is highly regulated, cancer cells can develop the ability to grow in the absence of growth factor stimulation, and thus exhibit sustained cell proliferation [137]. This is usually achieved through deregulation of signalling pathways that are activated downstream of growth factors [137], such as that of MAPKs and the ERK1/2 signalling pathway [134]. For example, in some cancers hyperproliferation is accomplished through aberrant expression of RTKs that enhance the cellular response to growth factor activation [134]. In other instances, cancer cells acquire activating mutations in a component of these signalling pathways (such as Ras or Raf) that allows them to circumvent the need for upstream receptor activation [134, 137]. The ability of cancer cells to gain growth factor independence is one of the key processes associated with tumourigenesis.

1.6.1.4 Escape from growth suppression

In cancer, sustained cellular proliferation is frequently coupled with the ability to evade the critical growth suppression mechanisms that exist in normal cells. The prevention of aberrant cellular growth and proliferation is regulated by tumour suppressors, such as p53 and retinoblastoma protein (pRB), which are accordingly often mutated or inactivated in cancers [136, 137]. P53 is an essential component of the cellular response to intrinsic stresses such as DNA damage, and functions as a tumour suppressor by mediating cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, and DNA repair in damaged cells [59]. The tumour suppressor pRB plays a central role in the regulation of cell cycle progression and apoptosis, and the inactivation of pRB function has been observed in a multitude of cancers [142, 143]. Inactivation of pRB leads to alterations in cell cycle checkpoint activation and cell cycle progression, and in increased genomic instability [142, 144]. Loss of p53 and/or pRB function ultimately impedes the ability to eliminate damaged cells, and thus promotes tumourigenesis.

1.6.1.5 Increased angiogenesis, and enhanced cellular migration and invasion

The hallmarks of cancer outlined thus far are components of the events that initiate cellular transformation, and are involved in the early stages of tumourigenesis and primary tumour development. Cancer progression is characterized by the acquisition of secondary features by tumour cells that mediate metastasis and the formation of secondary lesions in distant tissues. Metastasis marks a key point in cancer progression, as metastatic cancers are predominantly incurable and account for over 90% of all cancer-related deaths [145]. Two key features acquired by metastatic cancers are increased angiogenesis, and enhanced cell migration and invasion.

Angiogenesis represents an important step in the progression of cancer to a metastatic disease [146]. Induction of angiogenesis (known as the angiogenic switch) is characterized by elevated pro-angiogenic signalling and abnormal proliferation of endothelial cells in the tumour microenvironment, that together lead to neovascularisation [146, 147]. Enhanced angiogenesis is required for the exponential growth of tumour cells, and thus mediates disease progression [146, 148].

Metastatic cancer is also the result of an elaborate biological process known as the invasion-metastasis cascade, in which tumour cells invade the local extracellular matrix

(ECM) and surrounding stromal cells, intravasate blood vessels and are transported to secondary sites by the vasculature, extravasate and form micrometastases at these secondary sites, and finally reactivate proliferation at the sites of metastasis to form secondary tumours [145]. A critical step in the invasion-metastasis cascade is epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) [137], where epithelial cells of the primary tumour undergo intricate changes in their architecture and behaviour to become more akin to mesenchymal cells [149]. The acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype is mediated by changes in gene-expression patterns that alter cell-cell, and cell-ECM contacts, and renders tumour cells highly motile and able to invade distant tissues [149]. EMT also provides protection from apoptosis, which enables cancer cells to survive migration to secondary sites, and to form lesions at these sites [137, 149]. Several cellular networks have been implicated in the regulation of EMT, both in normal and pathological settings, and chief among these is EMT mediated by transforming growth factor β (TGF β) signalling [150]. Enhanced TGF β expression and signalling in cancers is associated with increased EMT and migration of tumour cells, and with the induction of angiogenesis in tumours [150, 151].

The processes of angiogenesis and EMT are not novel to pathological conditions, but rather are also pivotal aspects of normal organism development [146, 149]. For example, angiogenesis is required for the *de novo* formation of blood vessels during embryogenesis [146]. This is a highly regulated process, and the factors that signal angiogenesis become quiescent in the adult vasculature [146]. Similarly, EMT is a highly regulated process that is essential for mesoderm formation during early embryogenesis, and for the formation of various tissues, such as bone and muscle, in later stages of embryonic development [149, 150]. Intriguingly, a considerable degree of overlap exists between the pathways that regulate angiogenesis and EMT, and in addition to their critical functions in development, these pathways are also known to contribute to the development and progression of cancer [152].

1.6.2 Deregulated developmental signalling in cancer

Among the distinguishing features of cancer is the acquired ability of cells to manipulate signalling programs that govern normal development, in order to undergo tumourigenesis and metastasis. Therefore it is not surprising that fundamental developmental pathways, such as Notch, TGF β , and Wnt signalling are often mutated or deregulated in many cancers [153]. Aberrant signalling through these pathways is associated with increased cell proliferation and survival, and enhanced angiogenesis and EMT [152-154]. Thus delineating the mechanisms by which deregulated developmental signalling contributes to cancer development and progression has become highly important to the effective treatment of cancer.

1.6.2.1 Notch signalling

The evolutionarily conserved Notch signalling pathway was first characterized in Drosophila, and has since been established as a key component of embryonic development and adult tissue maintenance in metazoans [154, 155]. The four mammalian Notch proteins (denoted Notch 1-4) localize to the plasma membrane as single-pass type I transmembrane receptors, consisting of a large extracellular domain involved in ligand binding and a cytoplasmic domain involved in downstream signalling [154, 155]. Notch receptors are bound by two classes of ligands, known as the Delta-like (Dll 1, 3 and 4) and Jagged (JAG 1 and 2) ligands, which are also expressed as type I transmembrane receptors [154, 155]. Notch signalling is a form of cell-cell communication, and requires the interaction of cells expressing Notch ligands with adjacent cells that express the Notch receptor [154, 156]. Ligand binding triggers the proteolytic cleavage of the receptor, releasing the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) [154, 156]. NICD then translocates to the nucleus and interacts with the DNA binding protein CBF1(C promoter-binding factor 1) to initiate gene expression [154, 156]. To date, the most well established Notch target genes are the Hes (hairy and enhancer of split) and Hey (Hes-related repressor protein) family of basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors [154, 155]. These factors mediate the cellular responses to Notch

signalling, which include embryonic cell-fate determination, differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis, in a wide range of tissues [152, 154, 156].

A link between aberrant Notch signalling and tumourigenesis was first observed in acute lymphoblastic leukemia, in which a chromosomal translocation event $\{t(7;9)\}$ resulted in a truncated, constitutively active form of Notch 1 [157]. Subsequent studies in animal models revealed that truncated, constitutively active forms of all four Notch receptors were capable of promoting cellular transformation [155]. The tumourigenic activity of Notch was further corroborated by the finding that Notch receptors, ligands, and effectors are mutated or deregulated in numerous solid tumours including melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer, and ovarian cancer, as well as in hematological malignancies [154, 155]. In addition to tumourigenesis, alterations in Notch signalling have also been associated with cancer metastasis, as activated Notch signalling was found to enhance angiogenesis and EMT [154, 155]. Specifically, ligand-mediated activation of Notch signalling in the tumour microenvironment was reported to promote neovascularisation and angiogenesis in squamous cell carcinomas, and the metastasis of breast cancer to the bone [154]. Intriguingly, Notch signalling can also indirectly mediate metastasis by contributing to EMT programs driven by the TGF β and Wnt/ β catenin signalling pathways [154, 155]. The cross-talk between these pathways is believed to be an important aspect of developmental regulation, and to contribute to the complexity of treating malignancies bearing mutations in these pathways [152].

1.6.2.2 Wnt/ β -catenin signalling

Regulation of developmental programs in the embryo and in adult tissues is also governed by the Wnt signalling pathway. Wnts comprise a large, highly conserved family of secreted growth factors that act as ligands for the Frizzled (Fz) transmembrane, and LRP5/6 (lipoprotein receptor-related proteins 5 and 6), receptors [152, 158]. The founding member of the Wnt family, the proto-oncogene Wnt1, was described in 1982 by Nusse and Varmus as the gene activated by the integration of the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) DNA into virally-induced breast tumours [159]. Since that time

19 Wnt proteins have been identified in mammals, and have been implicated in the regulation of cell fate determination and organogenesis in the embryo, and in the regulation of self-renewal and maintenance in adult tissues [152, 158]. Initiation of Wnt signalling requires the palmitoylation of Wnts on cysteine residues, followed by their secretion from Wnt producing cells by the protein Wntless (Wls) [158, 160]. Secreted Whats then bind to Fz and LRP5/6 receptors on the surfaces of target cells to trigger intracellular signalling events [158, 160]. The induction of Wnt receptor signalling can activate four distinct pathways within the cell, of which the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is the best understood [158, 161]. In this pathway, β -catenin functions as an effector protein that modulates Wnt target gene expression [162]. Due to its central role in signalling downstream of Wnt activation, the expression of β -catenin is highly regulated [161]. This is accomplished by the cytoplasmic destruction complex, which maintains low cellular levels of β -catenin in the absence of receptor activation by promoting its rapid turnover [158]. In this complex, β -catenin is phosphorylated on a series of serine and threonine residues in its N-terminus by CK1 (casein kinase 1) and GSK3 (glycogen synthase kinase 3), which mark it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation [158]. Receptor activation by Wnt ligands inhibits the activity of the cytoplasmic destruction complex, thereby relieving the repression on β -catenin expression [162]. This results in accumulation of stabilized β -catenin in the cytoplasm, followed by its translocation into the nucleus where it binds the TCF/LEF (T cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor) family of transcription factors to promote gene expression [162]. The transcriptional output of Wnt signalling is often cell-type specific and dependent upon the intended cellular response, such as cell growth and proliferation, cell fate determination, or terminal differentiation [158]. The best characterized gene targets of the TCF/β-catenin complex are positive and negative regulators of the Wnt pathway, cyclin D1, and the transcription factor c-Myc [158].

Since the initial observation of a tumour-promoting function for Wnt1 [159], numerous studies have uncovered a pivotal role for canonical Wnt signalling in cancer development and metastasis. Tumourigenic mutations in the Wnt pathway are frequently observed in tissues which are dependent upon this pathway for renewal or repair, and occur in both hereditary and sporadic cancers [160]. Many of these mutations occur in

genes which are components of the cytoplasmic destruction complex [160]. The result of these mutations is the constitutive stabilization and accumulation of β -catenin, and aberrant Wnt target gene expression [160]. Gain-of-function mutations in Wnt ligands and receptors, and loss-of-function mutations in negative regulators of Wnt signalling, have also been observed in several cancers [153, 160]. Mutations of the Wnt pathway are associated with the development of several solid tumours including melanoma, hepatocellular, gastric, and colon cancers and with hematological malignancies including acute and chronic myeloid leukemias [152, 160]. The tumourigenic activity of Wnt signalling is compounded by the fact that it can also promote cancer metastasis. In this respect Wnt signalling can induce changes in the gene transcription events, and cell adhesion mediated by β -catenin, which cause EMT [163]. In addition cross-talk between the canonical Wnt pathway, TGF β , and Notch signalling can enhance EMT [160].

1.6.2.3 Summary

How these complex pathways regulate normal organism development and function has only recently begun to be elucidated. Further, how cells gain the ability to reactivate these programs in order to undergo cellular transformation, and exploit them to undergo metastasis, is poorly understood. However, it is clear that acquiring a more detailed understanding of these processes represents an important hurdle that must be surpassed to better understand cancer development and progression.

1.7 Scope of thesis

The observation that perturbations in a few key cellular processes can cause the transition from a normal cell to a cancer cell highlights the delicate balance that must be maintained between signals that promote, or inhibit, cellular growth and survival. Decades of research have significantly advanced our knowledge of how highly intricate cellular networks maintain the balance between life and death. However, the effective detection and treatment of pathological conditions such as cancer requires greater insight

into the mechanisms and factors that "fine-tune" these complex cellular events. Studies on RanBPM have implicated a role for this protein in the regulation of diverse cellular processes such as transcription, cell adhesion, signalling, and apoptosis, which are of importance to both organism development and disease pathogenesis. Despite this knowledge however, the mode of RanBPM function remains elusive. The work presented in this thesis aims to address this matter through characterizing functions of RanBPM in regulation of apoptotic activation, cell signalling, and cellular transformation.

We begin by describing a function for RanBPM in the activation of apoptotic cell death in response to radiation-induced DNA damage (Chapter 2). We show that RanBPM is a pro-apoptotic protein whose ectopic expression promotes apoptotic cell death, whereas down-regulation of RanBPM expression protects cells from apoptosis and enhances cell survival in response to DNA damage. Further, we determine that RanBPM mediates its pro-apoptotic effects by modulating the sub-cellular localization and expression of Bcl-2 family factors. Together, these studies identify RanBPM as a novel regulator of the intrinsic apoptotic signalling pathway.

We then continue our analyses by characterizing the regulation of Bcl-2 family factors by RanBPM, which result in the identification of a role for RanBPM as a novel inhibitor of the ERK1/2 signalling pathway (Chapter 3). The data in this chapter show that RanBPM represses ERK1/2 signalling by regulating c-Raf protein expression and stability, and that down-regulation of RanBPM expression results in hyperactivation of the ERK1/2 pathway. We go on to show that in cultured cells, down-regulation of RanBPM expression results in alterations in cellular behaviour that are associated with cellular transformation and metastasis. These findings identify a central role for RanBPM in the regulation of signalling pathways and processes involved in normal cell function and cancer development.

Finally, the data presented in chapter 4 describe the effects of sustained RanBPM down-regulation on global transcriptional programs in cells. Our gene expression profiling data indicate that RanBPM regulates processes associated with cell signalling, tissue and organ development and maintenance, and cancer. The studies in this chapter

contribute to the characterization of an important role for RanBPM in development, and together with the data obtained in chapters 2 and 3, implicate a function for this protein as a critical tumour suppressor in cells.

1.8 References

[1] Cotter TG. Apoptosis and cancer: the genesis of a research field. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 501-507.

[2] Kerr JF, Wyllie AH and Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 1972; 26: 239-257.

[3] Thompson CB. Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science 1995; 267: 1456-1462.

[4] Hahn WC and Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 1593-1603.

[5] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100: 57-70.

[6] Mattison J, van der Weyden L, Hubbard T and Adams DJ. Cancer gene discovery in mouse and man. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009; 1796: 140-161.

[7] Nakamura M, Masuda H, Horii J, Kuma K, Yokoyama N, Ohba T, Nishitani H, Miyata T, Tanaka M and Nishimoto T. When overexpressed, a novel centrosomal protein, RanBPM, causes ectopic microtubule nucleation similar to gamma-tubulin. J Cell Biol 1998; 143: 1041-1052.

[8] Nishitani H, Hirose E, Uchimura Y, Nakamura M, Umeda M, Nishii K, Mori N and Nishimoto T. Full-sized RanBPM cDNA encodes a protein possessing a long stretch of proline and glutamine within the N-terminal region, comprising a large protein complex. Gene 2001; 272: 25-33.

[9] Denti S, Sirri A, Cheli A, Rogge L, Innamorati G, Putignano S, Fabbri M, Pardi R and Bianchi E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 13027-13034.

[10] Tomastikova E, Cenklova V, Kohoutova L, Petrovska B, Vachova L, Halada P, Kocarova G and Binarova P. Interactions of an Arabidopsis RanBPM homologue with

LisH-CTLH domain proteins revealed high conservation of CTLH complexes in eukaryotes. BMC Plant Biol 2012; 12: 83.

[11] Menssen R, Schweiggert J, Schreiner J, Kusevic D, Reuther J, Braun B and Wolf DH. Exploring the topology of the Gid complex, the E3 ubiquitin ligase involved in catabolite-induced degradation of gluconeogenic enzymes. J Biol Chem 2012; 287: 25602-25614.

[12] Woo JS, Imm JH, Min CK, Kim KJ, Cha SS and Oh BH. Structural and functional insights into the B30.2/SPRY domain. EMBO J 2006; 25: 1353-1363.

[13] Woo JS, Suh HY, Park SY and Oh BH. Structural basis for protein recognition by B30.2/SPRY domains. Mol Cell 2006; 24: 967-976.

[14] Battivelli E, Migraine J, Lecossier D, Matsuoka S, Perez-Bercoff D, Saragosti S, Clavel F and Hance AJ. Modulation of TRIM5alpha activity in human cells by alternatively spliced TRIM5 isoforms. J Virol 2011; 85: 7828-7835.

[15] Guz G, Kanbay M and Ozturk MA. Current perspectives on familial Mediterranean fever. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2009; 22: 309-315.

[16] Papin S, Cuenin S, Agostini L, Martinon F, Werner S, Beer HD, Grutter C, Grutter M and Tschopp J. The SPRY domain of Pyrin, mutated in familial Mediterranean fever patients, interacts with inflammasome components and inhibits proIL-1beta processing. Cell Death Differ 2007; 14: 1457-1466.

[17] Atabakhsh E, Bryce DM, Lefebvre KJ and Schild-Poulter C. RanBPM has proapoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. Mol Cancer Res 2009; 7: 1962-1972.

[18] Emes RD and Ponting CP. A new sequence motif linking lissencephaly, Treacher Collins and oral-facial-digital type 1 syndromes, microtubule dynamics and cell migration. Hum Mol Genet 2001; 10: 2813-2820.

39

[19] Gerlitz G, Darhin E, Giorgio G, Franco B and Reiner O. Novel functional features of the Lis-H domain: role in protein dimerization, half-life and cellular localization. Cell Cycle 2005; 4: 1632-1640.

[20] Regelmann J, Schule T, Josupeit FS, Horak J, Rose M, Entian KD, Thumm M and Wolf DH. Catabolite degradation of fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a genome-wide screen identifies eight novel GID genes and indicates the existence of two degradation pathways. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14: 1652-1663.

[21] Kobayashi N, Yang J, Ueda A, Suzuki T, Tomaru K, Takeno M, Okuda K and Ishigatsubo Y. RanBPM, Muskelin, p48EMLP, p44CTLH, and the armadillo-repeat proteins ARMC8alpha and ARMC8beta are components of the CTLH complex. Gene 2007; 396: 236-247.

[22] Tomaru K, Ueda A, Suzuki T, Kobayashi N, Yang J, Yamamoto M, Takeno M, Kaneko T and Ishigatsubo Y. Armadillo Repeat Containing 8alpha Binds to HRS and Promotes HRS Interaction with Ubiquitinated Proteins. Open Biochem J 2010; 4: 1-8.

[23] Menon RP, Gibson TJ and Pastore A. The C terminus of fragile X mental retardation protein interacts with the multi-domain Ran-binding protein in the microtubule-organising centre. J Mol Biol 2004; 343: 43-53.

[24] Suresh B, Ramakrishna S, Kim YS, Kim SM, Kim MS and Baek KH. Stability and function of mammalian lethal giant larvae-1 oncoprotein are regulated by the scaffolding protein RanBPM. J Biol Chem 2010; 285: 35340-35349.

[25] Kramer S, Ozaki T, Miyazaki K, Kato C, Hanamoto T and Nakagawara A. Protein stability and function of p73 are modulated by a physical interaction with RanBPM in mammalian cultured cells. Oncogene 2005; 24: 938-944.

[26] Poirier MB, Brunelle M and Langlois MF. The effect of RanBPM on the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis by thyroid hormone receptors is isoform-specific. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007; 362: 516-521.

[27] Rao MA, Cheng H, Quayle AN, Nishitani H, Nelson CC and Rennie PS. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 48020-48027.

[28] Poirier MB, Laflamme L and Langlois MF. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. J Mol Endocrinol 2006; 36: 313-325.

[29] Cheng L, Lemmon S and Lemmon V. RanBPM is an L1-interacting protein that regulates L1-mediated mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. J Neurochem 2005; 94: 1102-1110.

[30] Wang D, Li Z, Messing EM and Wu G. Activation of Ras/Erk pathway by a novel MET-interacting protein RanBPM. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 36216-36222.

[31] Yin YX, Sun ZP, Huang SH, Zhao L, Geng Z and Chen ZY. RanBPM contributes to TrkB signaling and regulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced neuronal morphogenesis and survival. J Neurochem 2010; 114: 110-121.

[32] Yuan Y, Fu C, Chen H, Wang X, Deng W and Huang BR. The Ran binding protein RanBPM interacts with TrkA receptor. Neurosci Lett 2006; 407: 26-31.

[33] Puverel S, Barrick C, Dolci S, Coppola V and Tessarollo L. RanBPM is essential for mouse spermatogenesis and oogenesis. Development 2011; 138: 2511-2521.

[34] Dansereau DA and Lasko P. RanBPM regulates cell shape, arrangement, and capacity of the female germline stem cell niche in Drosophila melanogaster. J Cell Biol 2008; 182: 963-977.

[35] Brunkhorst A, Karlen M, Shi J, Mikolajczyk M, Nelson MA, Metsis M and Hermanson O. A specific role for the TFIID subunit TAF4 and RanBPM in neural progenitor differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 2005; 29: 250-258.

[36] Gong X, Ye W, Zhou H, Ren X, Li Z, Zhou W, Wu J, Gong Y, Ouyang Q, Zhao X and Zhang X. RanBPM is an acetylcholinesterase-interacting protein that translocates

into the nucleus during apoptosis. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 2009; 41: 883-891.

[37] Mikolajczyk M, Shi J, Vaillancourt RR, Sachs NA and Nelson M. The cyclindependent kinase 11(p46) isoform interacts with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 310: 14-18.

[38] Wang Y, Marion Schneider E, Li X, Duttenhofer I, Debatin K and Hug H. HIPK2 associates with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 297: 148-153.

[39] Woo JA, Jung AR, Lakshmana MK, Bedrossian A, Lim Y, Bu JH, Park SA, Koo EH, Mook-Jung I and Kang DE. Pivotal role of the RanBP9-cofilin pathway in Abetainduced apoptosis and neurodegeneration. Cell Death Differ 2012; 19: 1413-1423.

[40] Lee SJ, Lim HS, Masliah E and Lee HJ. Protein aggregate spreading in neurodegenerative diseases: problems and perspectives. Neurosci Res 2011; 70: 339-348.

[41] Murrin LC and Talbot JN. RanBPM, a scaffolding protein in the immune and nervous systems. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 2007; 2: 290-295.

[42] Scantlebury N, Zhao XL, Rodriguez Moncalvo VG, Camiletti A, Zahanova S, Dineen A, Xin JH and Campos AR. The Drosophila gene RanBPM functions in the mushroom body to regulate larval behavior. PLoS One 2010; 5: e10652.

[43] Bai D, Chen H and Huang BR. RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR.Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 309: 552-557.

[44] Ittner LM and Gotz J. Amyloid-beta and tau--a toxic pas de deux in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 2011; 12: 65-72.

[45] Lakshmana MK, Yoon IS, Chen E, Bianchi E, Koo EH and Kang DE. Novel role of RanBP9 in BACE1 processing of amyloid precursor protein and amyloid beta peptide generation. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 11863-11872.

[46] Ashkenazi A. Directing cancer cells to self-destruct with pro-apoptotic receptor agonists. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008; 7: 1001-1012.

[47] Jin Z and El-Deiry WS. Overview of cell death signaling pathways. Cancer Biol Ther 2005; 4: 139-163.

[48] Cline SD and Hanawalt PC. Who's on first in the cellular response to DNA damage? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003; 4: 361-372.

[49] Norbury CJ and Zhivotovsky B. DNA damage-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 2004; 23: 2797-2808.

[50] Cann KL and Hicks GG. Regulation of the cellular DNA double-strand break response. Biochem Cell Biol 2007; 85: 663-674.

[51] Roos WP and Kaina B. DNA damage-induced cell death by apoptosis. Trends Mol Med 2006; 12: 440-450.

[52] Zhivotovsky B and Kroemer G. Apoptosis and genomic instability. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 752-762.

[53] Branzei D and Foiani M. Regulation of DNA repair throughout the cell cycle. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9: 297-308.

[54] Finn K, Lowndes NF and Grenon M. Eukaryotic DNA damage checkpoint activation in response to double-strand breaks. Cell Mol Life Sci 2012; 69: 1447-1473.

[55] Irwin M, Marin MC, Phillips AC, Seelan RS, Smith DI, Liu W, Flores ER, Tsai KY, Jacks T, Vousden KH and Kaelin WG, Jr. Role for the p53 homologue p73 in E2F-1-induced apoptosis. Nature 2000; 407: 645-648.

[56] Meek DW. Tumour suppression by p53: a role for the DNA damage response? Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 714-723.

[57] Ow YP, Green DR, Hao Z and Mak TW. Cytochrome c: functions beyond respiration. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9: 532-542.

[58] Degterev A, Boyce M and Yuan J. A decade of caspases. Oncogene 2003; 22: 8543-8567.

[59] Brosh R and Rotter V. When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 701-713.

[60] Cory S, Huang DC and Adams JM. The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene 2003; 22: 8590-8607.

[61] Adams JM and Cory S. The Bcl-2 apoptotic switch in cancer development and therapy. Oncogene 2007; 26: 1324-1337.

[62] Yip KW and Reed JC. Bcl-2 family proteins and cancer. Oncogene 2008; 27: 6398-6406.

[63] Cory S and Adams JM. The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2: 647-656.

[64] Chipuk JE, Moldoveanu T, Llambi F, Parsons MJ and Green DR. The BCL-2 family reunion. Mol Cell 2010; 37: 299-310.

[65] Youle RJ and Strasser A. The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9: 47-59.

[66] Chipuk JE and Green DR. How do BCL-2 proteins induce mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization? Trends Cell Biol 2008; 18: 157-164.

[67] Lessene G, Czabotar PE and Colman PM. BCL-2 family antagonists for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008; 7: 989-1000.

[68] Mori N, Fujii M, Cheng G, Ikeda S, Yamasaki Y, Yamada Y, Tomonaga M and Yamamoto N. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax protein induces the expression of anti-apoptotic gene Bcl-xL in human T-cells through nuclear factor-kappaB and c-AMP responsive element binding protein pathways. Virus Genes 2001; 22: 279-287.

[69] Eliseev RA, Vanwinkle B, Rosier RN and Gunter TE. Diazoxide-mediated preconditioning against apoptosis involves activation of cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) and NFkappaB. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 46748-46754.

[70] Aggarwal S, Kim SW, Ryu SH, Chung WC and Koo JS. Growth suppression of lung cancer cells by targeting cyclic AMP response element-binding protein. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 981-988.

[71] Paz-Priel I, Cai DH, Wang D, Kowalski J, Blackford A, Liu H, Heckman CA, Gombart AF, Koeffler HP, Boxer LM and Friedman AD. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha (C/EBPalpha) and C/EBPalpha myeloid oncoproteins induce bcl-2 via interaction of their basic regions with nuclear factor-kappaB p50. Mol Cancer Res 2005; 3: 585-596.

[72] Mattson MP and Meffert MK. Roles for NF-kappaB in nerve cell survival, plasticity, and disease. Cell Death Differ 2006; 13: 852-860.

[73] Heckman CA, Mehew JW and Boxer LM. NF-kappaB activates Bcl-2 expression in t(14;18) lymphoma cells. Oncogene 2002; 21: 3898-3908.

[74] Dong QG, Sclabas GM, Fujioka S, Schmidt C, Peng B, Wu T, Tsao MS, Evans DB, Abbruzzese JL, McDonnell TJ and Chiao PJ. The function of multiple IkappaB : NF-kappaB complexes in the resistance of cancer cells to Taxol-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 2002; 21: 6510-6519.

[75] Miyashita T, Harigai M, Hanada M and Reed JC. Identification of a p53dependent negative response element in the bcl-2 gene. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 3131-3135.

[76] Wu Y, Mehew JW, Heckman CA, Arcinas M and Boxer LM. Negative regulation of bcl-2 expression by p53 in hematopoietic cells. Oncogene 2001; 20: 240-251.

[77] Ito T, Deng X, Carr B and May WS. Bcl-2 phosphorylation required for antiapoptosis function. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 11671-11673.

[78] Deng X, Gao F, Flagg T and May WS, Jr. Mono- and multisite phosphorylation enhances Bcl2's antiapoptotic function and inhibition of cell cycle entry functions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101: 153-158.

[79] Le Gouill S, Podar K, Harousseau JL and Anderson KC. Mcl-1 regulation and its role in multiple myeloma. Cell Cycle 2004; 3: 1259-1262.

[80] Breitschopf K, Haendeler J, Malchow P, Zeiher AM and Dimmeler S. Posttranslational modification of Bcl-2 facilitates its proteasome-dependent degradation: molecular characterization of the involved signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20: 1886-1896.

[81] Chen CY and Faller DV. Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 protein and association with p21Ras in Ras-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 2376-2379.

[82] Park J, Kim I, Oh YJ, Lee K, Han PL and Choi EJ. Activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase antagonizes an anti-apoptotic action of Bcl-2. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 16725-16728.

[83] Basu A and Haldar S. Identification of a novel Bcl-xL phosphorylation site regulating the sensitivity of taxol- or 2-methoxyestradiol-induced apoptosis. FEBS Lett 2003; 538: 41-47.

[84] Fan M, Goodwin M, Vu T, Brantley-Finley C, Gaarde WA and Chambers TC. Vinblastine-induced phosphorylation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL is mediated by JNK and occurs in parallel with inactivation of the Raf-1/MEK/ERK cascade. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 29980-29985.

[85] Boucher MJ, Morisset J, Vachon PH, Reed JC, Laine J and Rivard N. MEK/ERK signaling pathway regulates the expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-X(L), and Mcl-1 and promotes survival of human pancreatic cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 2000; 79: 355-369.

[86] Belkhiri A, Dar AA, Zaika A, Kelley M and El-Rifai W. t-Darpp promotes cancer cell survival by up-regulation of Bcl2 through Akt-dependent mechanism. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 395-403.

[87] Creson TK, Yuan P, Manji HK and Chen G. Evidence for involvement of ERK, PI3K, and RSK in induction of Bcl-2 by valproate. J Mol Neurosci 2009; 37: 123-134.

[88] Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, Li Y, Sawai H, Reed JC and Perucho M. Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science 1997; 275: 967-969.

46

[89] McCurrach ME, Connor TM, Knudson CM, Korsmeyer SJ and Lowe SW. baxdeficiency promotes drug resistance and oncogenic transformation by attenuating p53dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94: 2345-2349.

[90] Yin C, Knudson CM, Korsmeyer SJ and Van Dyke T. Bax suppresses tumorigenesis and stimulates apoptosis in vivo. Nature 1997; 385: 637-640.

[91] Ionov Y, Yamamoto H, Krajewski S, Reed JC and Perucho M. Mutational inactivation of the proapoptotic gene BAX confers selective advantage during tumor clonal evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 10872-10877.

[92] Egle A, Harris AW, Bouillet P and Cory S. Bim is a suppressor of Myc-induced mouse B cell leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101: 6164-6169.

[93] Zinkel SS, Ong CC, Ferguson DO, Iwasaki H, Akashi K, Bronson RT, Kutok JL, Alt FW and Korsmeyer SJ. Proapoptotic BID is required for myeloid homeostasis and tumor suppression. Genes Dev 2003; 17: 229-239.

[94] Duan H, Xiang H, Ma L and Boxer LM. Functional long-range interactions of the IgH 3' enhancers with the bcl-2 promoter region in t(14;18) lymphoma cells. Oncogene 2008; 27: 6720-6728.

[95] Fesik SW. Promoting apoptosis as a strategy for cancer drug discovery. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5: 876-885.

[96] Kang MH and Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 inhibitors: targeting mitochondrial apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2009; 15: 1126-1132.

[97] Derenne S, Monia B, Dean NM, Taylor JK, Rapp MJ, Harousseau JL, Bataille R and Amiot M. Antisense strategy shows that Mcl-1 rather than Bcl-2 or Bcl-x(L) is an essential survival protein of human myeloma cells. Blood 2002; 100: 194-199.

[98] Alvi AJ, Austen B, Weston VJ, Fegan C, MacCallum D, Gianella-Borradori A, Lane DP, Hubank M, Powell JE, Wei W, Taylor AM, Moss PA and Stankovic T. A novel CDK inhibitor, CYC202 (R-roscovitine), overcomes the defect in p53-dependent apoptosis in B-CLL by down-regulation of genes involved in transcription regulation and survival. Blood 2005; 105: 4484-4491.

[99] Pearson G, Robinson F, Beers Gibson T, Xu BE, Karandikar M, Berman K and Cobb MH. Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. Endocr Rev 2001; 22: 153-183.

[100] Orton RJ, Sturm OE, Vyshemirsky V, Calder M, Gilbert DR and Kolch W. Computational modelling of the receptor-tyrosine-kinase-activated MAPK pathway. Biochem J 2005; 392: 249-261.

[101] Johnson GL and Lapadat R. Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. Science 2002; 298: 1911-1912.

[102] Chang L and Karin M. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature 2001; 410: 37-40.

[103] Avruch J. MAP kinase pathways: the first twenty years. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007; 1773: 1150-1160.

[104] Seger R and Krebs EG. The MAPK signaling cascade. FASEB J 1995; 9: 726-735.

[105] Ramos JW. The regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in mammalian cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008; 40: 2707-2719.

[106] Kolch W. Coordinating ERK/MAPK signalling through scaffolds and inhibitors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6: 827-837.

[107] Mebratu Y and Tesfaigzi Y. How ERK1/2 activation controls cell proliferation and cell death: Is subcellular localization the answer? Cell Cycle 2009; 8: 1168-1175.

[108] Sebolt-Leopold JS and Herrera R. Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 937-947.

[109] Shin SY, Rath O, Choo SM, Fee F, McFerran B, Kolch W and Cho KH. Positiveand negative-feedback regulations coordinate the dynamic behavior of the Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK signal transduction pathway. J Cell Sci 2009; 122: 425-435.

[110] Dougherty MK, Muller J, Ritt DA, Zhou M, Zhou XZ, Copeland TD, Conrads TP, Veenstra TD, Lu KP and Morrison DK. Regulation of Raf-1 by direct feedback phosphorylation. Mol Cell 2005; 17: 215-224.

[111] Matallanas D, Birtwistle M, Romano D, Zebisch A, Rauch J, von Kriegsheim A and Kolch W. Raf family kinases: old dogs have learned new tricks. Genes Cancer 2011; 2: 232-260.

[112] Wellbrock C, Karasarides M and Marais R. The RAF proteins take centre stage. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 875-885.

[113] Kolch W. Meaningful relationships: the regulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by protein interactions. Biochem J 2000; 351 Pt 2: 289-305.

[114] Roskoski R, Jr. RAF protein-serine/threonine kinases: structure and regulation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010; 399: 313-317.

[115] Wimmer R and Baccarini M. Partner exchange: protein-protein interactions in the Raf pathway. Trends Biochem Sci 2010; 35: 660-668.

[116] Taipale M, Jarosz DF and Lindquist S. HSP90 at the hub of protein homeostasis: emerging mechanistic insights. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010; 11: 515-528.

[117] Trepel J, Mollapour M, Giaccone G and Neckers L. Targeting the dynamic HSP90 complex in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2010; 10: 537-549.

[118] Mollapour M and Neckers L. Post-translational modifications of Hsp90 and their contributions to chaperone regulation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2012; 1823: 648-655.

[119] Young JC, Agashe VR, Siegers K and Hartl FU. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 781-791.

[120] Kampinga HH and Craig EA. The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010; 11: 579-592.

[121] Sha Y, Pandit L, Zeng S and Eissa NT. A critical role for CHIP in the aggresome pathway. Mol Cell Biol 2009; 29: 116-128.

[122] Terasawa K, Yoshimatsu K, Iemura S, Natsume T, Tanaka K and Minami Y.Cdc37 interacts with the glycine-rich loop of Hsp90 client kinases. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26: 3378-3389.

[123] Wartmann M and Davis RJ. The native structure of the activated Raf protein kinase is a membrane-bound multi-subunit complex. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 6695-6701.

[124] Schulte TW, Blagosklonny MV, Ingui C and Neckers L. Disruption of the Raf-1-Hsp90 molecular complex results in destabilization of Raf-1 and loss of Raf-1-Ras association. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 24585-24588.

[125] Stancato LF, Silverstein AM, Owens-Grillo JK, Chow YH, Jove R and Pratt WB. The hsp90-binding antibiotic geldanamycin decreases Raf levels and epidermal growth factor signaling without disrupting formation of signaling complexes or reducing the specific enzymatic activity of Raf kinase. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 4013-4020.

[126] Pratt WB. The role of heat shock proteins in regulating the function, folding, and trafficking of the glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 21455-21458.

[127] Schulte TW, Blagosklonny MV, Romanova L, Mushinski JF, Monia BP, Johnston JF, Nguyen P, Trepel J and Neckers LM. Destabilization of Raf-1 by geldanamycin leads to disruption of the Raf-1-MEK-mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 1996; 16: 5839-5845.

[128] Schulte TW, An WG and Neckers LM. Geldanamycin-induced destabilization of Raf-1 involves the proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 239: 655-659.

[129] Grammatikakis N, Lin JH, Grammatikakis A, Tsichlis PN and Cochran BH. p50(cdc37) acting in concert with Hsp90 is required for Raf-1 function. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19: 1661-1672.

[130] Song J, Takeda M and Morimoto RI. Bag1-Hsp70 mediates a physiological stress signalling pathway that regulates Raf-1/ERK and cell growth. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3: 276-282.

[131] Demand J, Alberti S, Patterson C and Hohfeld J. Cooperation of a ubiquitin domain protein and an E3 ubiquitin ligase during chaperone/proteasome coupling. Curr Biol 2001; 11: 1569-1577.

[132] Dogan T, Harms GS, Hekman M, Karreman C, Oberoi TK, Alnemri ES, Rapp UR and Rajalingam K. X-linked and cellular IAPs modulate the stability of C-RAF kinase and cell motility. Nat Cell Biol 2008; 10: 1447-1455.

[133] Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O and Kolch W. MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3279-3290.

[134] Roberts PJ and Der CJ. Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3291-3310.

[135] Schubbert S, Shannon K and Bollag G. Hyperactive Ras in developmental disorders and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7: 295-308.

[136] Hahn WC and Weinberg RA. Modelling the molecular circuitry of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2: 331-341.

[137] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011; 144: 646-674.

[138] Hanahan D and Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell 2012; 21: 309-322.

[139] Lorusso G and Ruegg C. The tumor microenvironment and its contribution to tumor evolution toward metastasis. Histochem Cell Biol 2008; 130: 1091-1103.

[140] Kobayashi CI and Suda T. Regulation of reactive oxygen species in stem cells and cancer stem cells. J Cell Physiol 2012; 227: 421-430.

[141] Stewart SA and Weinberg RA. Senescence: does it all happen at the ends? Oncogene 2002; 21: 627-630.

[142] Manning AL and Dyson NJ. pRB, a tumor suppressor with a stabilizing presence. Trends Cell Biol 2011; 21: 433-441.

[143] Burkhart DL and Sage J. Cellular mechanisms of tumour suppression by the retinoblastoma gene. Nat Rev Cancer 2008; 8: 671-682.

[144] Henley SA and Dick FA. The retinoblastoma family of proteins and their regulatory functions in the mammalian cell division cycle. Cell Div 2012; 7: 10.

[145] Valastyan S and Weinberg RA. Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011; 147: 275-292.

[146] Bergers G and Benjamin LE. Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3: 401-410.

[147] Grothey A and Galanis E. Targeting angiogenesis: progress with anti-VEGF treatment with large molecules. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2009; 6: 507-518.

[148] Bergers G and Hanahan D. Modes of resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2008; 8: 592-603.

[149] Thiery JP and Sleeman JP. Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7: 131-142.

[150] Xu J, Lamouille S and Derynck R. TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Cell Res 2009; 19: 156-172.

[151] Ikushima H and Miyazono K. TGFbeta signalling: a complex web in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2010; 10: 415-424.

[152] Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ and Ivy SP. Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2011; 8: 97-106.
[153] Harris PJ, Speranza G and Dansky Ullmann C. Targeting embryonic signaling pathways in cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2012; 16: 131-145.

[154] Sethi N and Kang Y. Notch signalling in cancer progression and bone metastasis.Br J Cancer 2011; 105: 1805-1810.

[155] Bolos V, Grego-Bessa J and de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in development and cancer. Endocr Rev 2007; 28: 339-363.

[156] Andersson ER, Sandberg R and Lendahl U. Notch signaling: simplicity in design, versatility in function. Development 2011; 138: 3593-3612.

[157] Ellisen LW, Bird J, West DC, Soreng AL, Reynolds TC, Smith SD and Sklar J. TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms. Cell 1991; 66: 649-661.

[158] Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 2006;127: 469-480.

[159] Nusse R and Varmus HE. Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. Cell 1982; 31: 99-109.

[160] Clevers H and Nusse R. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and disease. Cell 2012; 149: 1192-1205.

[161] Noguti J, CF DEM, Hossaka TA, Franco M, Oshima CT, Dedivitis RA and Ribeiro DA. The role of canonical WNT signaling pathway in oral carcinogenesis: a comprehensive review. Anticancer Res 2012; 32: 873-878.

[162] Nelson WJ and Nusse R. Convergence of Wnt, beta-catenin, and cadherin pathways. Science 2004; 303: 1483-1487.

[163] Valenta T, Hausmann G and Basler K. The many faces and functions of betacatenin. EMBO J 2012; 31: 2714-2736.

Chapter 2

2. RanBPM has pro-apoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage

2.1 Introduction

The integrity of the genome is under constant threat, not only from environmental toxins and radiation, but also from by-products of normal cellular metabolism. In response to DNA damage, eukaryotic cells trigger signalling pathways to induce cell cycle checkpoints and establish DNA repair complexes [1, 2]. The activation of apoptotic pathways is also an essential component of the DNA damage response, and defects in the activation of apoptosis or in the apoptotic machinery lead to genomic instability [3]. Conversely, chromosomal instability favours the inactivation of apoptotic pathways to select for resistant cells and tumours often harbour inactivating mutations of genes that encode pro-apoptotic factors, such as Bax, or factors that are involved in apoptosis regulation such as p53 [4, 5]. Thus, identifying the factors and mechanisms that link DNA repair and apoptosis is fundamental to our understanding of tumourigenesis and to developing strategies for the prevention of cancer development.

The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is the primary pathway activated in response to DNA damage. The central event in this pathway is mitochondrial membrane depolarization which is controlled by Bcl-2 family factors [6, 7]. Anti-apoptotic family members (such as Bcl-2, Mcl-1 and Bcl-X_L) prevent apoptosis by sequestering and neutralizing the pro-apoptotic members (such as Bax, Bad, Noxa and PUMA) through direct interaction. Pro-apoptotic factors activate membrane permeabilization, releasing mitochondrial intermembrane proteins such as cytochrome c, which initiate caspase-dependent apoptosis. Thus, the balance between cell life and death depends on the relative level of expression of pro- and anti-apoptotic members.

RanBPM is a nucleocytoplasmic protein whose function remains largely unknown. Several recent reports have suggested that RanBPM contributes to the regulation of various cell signalling functions, including cell adhesion and migration [811], microtubule regulation [12, 13] as well as the regulation of gene transcription [14, 15]. There is also evidence for RanBPM involvement in signalling pathways elicited by environmental signals. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein whose phosphorylation is modulated by stress stimuli such as osmotic shock and UV radiation [16]. RanBPM is also phosphorylated in response to IR at a consensus site recognized by DNA damage-activated kinases ATM (Ataxia telangiectasia mutated), ATR (ATM-related) and DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) [17]. In addition, the participation of RanBPM in apoptotic signalling pathways was suggested based on RanBPM's ability to interact with CDK11p⁴⁶, a protein implicated in apoptotic signalling cascades [18]. Also, RanBPM was found to interact with the death domain of p75NTR, a member of the TNF receptor family mediating programmed cell death in neurons [19]. Finally, the association of RanBPM with HIPK2 and with p73 has also been suggested to modulate DNA damage-induced apoptotic pathways [20, 21]. However, the functional consequences of these interactions on the regulation of apoptosis remain largely unexplored.

Here, we further the link between RanBPM and apoptosis by establishing a function for RanBPM in promoting apoptosis. We determined that RanBPM expression in Hela cells activates caspase-3 activity and induces cell death. Consistent with these pro-apoptotic capabilities, siRNA-mediated down-regulation of RanBPM compromised the induction of apoptosis and increased cell survival in response to IR. Cells expressing reduced levels of RanBPM also showed altered Bax mitochondrial localization and increased Bcl-2 expression. These results suggest that RanBPM is a DNA damage-activated factor with pro-apoptotic activities capable of regulating the intrinsic apoptotic pathway.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Plasmid expression constructs

pCMV-HA-RanBPM (a gift of Dr. Mark Nelson, Department of Surgery, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ) was described in [18]. pcDNA3-FLAG-RanBPM was generated by sub-cloning of the full-length RanBPM cDNA from pCMV-HA- RanBPM into pcDNA3-FLAG. pCMV-HA-RanBPM shRNA mutant construct (HA-RanBPM si-mt) was generated by introducing 2 silent point mutations at nt 2152/2153 (TC to AG, numbering with respect to the first ATG of the RanBPM cDNA) in pCMV-HA-RanBPM by site-directed mutagenesis using PfuTurbo (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA). pEGFP-C1 is from Clontech (Mountain View, CA, USA), pCGN-Oct-1 has been described elsewhere [22].

2.2.2 siRNA and shRNA constructs

All siRNAs were purchased from Ambion (Austin, TX, USA): control siRNA (Ambion, #AM4611), RanBPM siRNA#2 (Ambion, #107725, upper strand: 5'-GGAAUUGGAUCCUGCGCAU -3) and RanBPM siRNA#1 (Ambion, #107724, upper strand: 5'-GGCCACACAAUGUCUAGGA-3). To generate shRNA expression constructs, the pSuper.retro.neo expression vector (Oligoengine, Seattle, WA, USA) was digested with BgIII and HindIII, and subsequently ligated to double-stranded oligonucleotides corresponding to either control shRNA (Ambion, #AM4611) or RanBPM shRNA #2 (Ambion, #107725).

2.2.3 Cell culture, treatments and irradiation

Hela and HCT116 cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Culture medium for Hela and HCT116 control and RanBPM shRNA stable cell lines was also supplemented with 0.35mg/ml G418 (Geneticin, Bioshop Canada, Burlington, ON, Canada). All cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. For irradiation experiments, cells were plated the night before irradiation at 50–60% confluency. Irradiations were performed with a Faxitron RX-650 at a dose rate of 1.42 Gy/min.

2.2.4 Transfections assays

Plasmid transfections were carried out with ExGen 500TM (MBI Fermentas, Burlington, ON, Canada). siRNA duplexes were transfected with siPORTTM NeoFXTM (Ambion) following the manufacturer's instructions, with a final siRNA concentration of 20nM. For clonal selection of Hela cells, 0.35mg/ml G418 was added to the media 24h after transfection and carried out for 10-14 days before colony isolation. Two independently derived RanBPM shRNA cell lines [denoted Hela RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-6) and (clone 2-7)] were selected for experimental analyses. Similarly, clonal selection of HCT116 cells was carried out with 0.35mg/ml G418, and experiments were performed using [HCT RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-8) and clone (2-16)] cell lines.

2.2.5 Extracts and western blot analyses

For whole cell extracts, cells were collected in ice-cold PBS and lysed in buffer containing 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 50mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 10% Glycerol, 0.5% NP40, and supplemented with 1mM PMSF, 1mM DTT, 1µg/ml leupeptin, 10µg/ml aprotinin, 1µg/ml pepstatin, 2mM sodium fluoride, and 2mM sodium orthovanadate. For sub-cellular fractionations, cells were scraped and washed in ice-cold PBS and lysed in mitochondrial lysis buffer (20mM HEPES, 1mM EGTA, 1mM EDTA, 10mM KCl and 1.5mM MgCl₂) with 50 strokes of a dounce homogenizer. After centrifugation, the pellet (nuclei) was incubated in nuclear lysis buffer (20mM HEPES, 25% glycerol, 450mM NaCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂ and 0.2mM EDTA) and centrifuged to collect the nuclear fraction. The supernatant was centrifuged at 10,000g for 20min to collect the supernatant (cytoplasmic fraction). The pellet (heavy-membrane) was washed in mitochondrial lysis buffer and resuspended in 1% CHAPS buffer (50mM Tris HCl, 110mM NaCl, 50mM HEPES, 10% glycerol and 0.5% NP40), incubated on ice for 15 minutes, and centrifuged to collect the mitochondrial fraction.

For Western blot analysis, extracts were resolved by SDS-PAGE (between 8% and 12%). Gels were transferred on PVDF membrane and hybridized with either of the following antibodies: RanBPM 5M [23] (Bioacademia, Japan), β-actin (I-19, Santa Cruz,

CA, USA), Bax (N-20, Santa Cruz), Bcl-2 (Cell Signalling, Danvers, MA, USA), HA (HA-7, Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada), γ -tubulin (a kind gift from Dr. Litchfield, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada), Ku70 (AB-4, NeoMarkers), PCNA (clone PC-10, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and Cox IV (Cell Signalling). The blots were developed using the Enhanced Luminol Reagent (Renaissance, NEN Life Sciences).

2.2.6 Caspase assays

Cell extracts were prepared in Lysis buffer (1mM KCl, 10mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 1.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, 5µg/ml leupeptin, 2µg/ml aprotinin, and 10% glycerol). Caspase activity was measured as previously described [24] in caspase assay buffer (25mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 10mM DTT, 10% sucrose, 0.1% CHAPS containing either 10µM caspase-3 substrate, N-acetyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-(7-amino-4trifluoromethyl-coumarin (DEVD-AFC) or 10µM caspase-2 substrate, N-acetyl-Val-Asp-Val-Ala-Asp-AFC (VDVAD-AFC) (BIOMOL International, L.P., Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA). The fluorescence produced by substrate cleavage was measured on a SpectraMax M5 fluorimeter (excitation 400 nm, emission 505 nm) over a 2h interval. Caspase activity was calculated as the ratio of the fluorescence output in treated samples relative to corresponding untreated controls. For caspase assays of transfected samples, mock-transfected cells were used as controls.

2.2.7 Apoptotic index and survival assays

Apoptosis was assessed by analyzing nuclear morphology in Hoechst 33342 stained cells. Cells were stained live with Hoechst 33342 (1 μ g/ml, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) and were visualized by fluorescence microscopy (IX70; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Images were captured with a CCD camera (Q-imaging, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada) using Northern Eclipse software (Empix Imaging, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). A minimum of 500 cells were counted for each sample analyzed, and

the fraction of cells displaying an apoptotic nuclear morphology (chromatin condensation, nuclear blebbing and/or fragmentation) was determined.

For clonogenic assays, cells were plated at single-cell density (200-1000 cells per 6cm dish), irradiated 6-8 h after plating and incubated for 10-14 days to allow for colony growth. Colonies were fixed and stained with crystal violet. Colonies of at least 50 cells were scored as survivors. The number of colonies of irradiated samples was normalized to that of unirradiated controls. For crystal violet staining, the cells were washed with PBS and stained with 0.5% crystal violet in 20% methanol, and rinsed 3 times with PBS.

2.2.8 Statistical analyses

Differences between two groups were compared using an unpaired two-tailed ttest and analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used when comparing multiple groups. Results were considered significant when P < 0.05.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 RanBPM overexpression induces cell death

We initially identified RanBPM in a yeast two-hybrid screen as interacting with Octamer factor 1 (Oct-1), a transcription factor previously characterized as a regulator of cell survival in response to DNA damage [22, 25]. Intrigued by preliminary reports implicating RanBPM in signalling pathways elicited by DNA damage [16, 17, 20] we decided to investigate a potential role for RanBPM in the DNA damage response.

In initial transfection experiments, we determined that RanBPM ectopic expression in Hela cells triggered significant cell death 24-48h following transfection, that was not observed upon transfection of similar constructs expressing different cDNAs using identical transfection conditions (data not shown). To confirm a potential effect of RanBPM ectopic expression on cell viability, we expressed RanBPM from a Neomycin selection-containing expression vector and selected transfected cells with G418 for

several days (Fig. 2.1A). While transfection of the vector alone gave rise to numerous G418-resistant colonies, far fewer colonies were observed for cells transfected with RanBPM (20-30 times less), supporting the notion that increased expression of RanBPM reduced cell viability. To determine if RanBPM-induced cell death was due to increased apoptotic activity, we measured caspase activity in RanBPM-transfected Hela cells using a caspase-3 substrate. A strong induction of caspase activity was observed in cells transfected with RanBPM, but not vector alone, suggesting that RanBPM expression activates apoptotic pathways (Fig. 2.1B). Additional caspase analyses performed using extracts from cells transfected with EGFP and Oct-1 expression constructs confirmed that apoptosis was not appreciably induced by overexpression of these proteins, but that the effect was restricted to RanBPM ectopic expression (Fig. 2.1C). Finally to confirm that cell death was triggered specifically by HA-RanBPM expression, we performed indirect immunofluorescence experiments. Cells showing condensed nuclei, typical features of apoptosis, also showed expression of HA-RanBPM detected with an HA antibody (Fig. 2.1D), further linking RanBPM overexpression with cell death. Altogether, these results suggested that increased expression of RanBPM activates apoptotic pathways.

2.3.2 RanBPM down-regulation prevents caspase activation and cell death in response to IR

While our results suggested the possibility of a pro-apoptotic role for RanBPM, we proposed to determine if endogenous RanBPM could fulfill such a function in response to pro-apoptotic stimuli. To investigate a physiological role for RanBPM in the activation of apoptosis, we assessed the effect of RanBPM down-regulation on DNA damage-induced apoptotic induction (Fig. 2.2). The substantial reduction in RanBPM expression obtained through transient siRNA transfection (Fig. 2.2A) resulted in a marked decrease of caspase-3 activation in response to 10Gy of IR (over 2.5-fold decrease at 96h and 120h, Fig. 2.2B). The activation of caspase-2, a stress and DNA damage-induced caspase was also strongly inhibited by RanBPM down-regulation, with over 2-fold reduction of activation at 96h and 120h (Fig. 2.2C). This effect appeared specific to RanBPM as we obtained a similar result with a second RanBPM siRNA

FIGURE 2.1 Ectopic expression of RanBPM in Hela cells induces cell death through apoptotic pathways. A. Cells overexpressing RanBPM display reduced clonogenic potential. Hela cells were transfected with equivalent amounts of pcDNA3-FLAG-RanBPM or empty pcDNA3 vector. Cells were re-plated 24h later at the dilutions indicated and selection was carried out with 0.4mg/ml G418 for 10-14 days at which time cells were stained with crystal violet. **B.** Ectopic expression of RanBPM induces caspase activity. Equivalent amounts of pCMV-HA-RanBPM or pCMV-HA empty vector were transfected in Hela cells. Caspase-3 activity was assayed 24h later. Shown is fold increase of caspase-3 activity in RanBPM-transfected cells over control cells. Results are averaged from seven individual transfections experiments. Error bars indicate the standard deviation of the mean. C. Cells were transfected with equivalent amount (250ng) of pCMV-HA-RanBPM, pEGFP-C1 or pCGN-Oct-1. Caspase activity was assayed as in B. Results are from three experiments performed with triplicate samples. Error bars indicate standard deviation. **D.** Cells transfected with pCMV-HA-RanBPM were grown on poly-L-ornithine-treated coverslips, and fixed 30h post-transfection. Immunolabeling for RanBPM was done with an anti-HA antibody and nuclei were stained with DAPI. Arrows indicate cells undergoing apoptosis.



FIGURE 2.2 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression affects the induction of caspase activity following IR treatment. Hela cells were transfected with control siRNA or RanBPM siRNA#2, split 24h after transfection and plated in 6-well plates for western blot (A) or for caspase assay (B, C). A. Unirradiated cells transfected with control or RanBPM siRNA, were harvested at the time indicated after transfection and whole cell extracts were analyzed by western blot with a RanBPM antibody. The membrane was re-hybridized with a β -actin antibody to verify equal loading. **B.** Cells were irradiated with 10Gy of IR or left untreated. Extracts were prepared at the times indicated after IR treatment and assayed for caspase-3 activity using the Ac-DEVD-AFC substrate. Shown is fold increase of caspase-3 activity in irradiated cells over control cells. The results are from three separate experiments with duplicate samples at each time point. Error bars indicate standard deviation and P < 0.001 for 96h and 120h. C. Extracts prepared in B were assayed for caspase-2 activity using the caspase-2 substrate Ac-VDVAD-AFC. Shown is fold increase of caspase-2 activity in irradiated cells over control cells. Error bars indicate standard deviation and P < 0.001 for 96h and 120h. **D.** Hela cells were transfected with control siRNA or RanBPM siRNA#1, split 24h after transfection and plated in 6-well plates for western blot (left panel) or for caspase assay (right panel). Left – Unirradiated cells transfected with control or RanBPM siRNA, were harvested at the time indicated after transfection and whole cell extracts were analyzed by western blot with RanBPM and β -actin antibodies. Right – Cells were irradiated with 10Gy of IR or left untreated. Extracts were prepared at the times indicated after IR treatment and assayed for caspase-3 activity using the Ac-DEVD-AFC substrate. Shown is fold increase of caspase-3 activity in irradiated cells over control cells. The results are from three experiments with duplicate samples at each time point. Error bars indicate standard deviation.



targeting a different region of RanBPM mRNA (Fig. 2.2D). To determine if this decrease in caspase activation correlated with an effect on cell viability, we generated a stable cell line expressing RanBPM siRNA from the pSuper.Neo expression vector in which RanBPM expression was found to be efficiently down-regulated (Fig. 2.3A). We measured the relative number of cells undergoing apoptosis (apoptotic index) after IR treatment by examination of apoptotic cell morphology following staining with Hoechst 33342 in control and RanBPM shRNA cells (Fig. 2.3A, B). Consistent with the reduction of caspase activity observed in our previous assay, we observed a significant decrease in apoptosis induced by DNA damage in RanBPM-deficient cells compared to control shRNA cells. This correlated with an increased overall survival of the RanBPM shRNA expressing cells in colony-forming assay (Fig. 2.3C), further demonstrating the protective effect of RanBPM down-regulation on cell survival following DNA damage. The protective effect conferred by RanBPM down-regulation was particularly apparent at high doses of IR, as over 5-fold increase in survival was observed at 8 Gy (5.3 ± 2.9 for control versus 29.7 \pm 8.1 for RanBPM shRNA) and over 10-fold at 12 Gy (1.3 \pm 0.6 versus 24.6 ± 6.4). Finally, we verified that the reintroduction of RanBPM in the shRNA down-regulated cell line, through ectopic expression of a RanBPM cDNA bearing a point mutation in the sequence targeted by the shRNA, re-instated caspase activation in response to IR, confirming the specificity of RanBPM function in the activation of apoptotic pathways (Fig. 2.3D). Thus these results suggested that decreased RanBPM expression prevents the activation of apoptosis in response to DNA damage, and promotes cell survival.

2.3.3 RanBPM affects levels and localization of Bcl-2 family factors

IR-induced DNA damage activates apoptosis primarily through the mitochondrial pathway which is controlled by the Bcl-2 protein family [7, 26]. We sought to examine the mechanism of RanBPM pro-apoptotic function by evaluating the effect of RanBPM expression, or lack thereof, on members of the Bcl-2 family. We initiated this analysis by testing the expression and localization of Bax, which is central to the activation of the mitochondrial pathway activated by DNA damage [26]. In most cell types, in response to

FIGURE 2.3 RanBPM down-regulation reduces apoptosis and increases cell survival. A. Apoptotic index. Hela cells stably expressing a control shRNA or RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-7) were either irradiated with 10Gy or left untreated (C), and stained with Hoechst 33342. Images were captured with a fluorescent microscope using Northern Eclipse 7.0 software. Images from unirradiated and 120h post-irradiation control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells are represented. Arrows indicate fragmented and condensed nuclei considered to exhibit apoptotic morphologies. B. To assess apoptotic activation, a minimum of 500 nuclei were counted at each timepoint, and the fraction of cells exhibiting an apoptotic nuclear morphology is indicated. Data represents the mean of four independent experiments with error bars representing standard error, and ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001. The inset shows RanBPM protein levels in whole cell extracts from cells expressing a control shRNA or RanBPM shRNA. Western blot analysis was done with RanBPM and β -actin antibodies as indicated. C. Clonogenic assay. Hela cells stably expressing control shRNA or RanBPM shRNA (2-7) were seeded at a single-cell density and either irradiated at the dose indicated or left untreated (C). Cells were incubated for 10-14 days, after which they were fixed and stained with crystal violet and counted. Survival is expressed as the ration of irradiated cells at each dose over control cells. Data represents the mean of three independent experiments with errors bars representing standard error, * P < 0.05. **D.** Ectopic expression of RanBPM restores caspase-3 activity in RanBPM-deficient cells. Left - Hela cells stably expressing RanBPM shRNA (2-7) were transfected with a pCMV-HA-RanBPM construct bearing a silent point mutation in the RanBPM cDNA sequence targeted by the siRNA (RanBPM si-mt), or with the empty vector. Cells were irradiated (10Gy) 24h after transfection, and incubated for another 96h or 120h, at which time extracts were prepared for caspase-3 assays. Results are averaged from four individual experiments performed in duplicates. Error bars indicate standard deviation, ** P < 0.01 and *** P < 0.001. Right – Representative western blot analysis of RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells showing the level of expression of transfected RanBPM si-mt (+), in comparison with empty vector transfected cells (-) and control Hela cells (Hela).



apoptotic stimuli, Bax translocates to the mitochondrial membrane, oligomerizes and triggers the release of cytochrome c and other proteins present in the intermembrane space [6, 27]. However, in some cell types, including Hela cells, Bax mitochondrial levels do not increase during apoptosis, and Bax activation occurs through its oligomerization and insertion in the mitochondrial membrane [28, 29].

Analysis of whole cell extracts from control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-7) cells showed that Bax protein levels were unaffected by RanBPM down-regulation (Fig. 2.4A, D). However, analysis of heavy membrane fractions revealed that the levels of Bax associated with the mitochondria were strikingly decreased in extracts from RanBPM shRNA cells compared to control shRNA cells (Fig. 2.4B). Since Bax localization and activation are largely dependent on Bcl-2 regulation [7, 30], we analyzed Bcl-2 levels in cells exhibiting reduced expression of RanBPM. Bcl-2 protein levels were found markedly increased in cytoplasmic and whole cell extracts prepared from RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells (Fig. 2.4C, E). Elevated Bcl-2 expression was also observed in whole cell extracts prepared from a second, independently derived clonal RanBPM shRNA cell line [Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-6)] (Fig. 2.4D). Further, we confirmed that the rise of Bcl-2 protein levels was triggered by the lack of RanBPM expression as re-introduction of RanBPM in the RanBPM shRNA cells (via RanBPM si-mt transfection) reduced Bcl-2 protein levels close to those observed in control shRNA cells (Fig. 2.4E). Thus, RanBPM pro-apoptotic activity is mediated, at least in part, by its regulation of factors of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway.

Finally, to verify that the effects of RanBPM depletion were not due to a cell linespecific mechanism in Hela cells, we produced HCT116 clonal derivatives expressing either a control or RanBPM shRNA. As was observed for Hela cells, down-regulation of RanBPM in HCT116 cells correlated with a strong increase in Bcl-2 protein levels in two independent clonal-derived cell lines (RanBPM shRNA 2-8 and 2-16) (Fig 2.5A). Further, RanBPM depleted HCT116 cells also displayed decreased caspase activation in response to IR (Fig. 2.5B) and increased survival as measured by clonogenic assays (Fig. 2.5C), confirming that RanBPM also regulates apoptotic pathways in these cells. FIGURE 2.4 RanBPM down-regulation affects Bax localization and Bcl-2 expression. A. Hela cells stably expressing control shRNA or RanBPM shRNA (2-7) were subjected to 10Gy of IR, or left untreated (C). Whole cell extracts were prepared at the indicated timepoints and 20µg of protein was analyzed by western blot with antibodies directed against RanBPM and Bax, and β -actin was used as a loading control. **B.** Control and RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cell lines were treated as in A, and mitochondrial (heavy membrane) fractions were prepared at timepoints indicated. Western blotting was performed with 10µg of protein extract. Mitochondrial localization of Bax was assessed using a Bax antibody, and Cox IV was used as a loading control C. Control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells were treated as in A, cytosolic fractions were prepared at the timepoints indicated, and extracts were analyzed by western blotting using antibodies against RanBPM, β -actin and Bcl-2. **D.** Control shRNA (C) and RanBPM shRNA (2-6) cells were either irradiated at 10Gy or left untreated (control). Whole cell lysates were prepared at the timepoints indicated, and were analyzed by western blotting using the indicated antibodies. E. Down-regulation of Bcl-2 levels through restoration of RanBPM expression. Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells were either left untransfected (-) or were transfected with pCMV-HA-RanBPM si-mt (+ RanBPM si-mt), and whole cell lysates were prepared 24h and 48h post-transfection. Western blot analysis was performed with 20µg of protein extracts from control shRNA, untransfected RanBPM shRNA (2-7), and RanBPM shRNA (2-7 + RanBPM si-mt) using antibodies directed against RanBPM and Bcl-2. β-actin was used as a loading control.



FIGURE 2.5 RanBPM down-regulation in HCT116 cells. A. Western blot analysis of control and RanBPM shRNA (2-8) and (2-16) HCT116 stable cell lines. Whole cell extracts were analyzed with antibodies against RanBPM, Bcl-2 and β -actin. **B.** Control and RanBPM shRNA (2-8) expressing cells were either irradiated at 10Gy or left untreated. At the timepoints indicated, extracts were prepared and assayed for caspase-3 activity. Results are from four independent experiments with triplicate samples at each time point. Error bars indicate standard deviation and *** *P* <0.001 for 72h and 96h. **C.** Clonogenic assay. HCT116 control and RanBPM shRNA cells (2-8) were plated at single-cell densities, and either irradiated at the dose indicated or left untreated. Cells were incubated for 6-8 days, after which they were fixed, stained with crystal violet, and counted. Survival is expressed as the ratio of irradiated cells at each dose over control cells. Data represents the mean of four independent experiments with errors bars representing standard error. ** indicates *P* <0.01 and *** indicates *P* <0.001.



2.4 Discussion

Here, we present evidence that RanBPM functions as an activator of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. By the use of two complementary approaches, overexpression and down-regulation, we demonstrated that RanBPM regulates the activation of caspases, modulates the levels and localization of Bcl-2 family members, and regulates cell survival in response to DNA damage.

While overexpression of RanBPM triggered caspase activation, down-regulation of RanBPM prevented the activation of apoptotic pathways in response to DNA damage, thus establishing a function for RanBPM in the activation of apoptosis in response to genotoxic insults. RanBPM depletion had a marked effect on overall cell survival in response to IR. This raises the possibility that RanBPM may also function to regulate other forms of cell death such as necrosis and autophagy that can also be triggered, in addition to apoptosis, in response to DNA damage [31]. Apart from caspase-3, we have found 3 proteins that exhibit changes in their expression, activity, or localization upon RanBPM down-regulation: Bcl-2, Bax and caspase-2. Together, these observations may account for the apoptotic defects observed in RanBPM-deficient cells. Bcl-2 is a primary regulator of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway, and its overexpression impairs the activation of apoptosis and is linked to cancer development [4, 30]. Bcl-2 functions by interacting with, and neutralizing, members of the pro-apoptotic family. In particular, Bcl-2 has been shown to prevent Bax translocation and oligomerization, either through direct binding or by preventing its activation through BH3-family factors [6, 28, 32, 33]. Thus, the increase in Bcl-2 expression could explain the decrease in mitochondrial Bax observed in RanBPM-down-regulated cells. Consistent with previous observations [34], Bcl-2 up-regulation was not associated with an increase in overall Bax levels.

Bcl-2 levels have been shown to be regulated by several mechanisms and pathways. First, Bcl-2 expression is regulated at the transcriptional level by several transcription factors including CREB, p53, NF- κ B, Sp1, and Oct-1 [35-37]. Bcl-2 can also be regulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and ubiquitination [38]. In turn, several studies have implicated RanBPM in transcriptional regulation [14, 15, 39], while others have linked RanBPM to the regulation of post-

translational modifications such as phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation [10, 20, 39]. Thus, RanBPM could control Bcl-2 transcriptionally and/or post-translationally. We noted a steady decrease of Bcl-2 protein levels in response to IR in RanBPM shRNA cells. Such a decrease was previously suggested to be causally involved in apoptotic activation [40-42]. Yet, this IR-dependent (RanBPM-independent) Bcl-2 down-regulation is not sufficient to fully activate apoptotic pathways in RanBPM-deficient cells, suggesting that RanBPM also affects the activation of other pro-apoptotic pathways.

Interestingly, we found that caspase-2 activation in response to IR was abrogated in absence of RanBPM. Several studies indicate that caspase-2 activation is a requirement for mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and the apoptotic response induced by various agents, including DNA damage and H_2O_2 [43-45]. Caspase-2 has been reported to contribute to Bax translocation and oligomerization at the mitochondrial membrane [44, 46]. However, the signals controlling caspase-2 activation are still largely undefined, and caspase-2 activation has been found in turn to occur through both Bcl-2-dependent and Bcl-2-independent mechanisms [47-50]. Further investigation will be needed to understand whether RanBPM controls the activation of both factors or if they are regulated by each other sequentially.

In conclusion, we have characterized a novel pro-apoptotic function for RanBPM and revealed a critical role for this factor in the activation of cell death pathways triggered by DNA damage. Our results predict that in cells exhibiting genomic alterations, RanBPM inactivation would result in decreased cell death and allow for the propagation of potential oncogenic mutations. Interestingly decreased levels, and altered patterns of expression, of RanBPM were previously observed in cancer cells from several tumour samples, suggesting that down-regulation of this protein accompanies cancer development [16]. While further investigations will be needed to explore the molecular details of RanBPM action, our current findings suggest that RanBPM could be an important regulator of pathways that prevent tumourigenesis by promoting the elimination of cells with genomic alterations.

2.5 References

[1] Hakem R. DNA-damage repair; the good, the bad, and the ugly. EMBO J 2008; 27: 589-605.

[2] Bartek J and Lukas J. DNA damage checkpoints: from initiation to recovery or adaptation. Curr Op Cell Biol 2007; 19: 238-245.

[3] Zhivotovsky B and Kroemer G. Apoptosis and genomic instability. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 752-762.

[4] Igney FH and Krammer PH. Death and anti-death: tumour resistance to apoptosis. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2: 277-288.

[5] Meier P and Vousden KH. Lucifer's labyrinth--ten years of path finding in cell death. Mol Cell 2007; 28: 746-754.

[6] Leber B, Lin J and Andrews DW. Embedded together: the life and death consequences of interaction of the Bcl-2 family with membranes. Apoptosis 2007; 12: 897-911.

[7] Youle RJ and Strasser A. The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9: 47-59.

[8] Dansereau DA and Lasko P. RanBPM regulates cell shape, arrangement, and capacity of the female germline stem cell niche in Drosophila melanogaster. J Cell Biol 2008; 182: 963-977.

[9] Valiyaveettil M, Bentley AA, Gursahaney P, Hussien R, Chakravarti R, Kureishy N, Prag S and Adams JC. Novel role of the muskelin-RanBP9 complex as a nucleocytoplasmic mediator of cell morphology regulation. J Cell Biol 2008; 182: 727-739.

[10] Wang D, Li Z, Messing EM and Wu G. Activation of Ras/Erk Pathway by a Novel MET-interacting Protein RanBPM. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 36216-36222.

[11] Zou Y, Lim S, Lee K, Deng X and Friedman E. Serine/Threonine Kinase Mirk/Dyrk1B Is an Inhibitor of Epithelial Cell Migration and Is Negatively Regulated by the Met Adaptor Ran-binding Protein M. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 49573-49581.

[12] Menon RP, Gibson TJ and Pastore A. The C terminus of fragile X mental retardation protein interacts with the multi-domain Ran-binding protein in the microtubule-organising centre. J Mol Biol 2004; 343: 43-53.

[13] Tang X, Zhang J, Cai Y, Miao S, Zong S, Koide SS and Wang L. Sperm membrane protein (hSMP-1) and RanBPM complex in the microtubule-organizing centre. J Mol Med 2004; 82: 383-388.

[14] Poirier M-B, Laflamme L and Langlois M-F. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. J Mol Endocrinol 2006; 36: 313-325.

[15] Rao MA, Cheng H, Quayle AN, Nishitani H, Nelson CC and Rennie PS. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 48020-48027.

[16] Denti S, Sirri A, Cheli A, Rogge L, Innamorati G, Putignano S, Fabbri M, Pardi R and Bianchi E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 13027-13034.

[17] Matsuoka S, Ballif BA, Smogorzewska A, McDonald ER, 3rd, Hurov KE, Luo J, Bakalarski CE, Zhao Z, Solimini N, Lerenthal Y, Shiloh Y, Gygi SP and Elledge SJ. ATM and ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. Science 2007; 316: 1160-1166.

[18] Mikolajczyk M, Shi J, Vaillancourt RR, Sachs NA and Nelson M. The cyclindependent kinase 11(p46) isoform interacts with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 310: 14-18.

[19] Bai D, Chen H and Huang BR. RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR.Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 309: 552-557.

[20] Kramer S, Ozaki T, Miyazaki K, Kato C, Hanamoto T and Nakagawara A. Protein stability and function of p73 are modulated by a physical interaction with RanBPM in mammalian cultured cells. Oncogene 2005; 24: 938-944.

[21] Wang Y, Marion Schneider E, Li X, Duttenhofer I, Debatin K and Hug H. HIPK2 associates with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 297: 148-153.

[22] Schild-Poulter C, Shih A, Tantin D, Yarymowich NC, Soubeyrand S, Sharp PA and Hache RJG. DNA-PK phosphorylation sites on Oct-1 promote cell survival following DNA damage. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3980-3988.

[23] Nishitani H, Hirose E, Uchimura Y, Nakamura M, Umeda M, Nishii K, Mori N and Nishimoto T. Full-sized RanBPM cDNA encodes a protein possessing a long stretch of proline and glutamine within the N-terminal region, comprising a large protein complex. Gene 2001; 272: 25-33.

[24] Steckley D, Karajgikar M, Dale LB, Fuerth B, Swan P, Drummond-Main C, Poulter MO, Ferguson SSG, Strasser A and Cregan SP. Puma Is a Dominant Regulator of Oxidative Stress Induced Bax Activation and Neuronal Apoptosis. J Neurosci 2007; 27: 12989-12999.

[25] Tantin D, Schild-Poulter C, Wang V, Haché RJG and Sharp PA. The octamer binding transcription factor Oct-1 is a stress sensor. Cancer Res 2005; 65: 10750-10758.

[26] Norbury CJ and Zhivotovsky B. DNA damage-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 2004; 23: 2797-2808.

[27] Roucou X and Martinou JC. Conformational change of Bax: a question of life or death. Cell Death Differ 2001; 8: 875-877.

[28] Antonsson B, Montessuit S, Sanchez B and Martinou J-C. Bax Is Present as a High Molecular Weight Oligomer/Complex in the Mitochondrial Membrane of Apoptotic Cells. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 11615-11623.

[29] Desagher S, Osen-Sand A, Nichols A, Eskes R, Montessuit S, Lauper S, Maundrell K, Antonsson B and Martinou JC. Bid-induced conformational change of Bax

is responsible for mitochondrial cytochrome c release during apoptosis. J Cell Biol 1999; 144: 891-901.

[30] Cory S, Huang DCS and Adams JM. The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene 2003; 22: 8590-8607.

[31] Roos WP and Kaina B. DNA damage-induced cell death by apoptosis. Trends Mol. Med. 2006; 12: 440-450.

[32] Murphy KM, Ranganathan V, Farnsworth ML, Kavallaris M and Lock RB. Bcl-2 inhibits Bax translocation from cytosol to mitochondria during drug-induced apoptosis of human tumor cells. Cell Death Differ 2000; 7: 102-111.

[33] Mikhailov V, Mikhailova M, Pulkrabek DJ, Dong Z, Venkatachalam MA and Saikumar P. Bcl-2 Prevents Bax Oligomerization in the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 18361-18374.

[34] Murphy KM, Streips UN and Lock RB. Bax membrane insertion during Fas(CD95)-induced apoptosis precedes cytochrome c release and is inhibited by Bcl-2. Oncogene 1999; 18: 5991-5999.

[35] Miyashita T, Krajewski S, Krajewska M, Wang HG, HK. L, Liebermann DA, Hoffman B and Reed JC. Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene 1994; 9: 1799-1805.

[36] Heckman CA, Duan H, Garcia PB and Boxer LM. Oct transcription factors mediate t(14;18) lymphoma cell survival by directly regulating bcl-2 expression. Oncogene 2005; 25: 888-898.

[37] Heckman CA, Mehew JW and Boxer LM. NF-kappaB activates Bcl-2 expression in t(14;18) lymphoma cells. Oncogene 2002; 21: 3898-3908.

[38] Tran SEF, Meinander A and Eriksson JE. Instant decisions: transcriptionindependent control of death-receptor-mediated apoptosis. Trends Biochem Sci 2004; 29: 601-608. [39] Chang L-K, Liu S-T, Kuo C-W, Wang W-H, Chuang J-Y, Bianchi E and Hong Y-R. Enhancement of Transactivation Activity of Rta of Epstein-Barr Virus by RanBPM. J Mol Biol 2008; 379: 231-242.

[40] Chen M, Quintans J, Fuks Z, Thompson C, Kufe DW and Weichselbaum RR. Suppression of Bcl-2 Messenger RNA Production May Mediate Apoptosis after Ionizing Radiation, Tumor Necrosis Factor {alpha}, and Ceramide. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 991-994.

[41] Ochs K, Lips J, Profittlich S and Kaina B. Deficiency in DNA polymerase beta provokes replication-dependent apoptosis via DNA breakage, Bcl-2 decline and caspase-3/9 activation. Cancer Res 2002; 62: 1524-1530.

[42] Tomicic MT, Thust R and Kaina B. Ganciclovir-induced apoptosis in HSV-1 thymidine kinase expressing cells: critical role of DNA breaks, Bcl-2 decline and caspase-9 activation. Oncogene 2002; 21: 2141-2153.

[43] Guo Y, Srinivasula SM, Druilhe A, Fernandes-Alnemri T and Alnemri ES. Caspase-2 Induces Apoptosis by Releasing Proapoptotic Proteins from Mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 13430-13437.

[44] Lassus P, Opitz-Araya X and Lazebnik Y. Requirement for Caspase-2 in Stress-Induced Apoptosis Before Mitochondrial Permeabilization. Science 2002; 297: 1352-1354.

[45] Tamm C, Zhivotovsky B and Ceccatelli S. Caspase-2 activation in neural stem cells undergoing oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Apoptosis 2008; 13: 354-363.

[46] Cao X, Bennett RL and May WS. c-Myc and Caspase-2 Are Involved in Activating Bax during Cytotoxic Drug-induced Apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 14490-14496.

[47] Lin C-F, Chen C-L, Chang W-T, Jan M-S, Hsu L-J, Wu R-H, Fang Y-T, Tang M-J, Chang W-C and Lin Y-S. Bcl-2 Rescues Ceramide- and Etoposide-induced

Mitochondrial Apoptosis through Blockage of Caspase-2 Activation. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 23758-23765.

[48] Robertson JD, Gogvadze V, Kropotov A, Vakifahmetoglu H, Zhivotovsky B and Orrenius S. Processed caspase-2 can induce mitochondria-mediated apoptosis independently of its enzymatic activity. EMBO Rep 2004; 5: 643-648.

[49] Sidi S, Sanda T, Kennedy RD, Hagen AT, Jette CA, Hoffmans R, Pascual J, Imamura S, Kishi S, Amatruda JF, Kanki JP, Green DR, D'Andrea AA and Look AT. Chk1 Suppresses a Caspase-2 Apoptotic Response to DNA Damage that Bypasses p53, Bcl-2, and Caspase-3. Cell 2008; 133: 864-877.

[50] Krumschnabel G, Sohm B, Bock F, Manzl C and Villunger A. The enigma of caspase-2: the laymen's view. Cell Death Differ 2008; 16: 195-207.

Chapter 3

3. RanBPM is an inhibitor of ERK signalling

3.1 Introduction

The ERK pathway is activated by a wide range of signals including growth factors, cytokines and external stressors. These signals trigger the activation of transmembrane receptors such as receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) or G protein-coupled receptors which activate the Ras-Raf-MEK signalling cascade [1, 2]. Activation of Ras is mediated by adaptor proteins, including Sos (son-of-sevenless) and Grb2 (growth-factorreceptor bound 2), which mediate GDP for GTP exchange on Ras, leading to Ras activation [1, 3]. Activation of Ras at the plasma membrane leads to its association with Raf serine/threonine kinases, promoting their activation and in turn phosphorylation and activation of MEK1/2, ultimately resulting in the activation of ERK1 and ERK2 [1, 3]. ERK1 and ERK2 (commonly referred to as ERK1/2 or ERK) are over 80% identical and share many physiological functions. ERK1/2 are promiscuous kinases that have been demonstrated to act on nearly 100 cellular targets, and regulate several diverse cellular functions such as cell cycle progression, proliferation, cell adhesion, transcription, and importantly cell death and apoptosis [3, 4]. The ERK pathway is generally associated with increased cell survival and proliferation and has been shown to be constitutively activated in many tumours [4, 5]. In particular, the ERK pathway is known to inhibit apoptosis by regulating the levels and activity of many apoptotic regulators, including Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L [4, 6, 7].

RanBPM is a nucleocytoplasmic protein whose function is still elusive, but that has been implicated in a variety of cellular functions, including transcriptional regulation [8, 9], regulation of cell morphology [10, 11] and regulation of receptor-activated intracellular signalling pathways including those activated by MET, TrkA and TrkB [12-15]. Analyses of RanBPM-deficient mice have recently shown a role for RanBPM in gametogenesis in both genders [16]. Several reports have also suggested that RanBPM functions as a regulator of apoptotic pathways through its interaction with several apoptotic factors such as cyclin-dependent kinase CDK11p⁴⁶, the p75 neurotrophin

receptor (p75NTR), p73, and homeodomain interacting protein kinase-2 (HIPK-2) [17-20]. We have also demonstrated a functional role for RanBPM in DNA-damage induced activation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway (Chapter 2). We found that down-regulation of RanBPM inhibited the activation of apoptosis in response to ionizing radiation (IR), and consequently led to increased cell survival in both Hela and HCT116 cells. Furthermore, we showed that down-regulation of RanBPM resulted in a substantial up-regulation of Bcl-2 protein levels, suggesting that RanBPM pro-apoptotic function could result at least in part from its ability to regulate the expression of anti-apoptotic factors.

In the present study we provide evidence that the RanBPM-mediated modulation of Bcl-2 expression is linked to its regulation of the ERK pathway. We first demonstrate that similarly to Bcl-2, the protein levels of Bcl-X_L are markedly increased in RanBPM down-regulated cells and that RanBPM controls the expression of these anti-apoptotic factors both at the transcriptional and post-translational levels. Next, we demonstrate that RanBPM down-regulation results in increased ERK1/2 activation that can be reversed upon re-expression of RanBPM. Further, the effect of RanBPM on Bcl-2 expression is dependent on the regulation of the ERK1/2 pathway by RanBPM. We also provide evidence that RanBPM's control of ERK signalling occurs through a regulation of c-Raf levels/stability and that RanBPM associates with c-Raf and affects the interaction of c-Raf and Hsp90. Finally, we show that RanBPM down-regulation promotes cell proliferation and migration, cell transformation properties known to be triggered by deregulated ERK activation. Together, our findings implicate a novel role for RanBPM as an inhibitor of ERK1/2 activation through the regulation of c-Raf stability. They also suggest that loss of RanBPM function, in addition to compromising apoptosis, promotes cellular events leading to cellular transformation, and that these effects could be attributed, at least in part, through a deregulation of the ERK pathway.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Plasmid expression constructs

pCMV-HA-RanBPM shRNA mutant construct (RanBPM si-mt) was described in chapter 2. pEGFP-C1 is from Clontech (Mountain View, CA, USA), and pCGN- Δ N-Oct-1 has been reported elsewhere [22]. The pCMV-3xFlag-Bcl-2 construct was a kind gift from Dr. Sean P. Cregan (University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada). The kinase-deficient ERK1 construct pCEP4-DN-ERK1 (DN-ERK1) [23] was a kind gift from Dr. Melanie H. Cobb (University of Texas, Southwestern Medical Centre, Dallas, TX, USA). The constitutively active H-Ras construct pSV-3xHA-RasV12 (RasV12) [24] was a kind gift from Dr. Arthur Gutierrez-Hartmann (University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA). The constitutively active c-Raf constructs pEBG-GST- Δ N-c-Raf (GST- Δ N-c-Raf) and pCMV-Flag-c-Raf Y340D/Y341D (Flag-Y/Y-c-Raf) [25, 26] were a kind gift from Dr. Zhijun Luo (Boston University, Boston, MA, USA).

3.2.2 siRNA and shRNA constructs

Control siRNA and RanBPM siRNA were purchased from Ambion (Austin, TX, USA) and have been described in chapter 2. Generation of the pSuper-shRanBPM and pSuper-shControl has been outlined in chapter 2.

3.2.3 Cell culture and treatments

Hela and HCT116 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA stable cell lines were generated previously (Chapter 2). HEK293 control shRNA (clones 1-21 and 1-24) and RanBPM shRNA (clones 1-2 and 1-7) stable cell lines were similarly obtained by clonal selection of cells transfected with pSuper-shRanBPM or pSuper-shControl vectors. Hela, HCT116, and HEK293 cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1mM sodium pyruvate, and 2mM L-glutamine at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA stable Hela and HCT116 cell lines were maintained in media supplemented with 0.35mg/ml G418 (Geneticin, Bioshop Canada, Burlington, ON, Canada), and HEK293 clonal derivatives were maintained in 0.45mg/ml G418. For serum starvation experiments, HCT116 cells were cultured in media containing 0.1% FBS and HEK293 cells were cultured in serum-free media. For the MEK1/2 inhibitor (U0126) experiments, RanBPM shRNA Hela cells were treated with 10µM U0126 (Cell Signalling, Danvers, MA, USA) or DMSO alone (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada) for 24h.

3.2.4 Transfections assays

Plasmid transfections were carried out with ExGen 500[™] (MBI Fermentas, Burlington, ON, Canada) according to the manufacturer's protocol, and siRNA duplexes were transfected with siPORT NeoFX (Ambion) as outlined in chapter 2.

3.2.5 Western blot, co-immunoprecipitations and GST-pull down assays

Preparation of whole-cell extracts has been described in chapter 2. In experiments involving c-Raf analysis, the whole cell extract buffer was supplemented with 0.5% Triton-X-100. For Western blot analysis, extracts were resolved by SDS-PAGE (between 8% and 12%). Gels were transferred on PVDF membranes and hybridized with the following antibodies: RanBPM 5M (Bioacademia, Japan), β -actin (I-19, Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), Bcl-2 (Cell Signalling), Bcl-X_L (Cell Signalling), HA (HA-7, Sigma), Flag (M2, Sigma), phospho-T202/Y204-ERK1/2 (Cell Signalling), ERK1/2 (Cell Signalling), phospho-S217/221-MEK1/2 (Cell Signalling), MEK1/2 (Genscript, Piscataway, NJ, USA), c-Raf (clones C-12 and E-10, Santa Cruz), Hsp90 α/β (clone H-114, Santa Cruz), γ -tubulin (a kind gift from Dr. David Litchfield, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada), GST (GE Health Care Life Sciences, Baie d'Urfe, QC, Canada). The blots were developed using the Western Lightning® Enhanced Chemiluminescence Reagent (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA).

In co-immunoprecipitation analyses of RanBPM and c-Raf, 1.5mg of extracts were adjusted to 0.25% Triton X-100, 0.25% NP-40 and 100mM KCl, immunoprecipitations were carried out for 2h at 4°C with the indicated antibodies, and immunoprecipitates were isolated with Dynabeads[®] protein G (Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Burlington, ON, Canada). GST pull-down assays were performed overnight in the same conditions with glutathione beads (Sigma). In co-immunoprecipitation analyses of c-Raf and Hsp90, extracts were adjusted to 0.2% NP-40, 0.04% Triton X-100, and 100mM KCl. The amount of protein was adjusted to obtain similar amount of c-Raf immunoprecipitates from control and RanBPM shRNA cells, and immunoprecipitations were carried out overnight at 4°C with c-Raf (E-10) antibody and were isolated using Dynabeads[®].

3.2.6 Quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR

Total RNA was collected from Hela control shRNA, RanBPM shRNA, and RanBPM shRNA re-expressing RanBPM si-mt, cells using the Qiagen RNeasy RNA Extraction kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada). cDNA was prepared from 2.5µg of total RNA using the SuperScriptII Reverse Transcriptase kit (Invitrogen, Life Technologies). For gene expression analyses of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L, 10ng cDNA was incubated with control RNA polymerase II primers (Pol II) (FW: 5' TTGCCTGTGGCTTGATGCG 3' RV: 5' TTTGTTCTTCCCGAGGATCAGC 3'); and 50ng cDNA was incubated with either Bcl-2-specific primers (FW: 5' TTGTTGTTGTTCAAACGGGA 3' RV: 5' ACAAAACCCCACAGCAAAAG 3') or Bcl-X_L-specific primers (FW: 5' GTAAACTGGGGTCGCATTGT 3' RV: 5' CAGGTAAGTGGCCATCCAAG 3'). For c-Raf analysis, 10ng cDNA was incubated with either control GAPDH primers (FW: 5' GTAGCTCAGGCCTCAAGACCTTGG 3' RV: 5' TGCGGGCTCAATTTATAGAAACCG 3') or c-Raf primers (FW: 5' TTAATCGCGGGCGCTTGGGC 3' RV: 5' CCAGCTGACCCTTTTCGGGGC 3'). Quantitative real-time PCR analysis was performed using SYBR green (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and the Bio-Rad MyiQ single-colour real-time PCR detection

85

system. Relative quantification of gene expression was determined by the $\Delta\Delta C(t)$ method, with Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L and c-Raf C(t) values normalized to that of the controls.

3.2.7 Cell growth and cell migration assays

To assess cellular growth rates, control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA HEK293 cells were seeded in triplicate in 6-well dishes, and 24h post-plating cells were placed in serum-free media. At each timepoint cells were trypsinized, counted using a hemocytometer, and the mean number of cells was determined. Percent growth was obtained by dividing the number of cells at each time point by the number of cells at day one.

In cell migration assays, control and RanBPM shRNA HEK293 cells were grown to 100% confluence on 24-well dishes. Cell monolayers were incubated in the presence of 2mM hydroxyurea (Sigma) for 24h to prevent cell proliferation, after which cells were scratched using a sterile 200µl pipette tip, washed, and maintained in DMEM supplemented with 2mM hydroxyurea. Wound closure was assessed at 0h and 24h using a fluorescent microscope (IX70, Olympus), and images were captured using a chargecoupled device camera (Q-imaging). Percent migration was determined by measuring the wound width at each time point using ImageJ software.

3.2.8 Statistical analyses

Statistical differences between groups were analyzed by a student's *t*-test and oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GraphPad (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Results were considered significant when P < 0.05.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 RanBPM modulates transcriptional and post-transcriptional events that regulate Bcl-2 and $Bcl-X_L$ expression

We showed in chapter 2 that down-regulation of RanBPM expression leads to increased Bcl-2 protein levels in Hela and HCT116 cells. We expanded these analyses to determine whether the expression of other anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family factors such as Bcl-X_L and Mcl-1 was also altered in the absence of RanBPM. Analysis of whole cell extracts from control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA Hela and HCT116 revealed that Bcl-X_L protein levels were markedly elevated in RanBPM shRNA cells compared to control cells (Fig. 3.1A). However, we found that Mcl-1 protein levels remain unchanged in RanBPM shRNA cells (data not shown).

We carried out quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR (qRT-PCR) analyses to determine whether RanBPM is involved in the regulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L gene expression. RanBPM shRNA cells showed increased mRNA levels for both Bcl-2 (2.5fold increase) and Bcl-X_L (1.4- fold increase) in comparison to control shRNA cells (Fig. 3.1B). To verify that this increase in gene expression was specifically due to RanBPM down-regulation, we re-expressed RanBPM in RanBPM shRNA cells by transfecting a cDNA containing a point mutation in the shRNA target sequence (RanBPM si-mt) (described in chapter 2). Upon RanBPM re-expression, Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L mRNA expression was reduced to levels near that of control shRNA cells (Fig. 3.1B), thus confirming a role for RanBPM in the transcriptional regulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L. Previous reports have implicated RanBPM in the regulation of protein stability [17, 27], therefore we sought to determine whether RanBPM may also regulate Bcl-2 and/or Bcl- $X_{\rm L}$ protein levels. To this end, we expressed a Flag-Bcl-2 construct under the control of the CMV promoter in RanBPM shRNA cells and analyzed the effect of RanBPM reexpression on the Flag-Bcl-2 levels. Expression of RanBPM led to a significant downregulation of Flag-Bcl-2 protein levels (Fig. 3.1C). To ensure that this was not due to an effect of RanBPM on the CMV promoter, we repeated this experiment using an Octamer transcription factor-1 (Oct-1) expression construct also under the control of a CMV promoter Endogenous Oct-1 protein levels are not affected by RanBPM down- regulation

Figure 3.1 Regulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L expression by RanBPM. A. Downregulation of RanBPM leads to enhanced Bcl-X_L expression. Whole cell extracts were prepared from Hela and HCT116 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells and were analyzed by western blotting. Blots were hybridized with antibodies against Bcl-X_L, β actin, and RanBPM. B. RanBPM shRNA cells exhibit enhanced Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL mRNA expression. cDNA from Hela control shRNA, RanBPM shRNA, and RanBPM shRNA cells re-expressing RanBPM via transient transfection of RanBPM si-mt construct was analyzed by qRT-PCR with RNA polymerase II (Pol II), Bcl-2, and Bcl-X_L, specific primers. Relative quantification of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L gene expression was determined using the $\Delta\Delta C(t)$ method with Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L expression normalized to that of the controls. Bars represent values normalized to control shRNA cells. Data represents the mean of three independent experiments with error bars representing standard deviation, and * P < 0.05. Inset, representative western blot analysis of whole cell extracts to control for the levels of RanBPM using a RanBPM antibody and β -actin as a loading control. C. RanBPM expression down-regulates Bcl-2 protein levels. Hela RanBPM shRNA cells were transfected with pCMV-3xFlag-Bcl-2. 24h posttransfection, cells were split and were either transfected with pCMV-HA-RanBPM si-mt (RanBPM si-mt) or empty vector. Whole cell extracts were prepared 48h later and analyzed by western blotting. Expression of ectopic Bcl-2 was determined by hybridization with an anti-Flag antibody. RanBPM expression was assessed with a RanBPM antibody, and β -actin was used as a loading control. **D**. Control experiment to confirm the specificity of RanBPM expression on Bcl-2 protein levels. This experiment was carried out the same as in C, except that RanBPM shRNA cells were transfected with pCGN-HA- Δ N-Oct-1 instead of Flag-Bcl-2. The truncated Δ N-Oct-1 migrates at 65kDa as opposed to full-length Oct-1 (which migrates at 90kDa), allowing for detection of Oct-1 and RanBPM expression in cells transfected with both constructs. Blots were hybridized with anti-HA antibody to verify Oct-1 and RanBPM expression.




С



D



(data not shown). As Oct-1 and RanBPM migrate at the same size on SDS-PAGE (approximately 95kDa), a truncated form of Oct-1 (HA- Δ N-Oct-1 [28]) lacking Oct-1 N-terminus was used so that ectopically expressed HA-Oct-1 and HA-RanBPM would be detected on the same gel. Oct-1 protein levels were found to be unchanged upon RanBPM expression (Fig. 3.1D), indicating that RanBPM does not modulate the activity of the CMV promoter, thus confirming a regulation of Bcl-2 by RanBPM through a post-transcriptional or post-translational mechanism.

3.3.2 RanBPM inhibits ERK1/2 activation

Our findings that RanBPM modulates Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L expression through mechanisms involving transcriptional and post-translational regulation suggested that RanBPM could regulate signalling pathway(s) that control the expression of both factors. One of the main pathways that regulates Bcl-2 (and Bcl-X_L) both transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally is the ERK pathway [4, 5]. RanBPM was previously shown to participate in ERK1/2 signalling, but the effects of RanBPM on this pathway remain controversial [12, 29, 30]. Thus, we looked at a direct effect of RanBPM downregulation on ERK activation by comparing ERK1/2 and MEK1/2 phosphorylation in extracts from Hela control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells. Both MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 phosphorylation was significantly enhanced in Hela RanBPM shRNA cells compared to control cells (Fig. 3.2A). To verify that this elevated ERK1/2 activation was not specific to Hela cells, we prepared extracts from serum-deprived HCT116 control and RanBPM shRNA cells, and we observed a similar up-regulation in ERK1/2 phosphorylation in RanBPM shRNA HCT116 cells compared to control cells (Fig. 3.2B). In addition, we generated a third stable cell line by expressing either the control shRNA or RanBPM shRNA expression construct in HEK293 cells, which are immortalized but not transformed [31]. We obtained two independently derived control shRNA cell lines [denoted HEK control shRNA (clone 1-21) and (clone 1-24)], and two independently derived RanBPM shRNA cell lines [denoted HEK RanBPM shRNA (clone 1-2) and (clone 1-7)]. Analysis of extracts from these cells revealed that similarly to the effect observed in HCT116 cells, serum starvation led to enhanced ERK1/2 phosphorylation in

Figure 3.2 RanBPM is a negative regulator of ERK1/2 activation. A. Enhanced MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 phosphorylation in the absence of RanBPM. Whole cell extracts were prepared from Hela control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells (2-7) and analyzed by western blotting. Activation of ERK1/2 was determined by hybridization with phospho-ERK1/2 antibody. Expression of RanBPM in control shRNA cells was verified using a RanBPM antibody, and total ERK1/2 was used as a loading control. **B**. HCT116 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (2-8) cells were serum-starved for 18h in 0.1% FBS. HEK293 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (1-7) cells were incubated in serum-free media for 24h. Whole cell extract were prepared and analyzed as described in A. **C**. Control and RanBPM shRNA Hela and HCT116 cells were either left untransfected, or were transfected with empty vector or RanBPM si-mt. 24h post-transfection, HCT116 cells were serum-starved in 0.1% FBS, and extracts were prepared 18h later. Western blot analysis was carried out the same as in A.



RanBPM-down-regulated HEK293 cells compared to control shRNA cells (Fig. 3.2B). Finally, we verified that the increased ERK1/2 activation was due to a lack of RanBPM expression, as re-expression of RanBPM in both RanBPM shRNA Hela and HCT116 cells led to a marked down-regulation of ERK1/2 phosphorylation to levels near that of control cells (Fig. 3.2C). Together, these analyses suggested that RanBPM inhibits ERK phosphorylation and that down-regulation of RanBPM leads to a constitutive ERK activation.

3.3.3 Inhibition of ERK1/2 signalling down-regulates Bcl-2 protein levels in RanBPM shRNA cells

To further confirm that the enhanced ERK1/2 activation was due to a decrease of RanBPM expression, we performed transient siRNA knockdown experiments in Hela cells (Fig. 3.3A). Transient down-regulation of RanBPM corresponded with a marked increase in ERK1/2 phosphorylation, and this correlated with an increase in Bcl-2 protein levels, suggesting a direct link between RanBPM expression, ERK pathway activation, and Bcl-2 up-regulation.

Since activation of the ERK pathway has been shown to enhance Bcl-2 expression [4, 5, 32], we assessed whether the increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation in RanBPM shRNA cells was responsible for the elevated Bcl-2 protein levels observed in these cells. Treatment of RanBPM shRNA cells with the MEK1/2 inhibitor U0126 completely abolished ERK1/2 phosphorylation, and coincided with a marked down-regulation of Bcl-2 protein expression (Fig. 3.3B). U0126 however is not entirely specific to the ERK1/2 pathway, but can also inhibit MEK5 and thus the whole ERK5 pathway [33]. Therefore we repeated this experiment using a dominant negative ERK1 cDNA construct (DN-ERK1) [34]. Expression of DN-ERK1 led to decreased ERK1/2 phosphorylation and correlated with a significant down-regulation in Bcl-2 protein levels (Fig. 3.3C). These findings support the notion that the enhanced ERK1/2 activation resulting from RanBPM down-regulation promotes the up-regulation of Bcl-2 expression.

Figure 3.3 Regulation of Bcl-2 expression by RanBPM occurs through ERK1/2. A. Transient down-regulation of RanBPM increases ERK1/2 phosphorylation and Bcl-2 protein levels. Hela cells were transfected with control siRNA or RanBPM siRNA. Whole cell extracts were prepared at the indicated timepoints and analyzed by western blotting with antibodies directed against Bcl-2 and phospho-ERK1/2. Down-regulation of RanBPM expression was verified using a RanBPM antibody and total ERK1/2 was used as a loading control. **B.** RanBPM shRNA (2-7) Hela cells were treated with the MEK1/2 inhibitor U0126 or DMSO for 24h. Whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed by western blot as in A. **C.** Hela control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells were either left untransfected or were transfection. Western blot analysis was performed as in A with γ-tubulin used as a loading control.



3.3.4 RanBPM targets the ERK1/2 signalling pathway downstream of Ras

We investigated the ability of RanBPM to regulate upstream events in the ERK signalling cascade. Both active forms of Ras and c-Raf have been shown to bypass the upstream components of the pathway for ERK activation [1, 4, 35]. As a first step, we assessed whether RanBPM acts upstream or downstream of Ras to inhibit ERK1/2 activation. We expressed a constitutively active H-Ras construct (RasV12) in Hela RanBPM shRNA cells, either in the presence or absence of ectopically expressed RanBPM, and analyzed the effect of RasV12 and RanBPM expression on the levels of ERK1/2 phosphorylation. As expected, while RasV12 expression resulted in increased ERK phosphorylation, this effect was inhibited by RanBPM expression (Fig. 3.4A). Interestingly, MEK-induced phosphorylation by RasV12 was also reduced upon RanBPM expression. This suggested that RanBPM is able to inhibit MEK and ERK activation by Ras and thus functions to regulate signalling events between Ras and MEK.

3.3.5 RanBPM forms a complex with c-Raf and inhibits c-Raf expression

Using a similar experimental scheme, we next investigated whether RanBPM expression could inhibit MEK and ERK activation by active c-Raf. Co-expression of RanBPM with a constitutively active c-Raf construct (GST- Δ N-c-Raf, containing c-Raf aa 325-648 [25]) in Hela RanBPM shRNA cells had an inhibitory effect on c-Raf-induced ERK activation (Fig. 3.4B). Intriguingly, we found that expression of RanBPM consistently led to a pronounced decrease in GST- Δ N-c-Raf protein levels (Fig. 3.4B, see also Fig. 3.5B). Since the GST- Δ N-c-Raf construct is under an EF-1 α promoter that could potentially be affected by RanBPM expression, this experiment was repeated with another constitutively active c-Raf construct (c-Raf Y340D/Y341D). This active c-Raf construct is expressed from a CMV promoter, the transcriptional activity of which is not affected by RanBPM (see Fig. 3.1D). We obtained a similar down-regulation of c-Raf Y340D/Y341D upon RanBPM expression (Fig. 3.4C), suggesting that RanBPM functions to down-regulate c-Raf protein levels.

Figure 3.4 RanBPM inhibits ERK1/2 activation through regulation of c-Raf. A. RanBPM regulates ERK1/2 signalling downstream of Ras. RanBPM shRNA Hela cells were left untransfected, or were transfected with either constitutively active RasV12 and RanBPM si-mt or RasV12 and empty pCMV vector. 24h post-transfection, whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed by western blotting. MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 activation was assessed using phospho-MEK1/2 and phospho-ERK1/2 antibodies respectively, and their total protein levels were assessed using MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 antibodies. Expression of RasV12 and RanBPM was determined with an HA antibody. **B.** RanBPM expression down-regulates c-Raf protein levels. RanBPM shRNA Hela cells were left untransfected, or were transfected with either the constitutively active c-Raf construct pEBG-GST- Δ N-c-Raf (GST- Δ N-c-Raf) and empty pCMV vector, or GST- Δ Nc-Raf and RanBPM si-mt. 48h post-transfection, whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed by western blotting. C-Raf expression was determined using a GST antibody, and ERK1/2 activation was assessed using a phospho-ERK1/2 antibody. RanBPM expression was verified using an HA antibody, and γ -tubulin was used as a loading control. C. RanBPM shRNA Hela cells were left untransfected, or were either transfected with the constitutively active c-Raf construct pCMV-Flag-Y/Y-c-Raf (Flag-Y/Y-c-Raf) and empty vector, or Flag-Y/Y-c-Raf and RanBPM si-mt. 48h posttransfection, whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed as in B, with c-Raf levels assessed using a Flag antibody, and GAPDH used as a loading control. **D**. Whole cell extracts were prepared from Hela and HEK293 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells, and endogenous protein levels were analyzed by western blotting with c-Raf and RanBPM antibodies, with β -actin used as a control. **E.** Control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA Hela cells were either left untransfected, or were transfected with empty vector or RanBPM si-mt. 48h post-transfection, whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed as in D. F. RanBPM down-regulation does not affect c-Raf mRNA expression. cDNA from Hela control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA cells was analyzed by qRT-PCR using specific primers for GAPDH and c-Raf. Gene expression was quantified using the $\Delta\Delta C(t)$ method, with c-Raf expression normalized to GAPDH, and expression in RanBPM shRNA cells normalized to control cells (set to an arbitrary value of 1). Data represents the mean of nine independent experiments, with error bars indicating standard error.



To confirm that RanBPM affects c-Raf expression, we analyzed endogenous c-Raf protein levels in Hela and HEK293 control and RanBPM shRNA cells (Fig. 3.4D). Indeed, RanBPM shRNA cells exhibited elevated c-Raf protein levels, and this effect was specifically due to RanBPM down-regulation, as restoration of RanBPM expression in RanBPM shRNA cells led to a decrease in c-Raf protein levels (Fig. 3.4E). To determine whether up-regulation of endogenous c-Raf protein levels may also be attributed to changes in c-Raf gene expression, we performed qRT-PCR analyses to compare c-Raf gene expression in Hela control and RanBPM shRNA cells. Surprisingly, RanBPM down-regulation resulted in a slight decrease in c-Raf mRNA expression, although this difference was not found to be statistically significant, suggesting that RanBPM does not affect c-Raf expression at the transcriptional level (Fig. 3.4F). Together these findings indicate that RanBPM functions to regulate ERK1/2 signalling by modulating c-Raf protein levels.

To begin investigating how RanBPM promotes c-Raf down-regulation, we first looked into a possible association of RanBPM with the c-Raf complex. A previous study reported the interaction of c-Raf kinase domain with RanBPM in a yeast two-hybrid analysis, but their interaction was not confirmed in mammalian cells [29]. Endogenous c-Raf was found to co-immunoprecipitate with HA-RanBPM re-expressed in RanBPM shRNA cells, suggesting that the two proteins form a complex (Fig. 3.5A). In addition, we determined that GST-ΔN-c-Raf, the levels of which were found to be markedly affected by RanBPM (Fig. 3.4B, 3.5B), was able to interact with RanBPM (Fig. 3.5B). Altogether, these results suggest that RanBPM associates with c-Raf and that this interaction relies on the C-terminal kinase domain of c-Raf.

3.3.6 RanBPM disrupts Hsp90-c-Raf association

Rafs are Hsp90 client proteins, and the binding of Hsp90 to c-Raf is required for proper folding and protein stability of c-Raf [36, 37]. To characterize the mechanism by which RanBPM may regulate c-Raf, we assessed whether RanBPM expression affected the association of Hsp90 with c-Raf. Co-immunoprecipitation of c-Raf from Hela control

Figure 3.5 RanBPM interacts with c-Raf and reduces c-Raf-Hsp90 association. A. Co-immunoprecipitation of RanBPM and c-Raf. RanBPM shRNA (2-7) Hela cells were transfected with empty vector or RanBPM si-mt, and 48 post-transfection whole cell extracts were incubated with either an HA antibody or mouse IgG control. Presence of c-Raf in immunoprecipitates was determined using a c-Raf antibody and RanBPM expression was verified using HA, compared to 5% input extract. B. RanBPM shRNA (2-7) Hela cells were transfected with GST- Δ N-c-Raf and either pCMV empty vector or RanBPM si-mt, or with RanBPM si-mt and GST empty vector, and whole cell extracts were prepared 48h post-transfection. Activated c-Raf was pulled down using glutathione beads, presence of RanBPM was verified using an HA antibody, and c-Raf expression was determined using GST, compared to 5% input extract. C. Co-immunoprecipitation of Hsp90 with c-Raf. Extracts from Hela control shRNA (C) and RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells were immunoprecipitated with c-Raf or mouse IgG control antibodies. Equal amounts of immunoprecipitated c-Raf from control and RanBPM shRNA cells were analyzed by western blot with Hsp90 and c-Raf antibodies. Inputs represent 5% of the total protein used for immunoprecipitation. D. Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells were transfected with empty vector (-) or RanBPM si-mt, and whole cell extracts prepared 48 post-transfection were immunoprecipitated and analyzed as in C.

Α



Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-7)

В







and RanBPM shRNA cell extracts revealed an increased amount of Hsp90 coimmunoprecipitating with c-Raf in RanBPM-depleted cells (Fig. 3.5C). In addition, reexpression of RanBPM reversed this effect, substantiating an inhibitory effect of RanBPM on the association of Hsp90 with c-Raf (Fig. 3.5D). These findings indicate that RanBPM may function to destabilize the c-Raf protein by inhibiting the interaction of c-Raf and Hsp90.

3.3.7 Inhibition of RanBPM expression promotes cellular transformation

Activating mutations in K-Ras and N-Ras that result in constitutive activation of the ERK pathway are among the most frequent oncogenic events in human cancers [5, 38]. Our observation that RanBPM down-regulation promotes ERK activation suggested that loss of RanBPM function, in addition to compromising apoptosis, could promote cellular transformation. We first analyzed the effect of RanBPM down-regulation on cell growth in HEK293 cells. We evaluated the growth rate of both RanBPM and control shRNA HEK293 cells upon serum withdrawal. For both HEK293 (WT) and the clonal derivative control shRNA HEK293 (1-21) cells, growth slowed down at approximately four days post serum starvation, and at seven days post serum withdrawal cell growth had almost completely stopped (Fig. 3.6A). However this was not observed with two different clonal derivative RanBPM shRNA cells (1-2 and 1-7). These cells continued to grow in the absence of serum, even at seven days post serum withdrawal. These results indicate that down-regulation of RanBPM expression promotes loss of growth factor dependence. In addition, as previous studies have demonstrated a role for the ERK pathway in promoting cell migration [38, 39], we tested the migratory properties of RanBPM and control shRNA HEK293 cells in a wound-healing assay, which evaluates the ability of cells to move over a cell-free zone created by scraping the middle of the plate with a pipette tip. This assay revealed a significant increase in cell motility of RanBPM shRNA cells, which displayed a 1.7 fold increase in wound closure compared to control cells (Fig. 3.6B, C). Together, these results indicate that loss of RanBPM expression leads to cell signalling alterations that promote aberrant cell proliferation and cell migration.

Figure 3.6 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression enhances cellular transformation. A. RanBPM shRNA cells exhibit increased cell growth. Growth rates for HEK293 wild-type (WT), control shRNA (1-21) and RanBPM shRNA (1-2 and 1-7) cells were assessed for seven days. Data represents the mean percent growth for four independent experiments, with error bars indicating standard error, and ** P < 0.01 and *** P < 0.001. B. Confluent monolayers of control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (1-7) HEK293 cells were cultured in the presence of 2mM hydroxyurea for 24h, scratched using a sterile pipette tip, and wound healing was assessed at the indicated time points using a microscope at 4x magnification. Images from a representative experiment are shown. C. Percent wound closure was calculated for control and RanBPM shRNA HEK293 cells. Data represents the mean of four independent experiments with error bars representing standard error, and ** P < 0.01.



3.4 Discussion

This study reveals an important role for RanBPM in repressing ERK activation and signalling. Expanding on our previous findings which showed elevated expression of the anti-apoptotic factor Bcl-2 in RanBPM down-regulated cells, we demonstrate here that Bcl-2 overexpression in these cells is mediated by increased ERK activation that is specifically triggered by the loss of RanBPM expression. We show that the inhibition of ERK signalling by RanBPM is achieved through a regulation of c-Raf protein levels and that RanBPM associates with c-Raf *in vivo*. Finally, we determine that loss of RanBPM expression confers increased cell growth and cell migration, properties known to be induced by increased ERK signalling.

Here, we demonstrate that the regulation of Bcl-2 expression by RanBPM that we documented in chapter 2 is a direct consequence of a regulation of the ERK pathway by RanBPM. Our investigation of a potential effect of RanBPM on the ERK pathway was prompted by the observation that, in addition to Bcl-2, RanBPM also modulated the expression of another anti-apoptotic factor, Bcl-X_L, and that these regulations occurred both at the transcriptional and at the post-translational levels. The ERK pathway has previously been shown to regulate Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L both transcriptionally and posttranscriptionally [4, 5, 32]. In our studies, we have shown that both transient and stable down-regulation of RanBPM activated ERK phosphorylation, and we have confirmed that this effect was specific to RanBPM, as restoration of RanBPM expression reversed this effect. Further, we have substantiated that RanBPM down-regulation promotes ERK activation in three different cell lines, confirming that the regulation of ERK by RanBPM is not cell-type specific. Moreover, we show that inhibiting ERK in RanBPM downregulated cells reduces Bcl-2 expression, confirming that ERK signalling is directly responsible for elevated Bcl-2 expression in these cells. Altogether, these experiments demonstrate that RanBPM expression has an inhibitory effect on ERK phosphorylation and signalling.

Previous studies have implicated RanBPM in the regulation of the ERK pathway, however there have been conflicting reports of the outcome of RanBPM expression on ERK activation. In a first study, RanBPM was shown to stimulate this pathway through

an interaction with the RTK MET [12]. While our results are in contradiction with this report, it should be noted that this previous study employed an experimental approach that involved overexpression of a GFP-RanBPM fusion construct. Whether the addition of a bulky fluorescent tag at the N-terminus of RanBPM interferes with RanBPM function is unknown, but since RanBPM has been shown to dimerize (or even multimerize) through LisH domain [40], it is possible that the GFP-RanBPM fusion protein may have had an adverse effect on endogenous RanBPM function. Another study presented evidence that the N-terminal region of RanBPM interacted with the neural cell adhesion molecule L1 and inhibited ERK activation induced by L1 [30]. However, this study relied on overexpression of a truncated form of RanBPM, and the effect of the truncation on RanBPM function was not investigated [30]. In contrast to these reports, a third study reported an inhibitory role of RanBPM on ERK signalling activated by a constitutively active Raf-BXB [29]. This study also described an interaction between RanBPM and the catalytic domain of c-Raf using a yeast two-hybrid assay. Consistent with these findings, we show here that RanBPM associates with the C-terminus of c-Raf using a GST-pull-down assay in mammalian cells. Further, we also show that RanBPM can form a complex with endogenous c-Raf.

Raf proteins are central regulators of the ERK pathway that function by coupling receptor activation to ERK-dependent signalling cascades, and as such their activity is subject to complex regulation [39]. Intensive studies on c-Raf in particular have revealed that c-Raf undergoes an intricate cycle of activation/deactivation that involves multiple interactions with regulators, phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events, and conformational changes [39]. Our data indicate that RanBPM modulates c-Raf expression through a regulation of c-Raf protein levels/stability. First, our qRT-PCR analyses revealed that RanBPM down-regulation did not result in increased c-Raf mRNA levels, indicating that RanBPM does not affect c-Raf gene expression. In fact, RanBPM down-regulation resulted in a slight, albeit not significant, decrease in c-Raf mRNA levels. A possible explanation may be that elevated c-Raf protein expression activates negative feedback loops that repress its transcription. Second, our results show that RanBPM is able to modulate the stability of ectopically expressed c-Raf, as the expression of both active c-Raf point mutant (Y/Y) and ΔN deletion mutant was strongly

affected by RanBPM expression. Interestingly, the down-regulation of c-Raf by RanBPM seemed more pronounced with these transfected active forms of c-Raf than with the pool of endogenous c-Raf proteins which comprises active and inactive forms. This is consistent with the ability of RanBPM to form a complex with the c-Raf kinase domain, and thus suggests that RanBPM preferentially targets active forms of c-Raf.

An important part of c-Raf regulation is its association with chaperone proteins that ensure proper folding and prevent c-Raf degradation [36]. C-Raf protein folding and stability has been shown to be dependent on its association with the chaperone Hsp90, as disruption of Hsp90-c-Raf interaction results in a sharp decrease in c-Raf levels [37, 41, Phosphorylation of Ser⁶²¹ through c-Raf autophosphorylation has also been 421. implicated in promoting c-Raf stability [43]. We did not find a consistent change in Ser⁶²¹ phosphorylation resulting from RanBPM expression (data not shown). However, we found that RanBPM down-regulation enhanced c-Raf-Hsp90 complex formation. This effect was found to be specifically due to down-regulation of RanBPM, as restoration of RanBPM expression reduced the association of Hsp90 with c-Raf. These findings suggest that the interaction of RanBPM with c-Raf disrupts the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex, leading to its destabilization. For instance, RanBPM may function to destabilize c-Raf by competing with Hsp90 for binding to c-Raf. Such a mechanism was previously proposed to explain the negative regulation of c-Raf by Hsp70. Hsp70 was shown to compete with c-Raf for binding to BAG1, a chaperone that stimulates c-Raf catalytic activity, thus preventing c-Raf activation of proliferation pathways [44, 45]. Alternatively, RanBPM may recruit a protein or protein complex to c-Raf that disrupts the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex. A precedent exists for such a remodelling of Hsp90chaperone complexes, which is mediated by the co-chaperone CHIP (carboxy terminus of Hsp70-interacting protein) [46]. CHIP was shown to bind Hsp90 substrates and mediate the transfer of client proteins to Hsp70, causing their dissociation from Hsp90 and promoting their proteasome-mediated degradation [41, 46-48]. Whether RanBPM is part of this complex or functions independently in regulating chaperone-dependent Hsp90 client proteins stability/degradation remains to be determined.

It is well established that deregulation of the ERK pathway leading to its constitutive activation is linked with many aspects of tumour development including cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, and migration [4-6]. Our observation that RanBPM down-regulation promotes ERK activation suggests that loss of RanBPM function could promote cellular events leading to cellular transformation. Both cell proliferation and cell migration were found enhanced in HEK293 RanBPM shRNA cells suggesting that RanBPM expression is essential to regulate these two cellular functions. It should be noted that while the increased cell migration observed upon RanBPM down-regulation may be due to increased ERK activation, it could also result from MEK-independent functions of c-Raf, which has been shown to regulate cell motility through a direct regulation of the Rho effector Roka [38, 39, 49]. Previous reports have suggested a function for RanBPM in repressing oncogenic cellular events by promoting the activity of the tumour suppressor p73 and Mammalian Lethal Giant Larvae-1 (Mgl-1) [17, 50]. Our results not only confirm a tumour suppressor role for RanBPM, but go beyond these observations to show that altering RanBPM expression is in itself sufficient to disrupt regulatory mechanisms that control cell transformation and the establishment of Interestingly, decreased RanBPM expression was previously oncogenic pathways. reported in cancer cells from several tumour samples, suggesting that loss of RanBPM may be linked to tumour development [51]. To confirm a link between these observations, it will be important to determine whether loss of RanBPM expression in tumours correlates with the constitutive activation of the ERK pathway.

3.5 References

McKay MM and Morrison DK. Integrating signals from RTKs to ERK//MAPK.
 Oncogene 2007; 26: 3113.

[2] Waters C, Pyne S and Pyne NJ. The role of G-protein coupled receptors and associated proteins in receptor tyrosine kinase signal transduction. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2004; 15: 309-323.

[3] Ramos JW. The regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in mammalian cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008; 40: 2707-2719.

[4] Balmanno K and Cook SJ. Tumour cell survival signalling by the ERK1/2 pathway. Cell Death Differ 2009; 16: 368.

[5] McCubrey JA, Steelman LS, Chappell WH, Abrams SL, Wong EW, Chang F, Lehmann B, Terrian DM, Milella M, Tafuri A, Stivala F, Libra M, Basecke J, Evangelisti C, Martelli AM and Franklin RA. Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007; 1773: 1263-1284.

[6] Roberts PJ and Der CJ. Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3291.

[7] Sebolt-Leopold JS and Herrera R. Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 937.

[8] Poirier M-B, Laflamme L and Langlois M-F. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 2006; 36: 313-325.

[9] Rao MA, Cheng H, Quayle AN, Nishitani H, Nelson CC and Rennie PS. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 2002; 277: 48020-48027.

109

[10] Dansereau DA and Lasko P. RanBPM regulates cell shape, arrangement, and capacity of the female germline stem cell niche in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Cell Biol. 2008; 182: 963-977.

[11] Valiyaveettil M, Bentley AA, Gursahaney P, Hussien R, Chakravarti R, Kureishy N, Prag S and Adams JC. Novel role of the muskelin-RanBP9 complex as a nucleocytoplasmic mediator of cell morphology regulation. J. Cell Biol. 2008; 182: 727-739.

[12] Wang D, Li Z, Messing EM and Wu G. Activation of Ras/Erk Pathway by a Novel MET-interacting Protein RanBPM. J. Biol. Chem. 2002; 277: 36216-36222.

[13] Yin YX, Sun ZP, Huang SH, Zhao L, Geng Z and Chen ZY. RanBPM contributes to TrkB signaling and regulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced neuronal morphogenesis and survival. J. Neurochem 2010; 114: 110-121.

[14] Yuan Y, Fu C, Chen H, Wang X, Deng W and Huang B-R. The Ran binding protein RanBPM interacts with TrkA receptor. Neuroscience Letters 2006; 407: 26.

[15] Zou Y, Lim S, Lee K, Deng X and Friedman E. Serine/Threonine Kinase Mirk/Dyrk1B Is an Inhibitor of Epithelial Cell Migration and Is Negatively Regulated by the Met Adaptor Ran-binding Protein M. J. Biol. Chem. 2003; 278: 49573-49581.

[16] Puverel S, Barrick C, Dolci S, Coppola V and Tessarollo L. RanBPM is essential for mouse spermatogenesis and oogenesis. Development 2011; 138: 2511-2521.

[17] Kramer S, Ozaki T, Miyazaki K, Kato C, Hanamoto T and Nakagawara A. Protein stability and function of p73 are modulated by a physical interaction with RanBPM in mammalian cultured cells. Oncogene 2005; 24: 938-944.

[18] Wang Y, Marion Schneider E, Li X, Duttenhofer I, Debatin K and Hug H. HIPK2 associates with RanBPM. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2002; 297: 148-153.

[19] Bai D, Chen H and Huang BR. RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR.Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2003; 309: 552-557.

110

[20] Mikolajczyk M, Shi J, Vaillancourt RR, Sachs NA and Nelson M. The cyclindependent kinase 11(p46) isoform interacts with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 310: 14-18.

[21] Atabakhsh E, Bryce DM, Lefebvre KJ and Schild-Poulter C. RanBPM has proapoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. Mol. Cancer Res. 2009; 7: 1962-1972.

[22] Schild-Poulter C, Shih A, Tantin D, Yarymowich NC, Soubeyrand S, Sharp PA and Hache RJG. DNA-PK phosphorylation sites on Oct-1 promote cell survival following DNA damage. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3980.

[23] Lai C-F, Chaudhary L, Fausto A, Halstead LR, Ory DS, Avioli LV and Cheng S-L. Erk Is Essential for Growth, Differentiation, Integrin Expression, and Cell Function in Human Osteoblastic Cells. J. Biol.Chem. 2001; 276: 14443-14450.

[24] Jonsen MD, Duval DL and Gutierrez-Hartmann A. The 26-Amino Acid β-Motif of the Pit-1β Transcription Factor Is a Dominant and Independent Repressor Domain. Mol Endocrinol 2009; 23: 1371-1384.

[25] Xiang X, Zang M, Waelde CA, Wen R and Luo Z. Phosphorylation of 338SSYY341 Regulates Specific Interaction between Raf-1 and MEK1. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 44996-45003.

[26] Zang M, Gong J, Luo L, Zhou J, Xiang X, Huang W, Huang Q, Luo X, Olbrot M, Peng Y, Chen C and Luo Z. Characterization of Ser338 phosphorylation for Raf-1 activation. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 31429-31437.

[27] Ideguchi H, Ueda A, Tanaka M, Yang J, Tsuji T, Ohno S, Hagiwara E, Aoki A and Ishigatsubo Y. Structural and functional characterization of the USP11 deubiquitinating enzyme, which interacts with the RanGTP-associated protein RanBPM. Biochem. J. 2002; 367: 87-95.

[28] Schild-Poulter C, Shih A, Yarymowich NC and Hache RJ. Down-regulation of histone H2B by DNA-dependent protein kinase in response to DNA damage through modulation of octamer transcription factor 1. Cancer Res. 2003; 63: 7197-7205.

[29] Johnson SE, Winner Jr DG and Wang X. Ran binding protein 9 interacts with Raf kinase but does not contribute to downstream ERK1/2 activation in skeletal myoblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 340: 409-416.

[30] Cheng L, Lemmon S and Lemmon V. RanBPM is an L1-interacting protein that regulates L1-mediated mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. Journal of Neurochemistry 2005; 94: 1102-1110.

[31] Kavsan V, Iershov A and Balynska O. Immortalized cells and one oncogene in malignant transformation: old insights on new explanation. BMC Cell Biol. 2011; 12: 23.

[32] Pardo OE, Arcaro A, Salerno G, Raguz S, Downward J and Seckl MJ. Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 Induces Translational Regulation of Bcl-XL and Bcl-2 via a MEKdependent Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 2002; 277: 12040-12046.

[33] Kamakura S, Moriguchi T and Nishida E. Activation of the Protein Kinase ERK5/BMK1 by Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 1999; 274: 26563-26571.

[34] Robbins DJ, Zhen E, Owaki H, Vanderbilt CA, Ebert D, Geppert TD and Cobb MH. Regulation and properties of extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases 1 and 2 in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 1993; 268: 5097-5106.

[35] Kerkhoff E and Rapp UR. Cell cycle targets of Ras/Raf signalling. Oncogene 1998; 17: 1457-1462.

[36] Kolch W. Meaningful relationships: the regulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by protein interactions. Biochem. J. 2000; 351: 289-305.

[37] Schulte TW, Blagosklonny MV, Ingui C and Neckers L. Disruption of the Raf-1-Hsp90 Molecular Complex Results in Destabilization of Raf-1 and Loss of Raf-1-Ras Association. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 24585-24588.

112

[38] Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O and Kolch W. MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007; 26: 3279-3290.

[39] Matallanas D, Birtwistle M, Romano D, Zebisch A, Rauch J, von Kriegsheim A and Kolch W. Raf family kinases: old dogs have learned new tricks. Genes Cancer 2011;2: 232-260.

[40] Lakshmana MK, Chung JY, Wickramarachchi S, Tak E, Bianchi E, Koo EH and Kang DE. A fragment of the scaffolding protein RanBP9 is increased in Alzheimer's disease brains and strongly potentiates amyloid-{beta} peptide generation. FASEB J. 2010; 24: 119-127.

[41] Demand J, Alberti S, Patterson C and Höhfeld J. Cooperation of a ubiquitin domain protein and an E3 ubiquitin ligase during chaperone/proteasome coupling. Curr Biol 2001; 11: 1569-1577.

[42] Schulte TW, Blagosklonny MV, Romanova L, Mushinski JF, Monia BP, Johnston JF, Nguyen P, Trepel J and Neckers LM. Destabilization of Raf-1 by geldanamycin leads to disruption of the Raf-1-MEK-mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 1996; 16: 5839-5845.

[43] Noble C. CRAF autophosphorylation of serine 621 is required to prevent its proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol. Cell 2008; 31: 862-872.

[44] Song J, Takeda M and Morimoto RI. Bag1-Hsp70 mediates a physiological stress signalling pathway that regulates Raf-1/ERK and cell growth. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3: 276-282.

[45] Wang HG, Takayama S, Rapp UR and Reed JC. Bcl-2 interacting protein, BAG-1, binds to and activates the kinase Raf-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1996; 93: 7063-7068.

[46] McDonough H and Patterson C. CHIP: a link between the chaperone and proteasome systems. Cell Stress Chaperones 2003; 8: 303-308.

113

[47] Pratt WB, Morishima Y, Peng H-M and Osawa Y. Proposal for a role of the Hsp90/Hsp70-based chaperone machinery in making triage decisions when proteins undergo oxidative and toxic damage. Exp Biol Med 2010; 235: 278-289.

[48] Xu W, Marcu M, Yuan X, Mimnaugh E, Patterson C and Neckers L. Chaperonedependent E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP mediates a degradative pathway for c-ErbB2/Neu. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2002; 99: 12847-12852.

[49] Ehrenreiter K, Piazzolla D, Velamoor V, Sobczak I, Small JV, Takeda J, Leung T and Baccarini M. Raf-1 regulates Rho signaling and cell migration. J Cell Biol 2005; 168: 955-964.

[50] Suresh B, Ramakrishna S, Kim YS, Kim SM, Kim MS and Baek KH. Stability and function of mammalian lethal giant larvae-1 oncoprotein are regulated by the scaffolding protein RanBPM. J Biol Chem 2010; 285: 35340-35349.

[51] Denti S, Sirri A, Cheli A, Rogge L, Innamorati G, Putignano S, Fabbri M, Pardi R and Bianchi E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. J. Biol. Chem. 2004; 279: 13027-13034.

Chapter 4

4. RanBPM expression regulates transcriptional pathways involved in development and tumourigenesis

4.1 Introduction

Cancer development is driven by alterations in cellular pathways leading to the evasion from mechanisms that normally restrict growth, migration and invasion [1]. Tumourigenesis is associated with changes in gene expression and the progression of cell transformation from normal to tumour cells [2, 3]. Altered gene expression can elicit cancer development, and may also occur as the result of downstream signalling from pathways deregulated during cancer progression [4]. These changes in expression have been linked to specific phases of cancer development often reflecting either the type or the stage of cancer progression. To this end gene expression profiling has greatly contributed to our understanding of cancer progression, and to the identification of key genes and pathways which when deregulated promote cancer development [3].

RanBPM was initially identified as a binding partner for the Ran GTPase that localized to the microtubule-organizing center (MTOC) [5], although both of these observations were later dismissed [6]. Several roles for RanBPM have subsequently been proposed in cellular processes including the regulation of cell morphology [7-9], cell adhesion [10-12], cell cycle progression [13] and regulation of neurological functions [13-15]. Most of these functions result from interaction of RanBPM with various proteins, which have been reported to occur both in the cytoplasm and the nucleus. In the cytoplasm, RanBPM has been suggested to function as a scaffold for receptor signalling pathways through interactions with the neuronal cell adhesion molecule L1 [11], the MET receptor (MET proto-oncogene, also called hepatocyte growth factor receptor) [16], and tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) TrkA [17] and TrkB [14] receptors. The interaction of RanBPM with these receptors is believed to regulate the activation of downstream signalling pathways including the ERK1/2 [11, 16], Akt [14], and NF-κB pathways [18]. In addition, RanBPM was suggested to modulate the stability of proteins, such as the proapoptotic transcription factor p73 [19]. In the nucleus, RanBPM has been shown to

interact with the transcriptional regulator TAF4 [15] and the viral early-immediate transcriptional regulator Rta [20]. RanBPM has also been reported to modulate the transcriptional activity of the androgen receptor (AR) [21], the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) [21], and the thyroid hormone receptor (TR) [22]. These data suggest that RanBPM could have wide ranging and important influences on gene expression, either directly through interaction with transcriptional regulators, or indirectly through the modulation of intracellular signalling pathways.

In chapter 2, we established that RanBPM functions to promote apoptosis in response to DNA damage. We showed that down-regulation of RanBPM in Hela and HCT116 cells prevented the activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway and promoted cell survival in response to ionizing radiation treatment. Therefore in the present study, we sought to gain further insight into the pathways and cellular functions that are regulated by RanBPM. Using microarray analyses that compared RanBPM down-regulated cells to those in which RanBPM is expressed at physiological levels, global changes in gene expression elicited by RanBPM down-regulation were investigated. Our analyses reveal that decreased RanBPM expression causes wide spread changes in gene expression that indicate it may be an important mediator in the control of many tumourigenic processes.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Cell culture

Hela and HCT116 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA stable cell lines were previously generated (as outlined in chapter 2). Cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Life Technologies, Burlington, ON, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Wisent Bioproducts, St. Bruno, QC, Canada), 2mM L-glutamine, and 1mM sodium pyruvate (Life Technologies) at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA stable cell lines were maintained in media supplemented with 0.35mg/ml G418 (Geneticin, Bioshop Canada, Burlington, ON, Canada).

4.2.2 Plasmid expression constructs and transfection assays

The pCMV-RanBPM shRNA mutant expression construct (RanBPM si-mt) has been described in chapter 2. Transfection assays were carried out using ExGen 500TM (Thermo Scientific, Fermentas, Burlington, ON, Canada) as per the manufacturer's instructions.

4.2.3 Western blotting

To prepare whole cell extracts, cells were collected in ice-cold PBS and lysed in buffer containing 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 50mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 10% Glycerol, 0.5% NP40, and supplemented with 1mM PMSF, 1mM DTT, 1µg/ml leupeptin, 10µg/ml aprotinin, 1µg/ml pepstatin, 2mM sodium fluoride, and 2mM sodium orthovanadate. For western blot analysis, 20µg of protein extracts were resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad, Burlington, ON, Canada), and blots were hybridized with antibodies against RanBPM (5M, BioAcademia, Japan) and β-actin (I-19, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA).

4.2.4 RNA extraction, quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR and statistical analysis

Total RNA was isolated from Hela and HCT116 control shRNA, RanBPM shRNA, and RanBPM shRNA re-expressing RanBPM si-mt, cells using the Qiagen RNeasy RNA isolation kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada). For quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) analyses, cDNA was prepared from 2.5µg of total RNA using the SuperscriptII Reverse Transcriptase kit (Life Technologies), and gene expression was determined using 10-100ng of cDNA incubated with primers described in Suppl. Table 4.1, using SYBR green (Bio-Rad) and the BioRad MyiQ single-colour real-time PCR detection system. Relative gene expression was quantified via the $\Delta\Delta C(t)$ method with candidate gene values normalized to that of controls. Statistical significance was analyzed using a student's *t*-test, with a *P* <0.05 indicating significant results.

4.2.5 RNA quality assessment, probe preparation and GeneChip hybridization

All sample labelling and GeneChip processing was performed at the London Regional Genomics Centre (Robarts Research Institute, London, ON, Canada; http://www.lrgc.ca). RNA quality was assessed using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) and the RNA 6000 Nano kit (Caliper Life Sciences, Mountain View, CA, USA). Single stranded complementary DNA (sscDNA) was prepared from 200ng of total RNA as per the Ambion WT Expression Kit (WT) for Affymetrix GeneChip Whole Transcript Expression Arrays (http://www.ambion.com/techlib/prot/fm_4411973.pdf, Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and the Affymetrix GeneChip WT Terminal Labelling kit and Hybridization User Manual

(http://media.affymetrix.com/support/downloads/manuals/wt_term_label_ambion_user_ manual.pdf, Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Total RNA was first converted to cDNA, followed by in vitro transcription to make cRNA. 5.5 μ g of single stranded cDNA was synthesized, end labelled, and hybridized, for 16 hours at 45°C to Human Gene 1.0 sense-target (ST) arrays. All liquid handling steps were performed by a GeneChip Fluidics Station 450 and GeneChips were scanned with the GeneChip Scanner 3000 7G (Affymetrix) using Command Console v1.1.

4.2.6 Bioinformatics and data analysis

Probe level (.CEL file) data was generated using Affymetrix Command Console v1.1. Probes were summarized to gene level data, background subtraction was performed, and expression values were normalized to log base-2 in Partek Genomics Suite v6.6 (Partek, St. Louis, MO) using the Robust Multiarray Averaging (RMA) algorithm [24]. Partek was used to determine gene level ANalysis Of VAriance (ANOVA) p-values, fold-changes, and Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment, using a Chi-square test. Partek Pathway was also used to find enriched KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) pathways, using a Fisher's exact test.

For bioinformatics analyses, a list of genes exhibiting a minimum of 1.2-fold increase or decrease in expression in RanBPM shRNA cell lines compared to control shRNA cell lines was first generated (target gene list). Analysis of genes differentially expressed in RanBPM shRNA cells was performed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) (Ingenuity[®] Systems, www.ingenuity.com) and the Protein Analysis Through Evolutionary Relationships (PANTHER) database [25]. For IPA, the target gene list was uploaded alongside the respective HUGO (HUman Genome Organization) gene symbols and fold-change values, and analyzed using Ingenuity Pathway Core Analysis, which generated a list of focus genes. IPA Functional Analysis of this gene list was performed to identify top biological processes affected by decreased RanBPM expression, based upon GO terms and curator-defined ontology terms (Ingenuity[®] Systems, www.ingenuity.com). IPA was also used to generate cellular networks affected by RanBPM down-regulation. Significance of identified cellular networks was determined by assigning a score to each network. A score is assigned based upon a p-value calculation that determines the likelihood that genes appear within a given network by random chance, and is the negative exponent of the right-tailed Fisher's exact test result (Ingenuity[®] Systems, www.ingenuity.com). A score of ≥ 3 is considered significant, as it indicates a 1/1000 chance that genes appear within a network by chance.

The PANTHER database uses protein sequences to group proteins into functional families and subfamilies, and uses ontology terms to classify proteins according to molecular functions, biological processes, and protein classes. For PANTHER analyses, the target gene list and HUGO gene symbols were uploaded to the PANTHER website and the top biological processes, molecular functions, and protein classes affected in response to RanBPM down-regulation were identified.

The oPOSSUM analysis system was utilized to identify over-represented Transcription Factor Binding Sites (TFBS) in the list of genes affected by RanBPM down-regulation. Briefly, oPOSSUM compares the occurrence of TFBS within a set of co-expressed genes (target gene list) to a pre-determined background set of genes, in order to identify over-represented sites in the target list [26]. The significance of any identified binding sites is calculated using a Z-score and Fisher score, with a Z-score of

119

 \geq 10 indicating a significantly over-represented TFBS, in agreement with database publisher's recommendations [27].

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Identification of gene targets regulated by RanBPM expression

We have previously generated clonal stable cell lines in Hela and HCT116 cells expressing either a control or RanBPM shRNA (as described in chapter 2 and shown in Suppl. Fig. 4.1). To identify gene targets that are regulated by RanBPM expression, RNA samples were prepared in triplicate from normally proliferating Hela control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-7) cells, and gene expression profiling was performed using Affymetrix human gene expression arrays. The mean fold-change in gene expression in RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells compared to control shRNA cells was calculated, and using a 1.2-fold change cut-off, we identified 2621 genes for which expression was altered by RanBPM down-regulation. To minimize the potential that the observed changes in gene expression arose from the derivation of clonal cell lines, RNA samples were prepared in triplicate from a second Hela RanBPM shRNA cell line [denoted RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-6)]. Gene expression was quantified using the parameters outlined above, and we identified 3952 genes differentially expressed in RanBPM shRNA (2-6) cells compared to control shRNA cells. Comparison of the list of differentially expressed genes in the two Hela RanBPM shRNA cell lines identified 1719 genes common to both cell lines (Suppl. Fig. 4.1). Further, to limit possible cell-type specific effects of RanBPM down-regulation on gene expression patterns, RNA samples were also prepared in triplicate from HCT116 cells expressing either a control or RanBPM shRNA [denoted HCT116 RanBPM shRNA (clone 2-8)]. The mean fold-change in expression was calculated, and using a 1.2-fold change cut-off we identified 2226 genes with altered expression in response to RanBPM down-regulation. Combining the list of differentially expressed genes obtained for each cell line we identified a total of 187 genes common to all three cell lines, for which expression was changed by RanBPM down-regulation (Suppl. Fig. 4.1 and Suppl. Table 4.2). Of these, 167 were annotated genes, with 74 genes

down-regulated and 93 genes up-regulated upon RanBPM down-regulation. Our analysis also confirmed a strong decrease in RanBPM expression in all three RanBPM shRNA cell lines, as demonstrated by a 2.46-fold decrease in Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-6), 2.92-fold decrease in Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-7), and 2.76-fold decrease in HCT116 RanBPM shRNA (2-8) cells respectively (Suppl. Table 4.2).

4.3.2 IPA and PANTHER analyses

To gain insight into the functional and biological consequences associated with decreased RanBPM expression, we performed Ingenuity Pathway Analysis on the 167 genes identified above. IPA is a web-based tool that utilizes information from the literature to analyze data obtained from gene expression arrays. This analysis allows for modeling biological interactions and building networks of cellular processes to determine the effects of a given experimental treatment. IPA Functional Analysis of genes that were differentially expressed in RanBPM shRNA cells revealed that down-regulation of RanBPM expression most significantly affects cellular processes associated with cancer, tissue development, and cellular function and maintenance (Table 4.1). Notably, over one-third of the 167 genes analyzed were associated with cancer, suggesting a potentially important role for RanBPM in regulating cellular processes associated with tumourigenesis. To characterize pathways that are affected by down-regulation of RanBPM, we next performed Network Analyses in IPA. This analysis uses a given gene list to build networks of cellular processes, and assigns a score based upon the number of genes from that list that are found within a particular cellular network. Using the gene list from above and a cut-off score of 3 (see methods) we identified seven cellular networks that were significantly affected by the decrease in RanBPM expression. These networks encompass cellular processes such as organ development, tissue morphology, cancer, cell motility, cell signalling, RNA modification, protein synthesis, and molecular transport (Table 4.2). ERK1/2 was a component of the top two cellular networks affected by the down-regulation of RanBPM expression. Additionally, PI3K/Akt, Notch, and NF-ĸB signalling were components of the most highly affected cellular networks in RanBPM shRNA cells. Together these analyses reveal that down-regulation of RanBPM leads to

Diseases and Disorders		
Name	p-value	# of molecules
Cancer	2.43E-04 - 3.79E-02	57
Reproductive System and Disease	2.43E-04 - 2.86E-02	19
Gastrointestinal Disease	5.43E-04 - 3.79E-02	16
Organismal Injury and Abnormalities	5.43E-04 - 3.79E-02	10
Inflammatory Response	1.34E-03 - 3.79E-02	19

Table 4.1. IPA analysis of top biological functions altered in RanBPM shRNA cells

Molecular and Cellular Functions

Name	p-value	# of molecules
Cellular Function and Maintenance	2.60E-04 - 3.79E-02	22
Cell Morphology	2.73E-04 - 3.14E-02	12
Cellular Assembly and Organization	2.73E-04 - 3.79E-02	10
Lipid Metabolism	9.00E-04 - 3.79E-02	10
Small Molecule Biochemistry	9.00E-04 - 3.79E-02	20

Physiological System Development and Function

Name	p-value	# of molecules
Tissue Development	7.03E-04 - 3.79E-02	42
Hematological System Development and Function	2.60E-04 - 3.79E-02	22
Organ Morphology	9.00E-04 - 3.79E-02	10
Reproductive System Development and Function	9.00E-04 - 3.79E-02	9
Connective Tissue Development and Function	1.02E-03 - 3.79E-02	23

Top biological function in each category is bolded

	Genes	Score	Function
1	, , CREB, EDAR, EGLN3, ELF3, ERK1/2 , , IFN γ , IgG1, IL12, IL18, Interferon α , JNK, L1CAM, MFGE8, p38 MAPK, PDGF BB, , PI3K, , PMAIP1, , SCN9A, SDC4, , , , , , , SYK/ZAP, TCIRG1, TCR, TLR3, USP18, VEGF	37	Cardiovascular System Development and Function, Organ Development, Organismal Development
2	, AKT, ARL6IP5, ATP1B3, CD93, DHRS3, EMP1, ERAP1, ERK1/2 , ER, FJX1, FSH, GBP1, GCA, hCG, Histone H3, Histone H4, IFITM3, IgG, , , , Lh, , MST1R, NF- κ B, , , OAS3, PLCB3, PPAP2B, RNF40, , SACS, ,	28	Protein Synthesis, Cell Signaling, Cancer
3	, APP, Arginase, ATP7A, CCND1, CEBPA, , FBXO4, , GABRE, GBP1, HNF1A, HNF4A, HNMT, HOXB5, KIF5C, , KRT10, LEP, LIPA, , MST1, NCAPH, NPM1, NPR2, PADI4, PERP, ROCK2, , , , TIMP3, TLE1, , TP53, ULK2	24	Cell Morphology, Hepatic System Development and Function, Cellular Response to Therapeutics
4	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	22	Cellular Movement, Cancer, Cardiovascular System Development and Function
5	AMY2A, DLL1, ERBB2, EZH2, FAM107B, FOXC2, GALNT3, , , HES1, HOXB6, HSD3B7, IL11, , MARCKS, MFAP5, MIB1, MSLN, NOTCH1, NOTCH2, NOTCH3, NOTCH4, NPC2, PAX7, PPARγ, PRICKLE1, PRSS23, PSEN1, RAB34, RAB27B, RAP1GAP, RETNLA, SLC4A11, TAL1, TFAP2A	20	Tissue Morphology, Cellular Development, Embryonic Development
6	ADD2, ALDH1A3, ANK3, AR, ASAP1, BCAR3, CA2, CAST, DAPK2, DICER1, DOCK1, FOS, FOXH1, GM2A, , GRHPR, IRS1, KIF5B, LAMA3, LHFP, , NTS, PDYN, PLK2, , PRKRA, PTPLAD2, , RAP1GAP, SOS, , TBL1X, TCOF1, , TNNT2	13	RNA Modification, Skeletal and Muscular Development and Function, Tissue Morphology
7	ALDH1A2, CASP1, CASP4, , CCL11, CD274, , CSF3, CTSK, CX3CR1, CXCL1, GZMB, IGE, IgG1, IL1, IL2, IL13, IL25, IL27, IL33, IL18, IL23A, IRF4, ITGAL, , LAMB3, MYD88, , NFATC1, , PDCD1, PSTPIP2, SLPI, TRB, ZBTB32	9	Cell-Cell Signaling and Interaction, Hematological System Development and Function, Immunological Disease

Table 4.2. IPA analysis of cellular networks affected by RanBPM down-regulation

Genes marked in red indicate down-regulated genes, genes marked in green indicate upregulated genes. ERK1/2 is bolded. gene expression changes that affect regulation of cell, tissue, and organ development and morphology, as well as biological processes implicated in tumourigenesis.

To corroborate the findings from IPA, and further characterize the molecular processes that are altered in cells with decreased RanBPM expression, we analyzed our list of differentially expressed genes using the PANTHER database [25]. Similarly to IPA, PANTHER allows for functional analysis of data gathered from gene expression profiling by using curator-defined groupings of protein sequences to build protein families. These protein families can then be used to identify biological processes, molecular functions, pathways, and protein classes to which groups of genes may be assigned. We first identified the most highly affected biological processes and molecular functions associated with reduced expression of RanBPM (Fig. 4.1A, B). We determined that in RanBPM down-regulated cells, the most highly affected biological processes include cell communication, tissue development, and cellular metabolism; and the most highly affected molecular functions include receptor and protein binding, enzyme catalysis, and transcriptional regulation. PANTHER also allows for the classification of protein classes to which genes from a given gene list may belong. Using the protein class analyses, the expression of transcription factors, receptors, cell adhesion proteins, and cytoskeletal proteins were all found to be affected by the down-regulation of RanBPM expression (Fig. 4.1C). Our analyses using PANTHER verify our findings with IPA and indicate that decreased RanBPM expression leads to changes in gene expression patterns that affect cellular processes involved in both development and cancer.

4.3.3 Validation of selected gene targets

Next, we sought to validate the expression data obtained from our gene arrays by performing qRT-PCR analyses. As our findings with IPA identified cancer as one of the cellular processes most significantly affected by the down-regulation of RanBPM (Table 4.1), we chose to validate gene targets which had previously been linked in the literature to tumourigenesis. Eleven candidate genes were selected, and their expression was analysed in RNA extracts from control and RanBPM shRNA Hela and HCT116 cells
Figure 4.1 PANTHER analysis of cellular processes altered by RanBPM downregulation. A and B. Gene Ontology (GO) analyses of top biological processes (A) and molecular functions (B) affected by RanBPM down-regulation. The number of genes in target gene list that are annotated to a given function are plotted, with percentages indicating the number of genes that appear in selected gene list divided by the total number of genes assigned to that function. **C.** Protein classes for which expression is most significantly affected in RanBPM shRNA cells. Data is represented as in A and B.







(Fig. 4.2A, B). For 10 of the candidate genes selected, we confirmed the change in expression observed in the gene arrays in both the Hela and HCT116 cell lines (Fig. 4.2B). However MFAP5 (microfibrillar associated protein 5, also known as MAGP2) mRNA expression levels were too low to be reliably measured in HCT116 cells, and therefore the change in expression of MFAP5 was only successfully confirmed in Hela cells. As might be expected we found that for the majority of candidate genes selected, the fold-change in gene expression as determined by qRT-PCR was greater than that observed using the gene arrays [28, 29].

To evaluate the direct contribution of RanBPM down-regulation to the changes in gene expression observed, we ectopically re-expressed RanBPM in Hela and HCT116 RanBPM shRNA cell lines. This was achieved by transiently expressing a RanBPM cDNA containing a point mutation in the siRNA recognition sequence (RanBPM si-mt) in these cells, allowing for restoration of RanBPM expression to near endogenous levels (Fig. 4.2A). RNA extracts were prepared 48h post-transfection from both Hela and HCT116 cells, and gene expression for the 11 candidate genes outlined above was quantified using qRT-PCR. Interestingly, our analyses revealed two categories of genes. The first category comprised genes for which re-expression of RanBPM restored mRNA expression close to levels observed in control cells. These genes, grouped to the left of the axis break in Figure 4.2B, included ELF3 (E74-like factor 3, also known as ESE-1), RON [recepteur d'origine nantais/macrophage stimulating receptor 1 (MST1R)], ALDH1A3 (aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 isoform A3), Rab27B (Rab 27B member Ras oncogene family), and L1CAM (L1 cell adhesion molecule). MSLN1 (mesothelin 1) showed a statistically significant change upon RanBPM re-expression in Hela cells, but not in HCT116 cells. The second category of genes, grouped together to the right of the axis break in Figure 4.2B, comprised genes for which expression was not significantly altered upon restoration of RanBPM expression. Included in this category were TG2 (transglutaminase 2, also called TGM2), PHD3 (prolyl hyrdoxylase 3, also called EGLN3), LAMB3(laminin β 3), and CHN1 (chimerin 1). Similarly, MFAP5 expression not affected by restoration of RanBPM expression in Hela cells. was

Figure 4.2 Validation of selected gene targets identified in microarray analyses. A. Hela RanBPM shRNA (2-7) cells (*left*) and HCT116 RanBPM shRNA (2-8) cells (*right*) were either left untransfected (-) or were transfected with pCMV-RanBPM si-mt (+ RanBPM si-mt) expression construct. Forty-eight hours post-transfection, whole cell extracts were prepared and analyzed by western blotting, alongside control shRNA (C) and untransfected RanBPM shRNA extracts. Restoration of RanBPM expression was verified by hybridizing with a RanBPM antibody, and β -actin was used as a loading control. **B.** cDNA from control shRNA, RanBPM shRNA, and RanBPM shRNA +RanBPM si-mt Hela (*top*) and HCT116 (*bottom*) cells was analyzed by qRT-PCR analyses using primers specific to the indicated genes. Fold gene expression was normalized to control shRNA cells. Genes appearing to the left of x-axis break are genes whose expression was responsive to restoration of RanBPM expression, and genes appearing to the right of x-axis break were not responsive to restored RanBPM expression. Data represents the mean of a minimum of three independent experiments with error bars indicating standard error, and * *P* <0.05 and ** *P* <0.005.



4.3.4 Identification of over-represented transcription factor binding sites

The PANTHER analyses outlined above identified transcriptional regulation and transcription factors as one of the most highly affected molecular functions and protein classes altered by the down-regulation of RanBPM. To expand upon this finding we sought to determine whether decreased RanBPM expression affects the expression of subsets of genes regulated by specific classes or families of transcription factors. To test this, we utilized oPOSSUM, a web-based tool that allows for the identification of overrepresented TFBS in the promoters of sets of co-expressed genes [27]. Analysis of the 167 genes differentially expressed in RanBPM shRNA cells using oPOSSUM identified 20 transcription factors which contain significantly over-represented TFBS within the promoters of these genes (Table 4.3). We found that the most over-represented TFBS in our gene list was HOXA5 (homeobox A5), a member of the Homeobox family of transcription factors. Of the 167 genes analyzed, 134 contained binding sites for HOXA5 within their promoters. We also identified six members of the Forkheadbox (FOX) family of transcription factors, four additional members of the Homeobox family, and four members of the High Mobility Group (HMG) family of transcription factors, all of which contained over-represented TFBS in the promoters of our differentially expressed genes.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Summary

RanBPM has been implicated in the control of a multitude of cellular processes including regulation of development [7, 8], cell motility [16], transcription [15, 20-22], and apoptosis [19, 23, 30-32]. However, a common modality for the function of this protein remains unclear. The aim of the present study was to utilize gene expression profiling to gain further insight into the cellular functions of RanBPM, by characterizing the impact of RanBPM down-regulation on global cellular signalling events. To identify the functional consequences associated with decreased RanBPM expression we generated a list of genes whose expression was altered in RanBPM shRNA cells, and identified the

Transcription Factor	Family	Target Genes	Z-Score					
Class: Winged Helix-Turn-Helix								
FOXI1	Forkhead	103	30.93					
FOXO3	Forkhead	112	29.9					
FOXD1	Forkhead	108	23.8					
Foxa2	Forkhead	102	22.82					
FOXA1	Forkhead	105	21.82					
Foxd3	Forkhead	97	21.76					
SPI1	ETS	130	17.32					
Class: Helix-Turn-Helix	TT	120	21.21					
NKX2-5	Homeo	129	31.21					
HOXAS	Homeo	134	29.04					
Pdx1	Homeo	122	25.42					
Prrx2	Homeo	117	24.24					
Nobox	Homeo	113	23.05					
ARID3A	Arid	130	28.3					
Class: Other Alpha-Helix								
SRY	HMG	116	35					
SOX5	HMG	111	22.42					
Sox17	HMG	110	20.15					
SOX9	HMG	110	18.86					
Class: Zine Coordinating								
Catal	CATA	117	75.95					
Gatal	GAIA 00 · C	11/	25.85					
Gfi	ββα-zinc finger	118	18.11					
Class: Leucine Zipper	Class: Leucine Zipper							
CEBPA	Zipper-type	109	17.2					

Table 4.3. oPOSSUM analysis of over-represented transcription factor binding sites

most highly affected biological processes and cellular networks in these cells. Downregulation of RanBPM expression was found to significantly affect the expression of factors associated with embryonic, cellular, and tissue development, as well as those involved in cancer development and progression.

4.4.2 Implications in development

Our analyses revealed several components of the Notch and Wnt signalling pathways whose expression was altered upon RanBPM down-regulation. These include JAG1 (Jagged 1), which is a ligand for Notch receptors [33], RUNX2 (runt-related transcription factor 2), which integrates signals from Notch, Wnt, and TGF β (transforming growth factor β) to regulate bone development and differentiation [34], and RON/MST1R, a receptor tyrosine kinase known to promote phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation of β -catenin in breast and colon tumours [35]. Moreover, Notch signalling was found to be a major component of one of the top cellular networks affected by RanBPM down-regulation. It is well established that signalling pathways such as the Notch/Wnt/Hedgehog pathway, which normally regulate embryonic development, can become deregulated in cancer. For example, Notch signalling normally mediates cell-cell communication in embryogenesis, as well as cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [33, 36]. Deregulated Notch signalling has been linked to tumour development in the lung, ovaries, breast, and colon, and to enhanced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of cancer cells [33, 37, 38]. Induction of Wnt signalling occurs upon the binding of Wnt proteins to cell surface receptors, leading to the stabilization and nuclear accumulation of β -catenin [39]. Within the nucleus, β -catenin mediates the expression of Wnt target genes that regulate embryonic signalling events such as proliferation, morphogenesis, and differentiation [34, 39]. Similarly to Notch, Wnt signalling is deregulated in many cancers and in certain cases such as colorectal tumours deregulated Wnt signalling can initiate tumour development [33, 39]. Several studies have also identified an important role for RanBPM in development. RanBPM was found to be required in the *Drosophila* nervous system for larval behaviour associated with feeding, growth, and locomotion [7]. Recent studies in RanBPM knockout mice revealed a critical

role for this protein in normal gonad development and gametogenesis in both males and females [40]. Additionally, RanBPM has been linked to developmental processes occurring through Notch-dependent signalling. For example it was shown to regulate the size, shape, and organization of the germline stem cell (GSC) niche in female *Drosophila* [8]. The development, and capacity of this niche for stem cells, is known to be regulated through Notch expression and signalling [8, 15]. RanBPM was found to regulate neuronal differentiation in *Drosophila* by interacting with TAF4, a transcriptional co-activator that binds transcription factors downstream of Notch signalling to regulate neural stem cell fate and differentiation [15]. Our gene expression data indicate that RanBPM regulates the expression of several factors involved in Notch signalling, further suggesting a possible role for RanBPM in the regulation of Notch-mediated signalling during development.

In addition to factors involved in Notch/Wnt signalling, we also identified several other differentially expressed genes for which a function in both development and cancer has been demonstrated. These include GBP1 (guanylate binding protein 1), a cytokine-activated small GTPase normally involved in cellular proliferation and angiogenesis [41], which is overexpressed in ovarian and oral tumours [42, 43]; NR0B1 (nuclear receptor subfamily 0 Group B member 1) that acts a transcriptional co-repressor in embryonic stem cell development, pluoripotency, and differentiation [44], and is overexpressed in several tumours [44, 45]; and L1CAM, which is involved in neurite outgrowth and axon guidance in normal cells [46], and is overexpressed in numerous cancers, including melanoma, lung, and thyroid cancer [46, 47]. Thus, these findings suggest a complex role for RanBPM in both the regulation of normal cellular processes associated with development, as well as in the progression of diseased states such as cancer.

4.4.3 Implications in signalling

RanBPM has previously been demonstrated to regulate several receptor-mediated signalling pathways, including the ERK1/2 and NF- κ B pathways. As such, it was hypothesized to have potential functions in tumourigenesis, although the outcome of

RanBPM function in this process remains controversial due to differing findings regarding its role in activation of signalling cascades such as ERK1/2. While some reports indicate that RanBPM expression promotes activation of ERK1/2 signalling and would therefore enhance cellular transformation [14, 16, 17], other groups including ours (as outlined in chapter 3) have characterized RanBPM as a repressor of ERK1/2 activation and suggest a tumour-suppressor role for this protein [11]. Our gene expression data indicated that several signalling pathways are affected by decreased RanBPM expression, including the ERK1/2 and the PI3K/Akt pathways, both of which were components of the top two cellular networks affected by down-regulation of RanBPM. These pathways are known to play critical functions in cancer development. ERK1/2 signalling regulates many cellular processes including cell cycle progression, cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, and adhesion [48], and aberrant ERK1/2 signalling has been observed in many diseased states including cardiovascular disease and cancer [48, 49]. PI3K signalling is activated by cell-surface receptors and converges upon Akt, which phosphorylates various cellular targets involved in cell growth, survival, metabolism, and autophagy [50]. Similarly to ERK1/2, both PI3K and Akt are often found to be mutated and/or deregulated in cancer [51]. Our data indicate that while gene expression of ERK1/2, PI3K, and Akt is not affected by RanBPM down-regulation, the expression of several factors that regulate these signalling pathways is altered by decreased RanBPM expression, suggesting a tumour-suppressor function for RanBPM. For example, L1CAM and IL-18 have been found to promote ERK1/2 activation and enhance ERK-target gene expression, and are often overexpressed in tumour samples [46, 52, 53]. Our gene expression data reveal that down-regulation of RanBPM leads to increased L1CAM and IL-18 expression, indicating a potential link between the expression of these genes and deregulated ERK1/2 signalling in RanBPM shRNA cells. Similarly, gene expression of the tyrosine kinase RON was up-regulated in cells with decreased RanBPM expression. Overexpression of RON has been observed in multiple tumours, and is associated with enhanced ERK1/2 and Akt activation and signalling [54-56]. Collectively these findings suggest a role for RanBPM in the regulation of signalling pathways that are associated with both normal cellular function and diseased states, and further implicate a potential role for RanBPM as a tumour suppressor.

4.4.4 Implications in transcriptional regulation

In addition to its roles in development and receptor signalling, RanBPM has been proposed to be directly involved in regulation of gene transcription. RanBPM was reported to function as a transcriptional co-activator for AR, GR, and TR, and to mediate their ligand-dependent nuclear translocation [21, 22]. RanBPM was also shown to enhance the sumoylation and transactivation of the early-immediate Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) protein Rta [20], and to interact with the TAF4 subunit of TFIID (transcription factor IID, also known as TBP) [15, 57]. As our data revealed a wide range of gene targets affected by RanBPM expression, we sought to identify potential transcription factors through which RanBPM may mediate its effects on gene expression. Analysis of the over-represented TFBS in our list of differentially expressed genes revealed that the FOX, Homeobox, and HMG families of transcription factors contain the greatest number of binding sites within the promoters of genes affected by RanBPM down-regulation.

FOX proteins comprise a large family of transcriptional regulators that are divided into subclasses according to their function in modifying chromatin structure. The FOXA subclass (FOXA 1, 2, and 3) plays an important role in development, organogenesis, metabolism, and stem cell differentiation [57]. FOXA proteins have been reported to be overexpressed or amplified in human tumours, especially in breast, prostate, thyroid, lung, and esophageal cancers [57, 58]. The FOXO subclass (FOXO1, 3a, 4, and 6) is involved in insulin and growth factor mediated signalling through PI3K/Akt, and is a downstream target of activated Akt [57, 59]. FOXOs regulate differentiation, metabolism, cell cycle arrest, cell death, and tumour suppression [57]. Overall, we identified six FOX family transcription factors with over-represented binding sites in our list of differentially expressed genes, including FOXA1, FOXA2, and FOXO3. Interestingly, deregulation of FOXA proteins has been linked to hormonesensitive malignancies, and is suggested to mediate tumourigenesis through regulation of steroid hormone receptors [58]. As RanBPM has been reported to function as a coactivator of AR, it is tempting to hypothesize that it may function to regulate target gene expression through an AR/FOXA1-dependent process. Additionally, FOXA1 has been reported to mediate chromatin opening and enhance the DNA binding of the GR at the

mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) promoter [60]. RanBPM was also reported to enhance the transcriptional activity of GR [21], further suggesting a potential link between RanBPM and FOXA1 in the regulation of steroid receptor-mediated gene expression.

Our oPOSSUM analyses identified five members of the Homeobox family of transcription factors as being over-represented in the promoters of our differentially expressed genes. Homeobox transcription factors play a pivotal role in the regulation of embryonic development [61], regulate homeostasis, cell differentiation, and organ function in adult tissues [62-64] and their expression is often deregulated in cancer [65-68]. One such example is HOXA5, which during development regulates organogenesis in lung, mammary, and tracheal tissues, and in adult tissues regulates mammary gland development and function [64, 69]. HOXA5 is also believed to function as a tumour suppressor by transactivating p53 to promote p53-dependent and p53-independent apoptotic signalling [65]. Consequently, HOXA5 expression is decreased in tumours of the breast, colon, and lung, and this expression is believed to be regulated at least in part through epigenetic modifications of the HOXA5 gene in these tumours [65, 68]. HOXA5 binding sites are the most highly over-represented in our list of genes, as they are found in the promoters of 134 of 167 genes analyzed. The HMG protein family consists of a unique group of transcription factors that bind to the minor groove of DNA and regulate gene expression through modifications of the DNA structure and through interaction with other factors [70]. Analyses in oPOSSUM identified four members of the HMG family with over-represented TFBS in our gene list including SRY (sex-determining region on Y-chromosome), and the SOX (SRY-related HMG Box) proteins SOX5, SOX9, and SOX17. HMG proteins are critical in cell lineage specification and cell maturation during development, and the SOX proteins in particular have been proposed to function in determining stem cell identity, fate, and maintenance in multiple tissues [70, 71]. SOX proteins were reported to enhance the DNA-binding affinity of steroid hormone receptors such as AR, and this has implications in both development and cancer. Deregulated expression of SOX9 has been observed in prostate cancer, and is linked to prostate cancer progression [72, 73]. The binding sites of SOX5, SOX9, and SOX17 are significantly over-represented in our list of genes affected by decreased RanBPM expression.

Collectively, our analyses of the over-represented TFBS in our list of differentially expressed genes identified several transcription factors which regulate key processes in development, and whose function is often deregulated in cancer. These findings further implicate a role for RanBPM in the regulation of pathways that govern the critical balance between development and tumourigenesis.

All of the candidate genes selected for validation by quantitative RT-PCR confirmed the initial results obtained in the microarray analyses. All nine genes upregulated in RanBPM shRNA cells have previously been reported to be overexpressed in various cancers and/or tumours. For instance, overexpression of RON has been linked to human cancers such as breast, prostate, colorectal, and ovarian carcinomas [35, 55, 74, 75]. RON hyperactivity has been shown to lead to increased cell proliferation, motility, and transformation, and to the inhibition of apoptosis and anoikis [76]. Similarly, ELF3 overexpression has been detected in breast, prostate, colon, and cervical tumours, and is associated with cell transformation [77, 78]. ELF3 is believed to promote tumourigenesis through transcriptional regulation of several known oncogenes, including TGF^β [78]. Abnormal expression of L1CAM has also been observed in various cancer types and linked to cell proliferation, migration, invasion, and metastasis of cancer cells [47]; and Rab27B [79], ALDH1A3 [80], MSLN1 [38], LAMB3 [81], PHD3 [82], and MFAP5 [83] levels have all been reported to be increased in various cancer types. Further, both TG2 and CHN1, the expression of which is strongly down-regulated in RanBPM shRNA cells, have been linked to tumourigenesis, and CHN1 has been proposed to function as a tumour suppressor [84, 85]. Overall, these findings suggest that RanBPM functions to prevent aberrant gene expression that may lead to oncogenesis. This reinforces the notion that has previously been inferred in several studies, that RanBPM may function as a tumour suppressor [10, 19, 23].

4.4.5 Potential implications in epigenetic regulation

The quantitative RT-PCR analysis of target gene expression following reexpression of RanBPM in Hela and HCT116 RanBPM shRNA cells revealed two categories of genes. The first group comprises genes which responded to RanBPM reexpression, and consists of RON, ELF3, Rab27B, L1CAM, and ALDH1A3. For these genes, re-expression of RanBPM reversed the effect observed upon RanBPM downregulation, at least partially. Analysis of the promoters of these genes using oPOSSUM did not reveal any common TFBS. While we cannot rule out a direct effect of RanBPM at these gene promoters, an alternate possibility is that RanBPM modulates signalling pathways that regulate the expression of these genes. The second group comprises genes which did not show a transcriptional response to restoration of RanBPM expression. This group consists of LAMB3, PHD3, TG2, CHN1, and MFAP5. Analysis of samples prepared 72h post-transfection with RanBPM si-mt showed identical results (data not shown). This suggests the possibility that RanBPM down-regulation establishes longterm changes in gene expression programs, such as epigenetic modifications, that cannot be reversed by transient re-expression of RanBPM. Interestingly several candidate genes, and transcription factors identified by oPOSSUM analysis, that are affected in response to down-regulation of RanBPM are known to be regulated through epigenetic modifications. For example, LAMB3 expression, which is up-regulated in gastric cancer cells, was shown to be regulated by demethylation of its promoter [86]. Down-regulation of TG2 expression is linked to several types of cancer [84], and has been shown to result from aberrant hypermethylation of the TG2 promoter in brain and breast tumours [87, 88]. Additionally, expression of the HOXA5, SOX9, and SOX17 transcription factors is regulated through epigenetic mechanisms. As discussed above, HOXA5 promoters are hypermethylated in breast and lung cancers which results in silencing of HOXA5 expression, and may correlate with decreased p53 activation and decreased apoptosis in breast tumours [68]. SOX9 has been reported to be hypermethylated in mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), and this hypermethylation is associated with decreased SOX9 expression in these tumours [89]. Hypermethylation of SOX9 in MCL tumours also correlated with higher proliferation, increased chromosomal abnormalities, and reduced overall patient survival [89]. The promoter region of SOX17 is hypermethylated in mammary, gastric, and hepatocellular carcinomas, thereby silencing SOX17 and leading to aberrant activation of Wnt signalling [90, 91]. These findings suggest that RanBPM may have broad effects on gene transcription, and may function both directly on gene

promoters, and indirectly through modification of epigenetic programs, to regulate gene expression.

4.4.6 Conclusion

Overall, the results of this study indicate that alterations in the expression of RanBPM has profound and wide ranging effects on genes and pathways that play important roles in the regulation of developmental programs, and are linked to tumourigenesis when disrupted. RanBPM may therefore have a central role in controlling the activity of several signalling pathways that function to coordinate cell proliferation and differentiation during mammalian development and that are tightly regulated in adult tissues to maintain homeostatic regulations and prevent tumourigenesis.

4.5 References

[1] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100: 57-70.

[2] McIntyre RE, van der Weyden L and Adams DJ. Cancer gene discovery in the mouse. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 2012; 22: 14-20.

[3] Mattison J, van der Weyden L, Hubbard T and Adams DJ. Cancer gene discovery in mouse and man. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009; 1796: 140-161.

[4] Hahn WC and Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumour cells. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 1593-1603.

[5] Nakamura M, Masuda H, Horii J, Kuma K, Yokoyama N, Ohba T, Nishitani H, Miyata T, Tanaka M and Nishimoto T. When overexpressed, a novel centrosomal protein, RanBPM, causes ectopic microtubule nucleation similar to gamma-tubulin. J Cell Biol 1998; 143: 1041-1052.

[6] Nishitani H, Hirose E, Uchimura Y, Nakamura M, Umeda M, Nishii K, Mori N and Nishimoto T. Full-sized RanBPM cDNA encodes a protein possessing a long stretch of proline and glutamine within the N-terminal region, comprising a large protein complex. Gene 2001; 272: 25-33.

[7] Scantlebury N, Zhao XL, Moncalvo VGR, Camiletti A, Zahanova S, Dineen A, Xin JH and Campos AR. The Drosophila Gene RanBPM Functions in the Mushroom Body to Regulate Larval Behavior. PLoS One 2010; 5:

[8] Dansereau DA and Lasko P. RanBPM regulates cell shape, arrangement, and capacity of the female germline stem cell niche in Drosophila melanogaster. J Cell Biol 2008; 182: 963-977.

[9] Valiyaveettil M, Bentley AA, Gursahaney P, Hussien R, Chakravarti R, Kureishy N, Prag S and Adams JC. Novel role of the muskelin-RanBP9 complex as a nucleocytoplasmic mediator of cell morphology regulation. J Cell Biol 2008; 182: 727-739.

141

[10] Denti S, Sirri A, Cheli A, Rogge L, Innamorati G, Putignano S, Fabbri M, Pardi R and Bianchi E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 13027-13034.

[11] Cheng L, Lemmon S and Lemmon V. RanBPM is an L1-interacting protein that regulates L1-mediated mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. J Neurochem 2005; 94: 1102-1110.

[12] Woo JA, Roh SE, Lakshmana MK and Kang DE. Pivotal role of RanBP9 in integrin-dependent focal adhesion signalling and assembly. Faseb Journal 2012; 26: 1672-1681.

[13] Chang Y, Paramasivam M, Girgenti MJ, Walikonis RS, Bianchi E and LoTurco JJ. RanBPM Regulates the Progression of Neuronal Precursors through M-Phase at the Surface of the Neocortical Ventricular Zone. Developmental Neurobiology 2010; 70: 1-15.

[14] Yin YX, Sun ZP, Huang SH, Zhao L, Geng Z and Chen ZY. RanBPM contributes to TrkB signalling and regulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced neuronal morphogenesis and survival. Journal of Neurochemistry 2010; 114: 110-121.

[15] Brunkhorst A, Karlen M, Shi J, Mikolajczyk M, Nelson MA, Metsis M and Hermanson O. A specific role for the TFIID subunit TAF4 and RanBPM in neural progenitor differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 2005; 29: 250-258.

[16] Wang D, Li Z, Messing EM and Wu G. Activation of Ras/Erk pathway by a novel MET-interacting protein RanBPM. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 36216-36222.

[17] Yuan Y, Fu C, Chen H, Wang X, Deng W and Huang BR. The Ran binding protein RanBPM interacts with TrkA receptor. Neurosci Lett 2006; 407: 26-31.

[18] Wang L, Fu CB, Cui YB, Xie YF, Yuan YH, Wang X, Chen H and Huang BR. The Ran-binding protein RanBPM can depress the NF-kappa B pathway by interacting with TRAF6. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 2012; 359: 83-94. [19] Kramer S, Ozaki T, Miyazaki K, Kato C, Hanamoto T and Nakagawara A. Protein stability and function of p73 are modulated by a physical interaction with RanBPM in mammalian cultured cells. Oncogene 2005; 24: 938-944.

[20] Chang LK, Liu ST, Kuo CW, Wang WH, Chuang JY, Bianchi E and Hong YR. Enhancement of transactivation activity of Rta of Epstein-Barr virus by RanBPM. J Mol Biol 2008; 379: 231-242.

[21] Rao MA, Cheng H, Quayle AN, Nishitani H, Nelson CC and Rennie PS. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 48020-48027.

[22] Poirier MB, Laflamme L and Langlois MF. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. J Mol Endocrinol 2006; 36: 313-325.

[23] Atabakhsh E, Bryce DM, Lefebvre KJ and Schild-Poulter C. RanBPM has proapoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. Mol Cancer Res 2009; 7: 1962-1972.

[24] Irizarry RA, Bolstad BM, Collin F, Cope LM, Hobbs B and Speed TP. Summaries of affymetrix GeneChip probe level data. Nucleic Acids Research 2003; 31:

[25] Thomas PD, Kejariwal A, Campbell MJ, Mi H, Diemer K, Guo N, Ladunga I, Ulitsky-Lazareva B, Muruganujan A, Rabkin S, Vandergriff JA and Doremieux O. PANTHER: a browsable database of gene products organized by biological function, using curated protein family and subfamily classification. Nucleic Acids Res 2003; 31: 334-341.

[26] Ho Sui SJ, Fulton DL, Arenillas DJ, Kwon AT and Wasserman WW. oPOSSUM: integrated tools for analysis of regulatory motif over-representation. Nucleic Acids Res 2007; 35: W245-252.

[27] Ho Sui SJ, Mortimer JR, Arenillas DJ, Brumm J, Walsh CJ, Kennedy BP and Wasserman WW. oPOSSUM: identification of over-represented transcription factor binding sites in co-expressed genes. Nucleic Acids Res 2005; 33: 3154-3164.

[28] Wang Y, Barbacioru C, Hyland F, Xiao W, Hunkapiller KL, Blake J, Chan F, Gonzalez C, Zhang L and Samaha RR. Large scale real-time PCR validation on gene expression measurements from two commercial long-oligonucleotide microarrays. BMC Genomics 2006; 7: 59.

[29] Canales RD, Luo Y, Willey JC, Austermiller B, Barbacioru CC, Boysen C, Hunkapiller K, Jensen RV, Knight CR, Lee KY, Ma Y, Maqsodi B, Papallo A, Peters EH, Poulter K, Ruppel PL, Samaha RR, Shi L, Yang W, Zhang L and Goodsaid FM. Evaluation of DNA microarray results with quantitative gene expression platforms. Nat Biotechnol 2006; 24: 1115-1122.

[30] Mikolajczyk M, Shi J, Vaillancourt RR, Sachs NA and Nelson M. The cyclindependent kinase 11(p46) isoform interacts with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 310: 14-18.

[31] Bai D, Chen H and Huang BR. RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 309: 552-557.

[32] Wang Y, Marion Schneider E, Li X, Duttenhofer I, Debatin K and Hug H. HIPK2 associates with RanBPM. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 297: 148-153.

[33] Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ and Ivy SP. Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, notch, and Hedgehog pathways. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology 2011; 8: 97-106.

[34] Lin GL and Hankenson KD. Integration of BMP, Wnt, and Notch Signalling Pathways in Osteoblast Differentiation. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 2011; 112: 3491-3501. [35] Wagh PK, Gray JK, Zinser GM, Vasiliauskas J, James L, Monga SP and Waltz SE. beta-Catenin is required for Ron receptor-induced mammary tumourigenesis.Oncogene 2011; 30: 3694-3704.

[36] D'Souza B, Miyamoto A and Weinmaster G. The many facets of Notch ligands. Oncogene 2008; 27: 5148-5167.

[37] Sethi N and Kang Y. Notch signalling in cancer progression and bone metastasis. British Journal of Cancer 2011; 105: 1805-1810.

[38] Shih Ie M and Davidson B. Pathogenesis of ovarian cancer: clues from selected overexpressed genes. Future Oncol 2009; 5: 1641-1657.

[39] Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signalling in development and disease. Cell 2006; 127: 469-480.

[40] Puverel S, Barrick C, Dolci S, Coppola V and Tessarollo L. RanBPM is essential for mouse spermatogenesis and oogenesis. Development 2011; 138: 2511-2521.

[41] Wehner M, Kunzelmann S and Herrmann C. The guanine cap of human guanylate-binding protein 1 is responsible for dimerization and self-activation of GTP hydrolysis. Febs Journal 2012; 279: 203-210.

[42] De Donato M, Mariani M, Petrella L, Martinelli E, Zannoni GF, Vellone V, Ferrandina G, Shahabi S, Scambia G and Ferlini C. Class III beta-tubulin and the cytoskeletal gateway for drug resistance in ovarian cancer. Journal of Cellular Physiology 2012; 227: 1034-1041.

[43] Yu CJ, Chang KP, Chang YJ, Hsu CW, Liang Y, Yu JS, Chi LM, Chang YS and Wu CC. Identification of Guanylate-Binding Protein 1 as a Potential Oral Cancer Marker Involved in Cell Invasion Using Omics-Based Analysis. Journal of Proteome Research 2011; 10: 3778-3788.

[44] Khalfallah O, Rouleau M, Barbry P, Bardoni B and Lalli E. Dax-1 knockdown in mouse embryonic stem cells induces loss of pluripotency and multilineage differentiation. Stem Cells 2009; 27: 1529-1537.

145

[45] Kinsey M, Smith R, Iyer AK, McCabe ER and Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI and its downstream target NR0B1 interact directly to modulate transcription and oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 9047-9055.

[46] Gast D, Riedle S, Issa Y, Pfeifer M, Beckhove P, Sanderson MP, Arlt M, Moldenhauer G, Fogel M, Kruger A and Altevogt P. The cytoplasmic part of L1-CAM controls growth and gene expression in human tumours that is reversed by therapeutic antibodies. Oncogene 2008; 27: 1281-1289.

[47] Raveh S, Gavert N and Ben-Ze'ev A. L1 cell adhesion molecule (L1CAM) in invasive tumours. Cancer Lett 2009; 282: 137-145.

[48] Ramos JW. The regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in mammalian cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008; 40: 2707-2719.

[49] Wellbrock C, Karasarides M and Marais R. The RAF proteins take centre stage. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 875-885.

[50] Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L and Hawkins P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2012; 13: 195-203.

[51] Engelman JA. Targeting PI3K signalling in cancer: opportunities, challenges and limitations. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 550-562.

[52] Chandrasekar B, Patel DN, Mummidi S, Kim JW, Clark RA and Valente AJ. Interleukin-18 suppresses adiponectin expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes via a novel signal transduction pathway involving ERK1/2-dependent NFATc4 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 4200-4209.

[53] Silletti S, Yebra M, Perez B, Cirulli V, McMahon M and Montgomery AM. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-dependent gene expression contributes to L1 cell adhesion molecule-dependent motility and invasion. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 28880-28888. [54] Camp ER, Yang A, Gray MJ, Fan F, Hamilton SR, Evans DB, Hooper AT, Pereira DS, Hicklin DJ and Ellis LM. Tyrosine kinase receptor RON in human pancreatic cancer: expression, function, and validation as a target. Cancer 2007; 109: 1030-1039.

[55] Wagh PK, Peace BE and Waltz SE. Met-related receptor tyrosine kinase Ron in tumour growth and metastasis. Adv Cancer Res 2008; 100: 1-33.

[56] Danilkovitch-Miagkova A. Oncogenic signalling pathways activated by RON receptor tyrosine kinase. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2003; 3: 31-40.

[57] Lalmansingh AS, Karmakar S, Jin Y and Nagaich AK. Multiple modes of chromatin remodeling by Forkhead box proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2012; 1819: 707-715.

[58] Augello MA, Hickey TE and Knudsen KE. FOXA1: master of steroid receptor function in cancer. Embo Journal 2011; 30: 3885-3894.

[59] Tzivion G, Dobson M and Ramakrishnan G. FoxO transcription factors; Regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research 2011; 1813: 1938-1945.

[60] Belikov S, Astrand C and Wrange O. FoxA1 binding directs chromatin structure and the functional response of a glucocorticoid receptor-regulated promoter. Mol Cell Biol 2009; 29: 5413-5425.

[61] Barber BA and Rastegar M. Epigenetic control of Hox genes during neurogenesis, development, and disease. Annals of Anatomy-Anatomischer Anzeiger 2010; 192: 261-274.

[62] Cillo C, Barba P, Freschi G, Bucciarelli G, Magli MC and Boncinelli E. HOX gene expression in normal and neoplastic human kidney. Int J Cancer 1992; 51: 892-897.

[63] Argiropoulos B and Humphries RK. Hox genes in hematopoiesis and leukemogenesis. Oncogene 2007; 26: 6766-6776.

147

[64] Friedmann Y, Daniel CA, Strickland P and Daniel CW. Hox genes in normal and neoplastic mouse mammary gland. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 5981-5985.

[65] Kelly ZL, Michael A, Butler-Manuel S, Pandha HS and Morgan RGL. HOX genes in ovarian cancer. Journal of Ovarian Research 2011; 4:

[66] Liang Y, Xia L, Du Z, Sheng L, Chen H, Chen G and Li Q. HOXA5 inhibits keratinocytes growth and epidermal formation in organotypic cultures in vitro and in vivo. J Dermatol Sci 2012; 66: 197-206.

[67] Morgan R, Plowright L, Harrington KJ, Michael A and Pandha HS. Targeting HOX and PBX transcription factors in ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer 2010; 10:

[68] Raman V, Martensen SA, Reisman D, Evron E, Odenwald WF, Jaffee E, Marks J and Sukumar S. Compromised HOXA5 function can limit p53 expression in human breast tumours. Nature 2000; 405: 974-978.

[69] Gendronneau G, Boucherat O, Aubin J, Lemieux M and Jeannotte L. The Loss of Hoxa5 Function Causes Estrous Acyclicity and Ovarian Epithelial Inclusion Cysts. Endocrinology 2012; 153: 1484-1497.

[70] Wissmuller S, Kosian T, Wolf M, Finzsch M and Wegner M. The high-mobilitygroup domain of Sox proteins interacts with DNA-binding domains of many transcription factors. Nucleic Acids Res 2006; 34: 1735-1744.

[71] Lefebvre V, Dumitriu B, Penzo-Mendez A, Han Y and Pallavi B. Control of cell fate and differentiation by Sry-related high-mobility-group box (Sox) transcription factors. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007; 39: 2195-2214.

[72] Pritchett J, Athwal V, Roberts N, Hanley NA and Hanley KP. Understanding the role of SOX9 in acquired diseases: lessons from development. Trends in Molecular Medicine 2011; 17: 166-174.

[73] Wang H, McKnight NC, Zhang T, Lu ML, Balk SP and Yuan X. SOX9 is expressed in normal prostate basal cells and regulates androgen receptor expression in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 528-536.

148

[74] Thobe MN, Gray JK, Gurusamy D, Paluch AM, Wagh PK, Pathrose P, Lentsch AB and Waltz SE. The Ron receptor promotes prostate tumour growth in the TRAMP mouse model. Oncogene 2011; 30: 4990-4998.

[75] Xu XM, Wang D, Shen Q, Chen YQ and Wang MH. RNA-mediated gene silencing of the RON receptor tyrosine kinase alters oncogenic phenotypes of human colorectal carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2004; 23: 8464-8474.

[76] Benvenuti S and Comoglio PM. The MET receptor tyrosine kinase in invasion and metastasis. J Cell Physiol 2007; 213: 316-325.

[77] Prescott JD, Poczobutt JM, Tentler JJ, Walker DM and Gutierrez-Hartmann A. Mapping of ESE-1 subdomains required to initiate mammary epithelial cell transformation via a cytoplasmic mechanism. Molecular Cancer 2011; 10:

[78] Oliver JR, Kushwah R and Hu J. Multiple roles of the epithelium-specific ETS transcription factor, ESE-1, in development and disease. Laboratory Investigation 2012; 92: 320-330.

[79] Hendrix A, Westbroek W, Bracke M and De Wever O. An Ex(o)citing Machinery for Invasive Tumour Growth. Cancer Research 2010; 70: 9533-9537.

[80] Marcato P, Dean CA, Giacomantonio CA and Lee PWK. Aldehyde dehydrogenase Its role as a cancer stem cell marker comes down to the specific isoform. Cell Cycle 2011; 10: 1378-1384.

[81] Guess CM and Quaranta V. Defining the role of laminin-332 in carcinoma. Matrix Biol 2009; 28: 445-455.

[82] Su Y, Loos M, Giese N, Hines OJ, Diebold I, Gorlach A, Metzen E, Pastorekova S, Friess H and Buchler P. PHD3 regulates differentiation, tumour growth and angiogenesis in pancreatic cancer. British Journal of Cancer 2010; 103: 1571-1579.

[83] Mok SC, Bonome T, Vathipadiekal V, Bell A, Johnson ME, Wong KK, Park DC, Hao K, Yip DK, Donninger H, Ozbun L, Samimi G, Brady J, Randonovich M, Pise-Masison CA, Barrett JC, Wong WH, Welch WR, Berkowitz RS and Birrer MJ. A gene signature predictive for outcome in advanced ovarian cancer identifies a survival factor: microfibril-associated glycoprotein 2. Cancer Cell 2009; 16: 521-532.

[84] Mehta K, Kumar A and Kim HI. Transglutaminase 2: A multi-tasking protein in the complex circuitry of inflammation and cancer. Biochemical Pharmacology 2010; 80: 1921-1929.

[85] Yang C and Kazanietz MG. Chimaerins: GAPs that bridge diacylglycerol signalling and the small G-protein Rac. Biochem J 2007; 403: 1-12.

[86] Kwon OH, Park JL, Kim M, Kim JH, Lee HC, Kim HJ, Noh SM, Song KS, Yoo HS, Paik SG, Kim SY and Kim YS. Aberrant up-regulation of LAMB3 and LAMC2 by promoter demethylation in gastric cancer. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2011; 406: 539-545.

[87] Dyer LM, Schooler KP, Ai LB, Klop C, Qiu JX, Robertson KD and Brown KD. The transglutaminase 2 gene is aberrantly hypermethylated in glioma. Journal of Neuro-Oncology 2011; 101: 429-440.

[88] Ai L, Kim WJ, Demircan B, Dyer LM, Bray KJ, Skehan RR, Massoll NA and Brown KD. The transglutaminase 2 gene (TGM2), a potential molecular marker for chemotherapeutic drug sensitivity, is epigenetically silenced in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis 2008; 29: 510-518.

[89] Enjuanes A, Fernandez V, Hernandez L, Navarro A, Bea S, Pinyol M, Lopez-Guillermo A, Rosenwald A, Ott G, Campo E and Jares P. Identification of Methylated Genes Associated with Aggressive Clinicopathological Features in Mantle Cell Lymphoma. PLoS One 2011; 6:

[90] Fu DY, Wang ZM, Chen L, Wang BL, Shen ZZ, Huang W and Shao ZM. Sox17, the canonical Wnt antagonist, is epigenetically inactivated by promoter methylation in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2010; 119: 601-612.

[91] Jia Y, Yang YS, Liu SA, Herman JG, Lu FM and Guo MZ. SOX17 antagonizes WNT/beta-catenin signalling pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma. Epigenetics 2010; 5: 743-749.

4.6 Supplementary materials

Supplementary Figure 4.1 Analysis of Hela and HCT116 stable cell lines. Top – Whole cell extracts from Hela control shRNA, RanBPM shRNA (2-6), RanBPM shRNA (2-7); and HCT116 control shRNA and RanBPM shRNA (2-8) were analyzed by western blotting. Down-regulated RanBPM expression was verified using a RanBPM antibody, and β -actin was used as a loading control. Fold-decrease in mRNA expression for each cell line is also indicated. *Bottom* – Venn Diagram of differentially expressed genes in RanBPM shRNA cell lines. For each cell line, the total number of differentially expressed genes is indicated in square brackets, and differentially expressed genes common between cell lines are indicated in overlapping regions of circles.



Gene	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
RON (MST1R)	5' AGGGTGTGGAGCGCTGTTGTG 3'	5' CTTCCAGGCCAGGCGGGTTG 3'
ELF3 (ESE-1)	5' AGAAGAGCAAGCACGCGCCC 3'	5' AGCCTCGGAGCGCAGGAAC 3'
MSLN1	5' AGGCTCAGCGCCACGCACTC 3'	5' CCAGGGAGGGAGGCACCGTG 3'
ALDH1A3	5' AGGCGGAGCGTGGAGTATGC 3'	5' ACTGCTTTTGATCAATCTGAGGCCC 3'
CHN1	5' TTCAAGGTGCATACATTCAGAGGGC 3'	5' ACCACAATCTGCACATTTCACTCCC 3'
LAMB3	5' CCATTGCAGCCAGGCTCCCC 3'	5' GCTCGGCTCCTGGCTTCCTC 3'
TG2 (TGM2)	5' ACCTCATCAAGGTGCGGGCC 3'	5' TGGGCTCCCCAAGGATCCGG 3'
L1CAM	5' CGCAGCAAGGGCGGCAAATAC 3'	5' TCTCCAGGGACCTGTACTCGC 3'
PHD3 (EGLN3)	5' GCCACGTGGACAACCCCAACG 3'	5' CAGGATCCCACCATGTAGCTTGGC 3'
MFAP5 (MAGP2)	5' TCAGCAGCCAAAGGACTCGGTG 3'	5' CCCCAGGGGTATCCAGTCAGAGG 3'
RAB27B	5' CGGGACAAGAGCGGTTCCGG 3'	5' GCTTGCAGTTGGCTCATCCAGT 3'

Supplementary Table 4.1. Primers for candidate gene validation by qRT-PCR

RON, recepteur d'origine nantais/macrophage stimulating receptor 1 (MST1R); ELF3, E74-like factor 3 (ESE-1); MSLN1, mesothelin 1; ALDH1A3, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 isoform A3; CHN1, chimerin 1; LAMB3, lamininβ 3; TG2, transglutaminase 2 (TGM2); L1CAM, L1 cell adhesion molecule; PHD3, prolyl hydroxylase 3 (EGLN3); MFAP5, microfibrillar associated protein 5 (MAGP2); RAB27B, RAB27B member Ras oncogene family.

		Hela RanE	BPM sh (2-6)	Hela RanE	BPM sh (2-7)	HCT RanE	BPM sh (2-8)
Gene Symbol	Accession No.	p-value	Fold Change	p-value	Fold Change	p-value	Fold Change
Down-regulated (Genes						
MLLT11	NM_006818	1.21E-05	-1.94805	1.78E-04	-1.65798	7.68E-03	-1.42647
PLA2G4A	NM_024420	9.94E-04	-1.98148	2.50E-02	-1.50694	1.04E-01	-1.38663
CAMSAP1L1	NM_203459	1.86E-04	-1.28092	7.56E-04	-1.23381	4.25E-04	-1.2971
Clorf71	NM_152609	3.65E-04	-1.26617	5.95E-06	-1.43517	5.50E-03	-1.20895
PTGS2	NM_000963	1.55E-03	-2.23247	7.75E-05	-3.13005	4.15E-01	-1.21651
KDM5B	NM_006618	2.38E-01	-1.20273	2.37E-01	-1.20358	9.98E-02	-1.35748
ADD3	NM_016824	1.44E-01	-1.20664	3.16E-04	-1.7965	1.73E-01	-1.22262
KLC2	NM_022822	7.57E-06	-1.45389	2.19E-04	-1.30358	8.60E-03	-1.20564
PANX1	NM_015368	1.69E-02	-1.28365	6.50E-02	-1.20168	1.01E-01	-1.20387
TARBP2	NM_134323	1.36E-07	-1.49385	1.64E-07	-1.48434	1.02E-03	-1.20971
NAV3	NM_014903	3.51E-02	-1.25264	4.96E-03	-1.38175	5.98E-07	-2.70703
ISCU	NM_014301	1.11E-07	-1.56273	6.43E-08	-1.59608	1.68E-05	-1.38687
RERG	NM_032918	7.97E-02	-1.38315	1.20E-02	-1.64535	2.20E-02	-1.66901
SSH1	NM_001161330	1.66E-02	-1.2583	1.96E-02	-1.24929	6.79E-05	-1.74098
GNG2	NM_053064	1.17E-04	-1.56726	1.07E-02	-1.28025	7.66E-02	-1.20227
ADAM21	NM_003813	2.33E-01	-1.23904	2.48E-01	-1.23016	3.64E-01	-1.20459
ADAM21	NM_003813	6.46E-03	-1.49927	7.95E-03	-1.47916	5.32E-02	-1.35929
ATPBD4	NM_080650	4.97E-03	-1.38728	2.73E-02	-1.27256	1.25E-01	-1.20153
MNS1	NM_018365	2.12E-03	-1.24488	4.02E-03	-1.22116	1.03E-02	-1.21957
MFGE8	NM_005928	2.91E-04	-2.09135	3.83E-03	-1.69699	3.03E-01	-1.20496
FGF11	NM_004112	1.46E-01	-1.30058	2.13E-01	-1.24941	3.02E-01	-1.23479
STARD3	NM_006804	1.64E-06	-1.32588	2.20E-06	-1.31601	1.74E-04	-1.22799
PITPNC1	NM_181671	7.03E-05	-2.5873	2.73E-06	-3.68728	3.87E-02	-1.55431
FXR2	NM_004860	1.81E-05	-1.24529	3.34E-05	-1.22921	2.13E-04	-1.21627
ALDOC	NM_005165	4.77E-02	-1.53452	8.64E-02	-1.43808	2.97E-01	-1.27832
GPR125	NM_145290	2.30E-03	-1.27392	1.75E-03	-1.28586	2.09E-02	-1.21458
MRPL34	NM_023937	1.87E-07	-1.58934	4.04E-08	-1.69516	2.88E-05	-1.39995
OLFM2	NM_058164	5.18E-03	-1.79105	1.79E-02	-1.60066	1.52E-01	-1.35655
ZNF585B	NM_152279	6.12E-02	-1.31428	7.42E-03	-1.52573	1.61E-05	-2.78181
TANK	NM_004180	3.16E-02	-1.23583	4.09E-02	-1.22079	5.57E-05	-1.81299
CHN1	NM_001822	3.27E-02	-1.23527	5.21E-03	-1.34482	3.19E-04	-1.6401
SATB2	NM_015265	7.03E-05	-1.53953	2.17E-03	-1.33286	4.69E-03	-1.34527
SCG2	NM_003469	1.58E-01	-1.3339	4.69E-03	-1.92649	1.23E-01	-1.44325
SERPINE2	NM_001136529	4.12E-03	-1.94032	3.54E-01	-1.20136	4.16E-01	-1.20337
SPTLC3	NM_018327	3.38E-07	-2.4565	2.13E-06	-2.14408	7.89E-02	-1.23241
JAG1	NM_000214	2.96E-03	-1.98526	2.63E-01	-1.24633	4.81E-02	-1.60611
GGT7	NM_178026	2.31E-02	-1.2819	2.35E-02	-1.28085	6.66E-02	-1.24981
TGM2 (TG2)	NM_004613	2.65E-04	-1.8711	1.45E-04	-1.95422	1.35E-02	-1.51768
ADRBK2	NM_005160	2.26E-07	-1.89169	6.79E-06	-1.59868	9.37E-03	-1.25698
MRAS	NM_012219	7.07E-06	-2.08349	6.24E-05	-1.80706	1.04E-01	-1.22871

Supplementary Table 4.2. List of genes affected by RanBPM down-regulation

ST6GAL1	NM_173216	3.29E-02	-1.25882	7.53E-02	-1.20493	2.22E-03	-1.52625
TBC1D5	NM_014744	1.17E-08	-2.1308	2.04E-07	-1.81176	2.12E-03	-1.30354
TNNC1	NM_003280	1.45E-03	-1.47697	2.47E-05	-1.85436	1.22E-02	-1.38503
CBLB	NM_170662	7.24E-03	-1.42617	2.10E-03	-1.5327	8.45E-02	-1.27219
METT5D1	NM_001113528	1.28E-03	-1.24527	3.23E-03	-1.2131	1.11E-02	-1.20096
B3GALNT1	NM_001038628	8.34E-04	-1.51373	1.34E-02	-1.31586	5.77E-02	-1.2595
DCUN1D1	NM_020640	9.28E-04	-1.42207	3.69E-02	-1.21187	7.44E-02	-1.20334
TBC1D19	NM_018317	3.21E-02	-1.20661	9.70E-03	-1.26742	1.95E-06	-2.0792
SLC7A11	NM_014331	8.25E-02	-1.39848	1.98E-01	-1.27329	3.52E-01	-1.21972
MAML3	NM_018717	3.45E-04	-4.52242	1.55E-01	-1.60779	4.80E-01	-1.30168
PDGFC	NM_016205	4.80E-03	-1.70882	3.39E-02	-1.45408	1.09E-01	-1.36899
C5orf23	BC022250	2.47E-04	-1.92466	1.39E-01	-1.22998	2.23E-01	-1.21372
PCDHB16	NM_020957	1.73E-06	-2.43184	7.53E-04	-1.60758	1.63E-01	-1.20361
RUNX2	NM_001024630	1.74E-02	-1.36279	2.72E-03	-1.52094	8.85E-04	-1.75488
DCBLD1	NM_173674	1.58E-04	-1.97271	1.68E-02	-1.42643	3.21E-02	-1.43175
C6orf211	BC011348	1.05E-03	-1.53886	4.73E-04	-1.60851	2.72E-02	-1.34316
SERPINB9	NM_004155	2.98E-02	-1.41724	4.75E-02	-1.36721	2.45E-01	-1.22258
RANBP9 (RanBPM)	NM_005493	1.21E-09	-2.46026	1.37E-10	-2.92317	1.62E-09	-2.76113
POPDC3	NM_022361	1.20E-07	-3.88063	2.63E-06	-2.80793	9.01E-02	-1.3191
MAN1A1	NM_005907	2.89E-01	-1.44414	2.47E-04	-5.24997	2.23E-01	-1.63354
CHN2	NM_004067	1.17E-03	-1.33711	6.35E-03	-1.25631	2.55E-06	-1.8985
GNAI1	NM_002069	1.22E-03	-1.30292	6.05E-04	-1.33507	1.02E-03	-1.36712
ANKIB1	NM_019004	2.15E-09	-1.99628	3.42E-09	-1.94551	1.09E-05	-1.46284
FLJ30064	AK054626	1.19E-02	-1.23465	1.20E-02	-1.23407	4.30E-02	-1.20536
PRKAR2B	NM_002736	3.45E-04	-1.51304	9.27E-03	-1.30104	8.69E-03	-1.35962
ELMO1	NM_014800	3.04E-10	-5.47252	2.36E-09	-4.22104	6.24E-02	-1.26619
JHDM1D	NM_030647	3.03E-01	-1.22543	2.24E-01	-1.2735	7.07E-03	-2.01056
SQLE	NM_003129	2.04E-02	-1.36587	5.01E-02	-1.29043	2.42E-02	-1.41606
IMPAD1	NM_017813	6.16E-04	-1.37208	4.27E-03	-1.27602	1.43E-03	-1.38843
FBXO32	NM_058229	1.68E-01	-1.43967	1.86E-01	-1.41688	4.74E-01	-1.23644
NR0B1	NM_000475	9.24E-05	-1.35907	2.86E-03	-1.22408	9.06E-03	-1.21559
TMSB15A	NM_021992	2.40E-03	-1.50078	5.97E-03	-1.42557	2.45E-02	-1.37353
CAPN6	NM_014289	1.61E-02	-1.44132	1.39E-03	-1.70707	8.87E-07	-3.77299
CLIC2	NM_001289	5.70E-04	-2.21894	3.48E-02	-1.5143	2.33E-01	-1.28961
Up-regulated Gen	ies						
TMEM56	NM_152487	1.54E-05	1.58243	1.20E-04	1.45086	8.57E-03	1.27857
AMY2A	NM_000699	1.97E-04	1.89055	2.42E-03	1.59469	8.81E-02	1.30332
DNM3	NM_015569	3.70E-05	2.27619	5.53E-02	1.32742	2.18E-01	1.22254
ELF3 (ESE-1)	NM_001114309	8.38E-10	5.40777	1.61E-08	3.76364	6.03E-01	1.20112
DUSP5P	NR_002834	1.30E-04	1.85352	5.92E-04	1.68014	1.16E-01	1.25092
DUSP5P	AK055963	3.46E-04	1.71938	2.55E-02	1.32929	1.28E-01	1.23605
DHRS3	NM_004753	1.22E-03	4.07971	2.40E-01	1.52307	3.94E-01	1.41615
PPAP2B	NM_003713	1.56E-05	1.6272	8.49E-04	1.37031	3.52E-02	1.21952
GBP1	NM_002053	3.57E-06	1.89229	4.01E-05	1.65635	2.62E-02	1.2726
	-						

LAMB3	NM_001017402	9.58E-03	1.46725	1.51E-04	1.94691	1.52E-01	1.24829
TSPAN15	NM_012339	8.49E-08	2.99291	2.66E-06	2.24679	6.67E-02	1.26809
C10orf116	NM_006829	5.53E-02	1.31188	1.29E-01	1.23276	2.10E-01	1.2172
FAM107B	BC072452	4.50E-04	1.36372	7.20E-03	1.23625	2.46E-03	1.33376
FAM111B	NM_198947	1.29E-03	1.47392	3.45E-03	1.403	5.37E-03	1.44156
PLCB3	NM_000932	1.73E-06	1.23013	3.31E-06	1.21553	9.54E-06	1.22635
TCIRG1	NM_006019	3.70E-06	1.42594	6.37E-05	1.30811	6.60E-04	1.26936
PRSS23	NM_007173	8.55E-02	1.21509	7.26E-02	1.22687	1.59E-02	1.39761
GLB1L2	NM_138342	1.99E-04	1.29167	3.31E-04	1.27335	4.54E-03	1.21882
IFITM3	NM_021034	1.05E-03	1.52729	3.90E-02	1.2609	1.39E-01	1.20209
PRKCDBP	NM_145040	1.45E-02	1.2689	1.27E-02	1.27643	7.47E-03	1.36171
IL18	NM_001562	1.46E-02	1.47751	9.54E-02	1.28318	1.79E-01	1.2554
EMP1	NM_001423	3.10E-04	2.03037	2.86E-02	1.43137	1.13E-01	1.33105
SRGAP1	NM_020762	1.07E-02	1.2594	2.89E-02	1.20969	7.36E-06	1.89828
MFAP5 (MAGP2)	NM_003480	5.91E-08	3.81188	2.38E-06	2.63256	1.87E-01	1.21632
PRICKLE1	NM_153026	8.65E-04	2.53978	2.63E-01	1.28881	9.80E-02	1.56251
РСОТН	NM_001014442	1.26E-01	1.22419	9.32E-03	1.45778	1.41E-01	1.25062
LHFP	NM_005780	7.48E-06	2.2658	5.44E-04	1.68312	8.80E-04	1.76235
THTPA	NM_024328	1.22E-06	1.24314	7.77E-06	1.20133	1.37E-05	1.22202
PLEKHG3	NM_015549	1.15E-06	1.64696	1.93E-06	1.6097	5.16E-03	1.25555
LOC388022	AK131040	6.07E-03	1.35422	1.88E-04	1.61103	3.06E-04	1.68425
AP1G2	NM_003917	5.58E-05	1.33624	4.50E-04	1.25886	3.59E-03	1.22432
DHRS1	NM_001136050	3.93E-05	1.78477	1.62E-03	1.45926	7.44E-02	1.23808
EGLN3 (PHD3)	NM_022073	2.31E-04	1.62416	1.85E-04	1.64412	7.00E-02	1.24591
FBLN5	NM_006329	4.78E-04	2.09136	2.18E-02	1.51535	3.30E-01	1.20486
ALDH1A3	NM_000693	6.93E-06	2.48605	3.50E-04	1.83368	5.74E-02	1.35584
MEIS2	NM_172316	9.81E-04	1.25657	6.74E-04	1.2704	5.62E-04	1.32651
MSLN	NM_005823	5.96E-04	1.90214	3.40E-02	1.40282	8.56E-02	1.35907
TMC5	NM_001105248	4.30E-04	1.96946	9.77E-02	1.29488	1.02E-01	1.34208
HSD3B7	NM_025193	1.63E-06	1.53082	8.75E-05	1.33532	1.59E-04	1.36754
C16orf93	NM_001014979	2.82E-03	1.25639	9.19E-03	1.20921	8.97E-03	1.24636
CDRT1	NM_006382	1.98E-04	1.73327	4.81E-02	1.26431	5.32E-03	1.51366
CDRT1	NM_006382	4.79E-04	1.62109	5.34E-03	1.41757	2.28E-02	1.36553
ULK2	NM_014683	9.18E-05	1.42662	8.44E-05	1.43116	5.74E-04	1.39582
RDM1	NM_145654	3.30E-02	1.24351	5.96E-02	1.20757	7.75E-02	1.22423
HOXB5	NM_002147	8.07E-04	1.57366	2.60E-02	1.30036	1.91E-02	1.38102
HOXB6	NM_018952	2.11E-04	1.85847	1.02E-02	1.44224	4.62E-02	1.36399
SCARNA17	NR_003003	6.81E-04	1.33125	2.27E-03	1.27697	2.25E-02	1.21306
RAB27B	NM_004163	3.19E-04	2.14986	4.13E-02	1.42978	9.87E-02	1.38312
PMAIP1	NM_021127	3.22E-04	1.33759	1.17E-03	1.28228	1.17E-05	1.60819
PSTPIP2	NM_024430	1.83E-06	1.63595	5.71E-05	1.42369	1.87E-04	1.43202
ALPK2	NM_052947	8.31E-06	3.5668	1.72E-03	2.02592	3.66E-01	1.21451
ZNF91	NM_003430	2.98E-04	1.72095	3.93E-02	1.28992	3.16E-04	1.86383
HNMT	NM_006895	9.08E-03	1.33786	6.32E-02	1.21293	2.45E-02	1.32208

DKFZp434H1419	AK125369	7.62E-03	1.3181	7.73E-03	1.31719	2.10E-02	1.30412
EDAR	NM_022336	1.15E-02	1.28525	4.95E-02	1.20299	2.87E-02	1.27402
GALNT3	NM_004482	5.55E-07	2.28147	8.67E-07	2.20981	3.34E-03	1.45717
SCN9A	NM_002977	6.71E-05	2.68432	2.36E-04	2.36665	1.29E-01	1.37881
SLC4A11	NM_032034	4.11E-05	1.3121	1.18E-04	1.2752	2.28E-05	1.39485
CTD-2514C3.1	NR_004846	1.10E-03	1.61351	2.96E-02	1.32356	3.71E-02	1.36039
SDC4	NM_002999	2.26E-02	1.27084	1.62E-02	1.29191	8.18E-02	1.22376
USP18	NM_017414	4.57E-04	1.70765	6.16E-03	1.45632	1.14E-01	1.25282
MST1R (RON)	NM_002447	1.75E-04	1.59982	1.30E-05	1.84799	3.40E-03	1.45303
FRAS1	NM_025074	1.63E-04	1.88825	1.89E-02	1.38504	2.10E-01	1.20351
ANXA3	NM_005139	2.40E-03	1.30439	4.91E-03	1.27043	2.93E-02	1.22156
CCDC109B	NM_017918	8.21E-03	1.40159	4.98E-03	1.44161	6.45E-03	1.50005
TLR3	NM_003265	2.85E-07	2.40756	1.99E-05	1.81232	6.08E-02	1.24193
FBXO4	NM_012176	2.10E-02	1.422	2.49E-02	1.40495	2.29E-01	1.21585
SH3RF2	NM_152550	1.24E-02	1.53236	2.80E-02	1.43895	5.00E-02	1.44378
ERAP1	NM_001040458	1.38E-06	1.63246	1.48E-05	1.48083	4.36E-04	1.37218
MRAP2	NM_138409	2.00E-05	2.13295	7.38E-06	2.30291	3.67E-02	1.36787
PLEKHG1	NM_001029884	7.22E-03	1.67107	4.12E-02	1.4414	1.69E-01	1.31205
MBOAT1	NM_001080480	7.64E-07	1.71621	1.40E-05	1.51059	6.26E-03	1.2591
C6orf132	ENST0000034186	2.99E-07	2.60787	1.76E-06	2.26832	1.20E-02	1.4013
COBL	NM_015198	4.52E-02	1.33178	7.54E-02	1.28395	1.01E-01	1.30195
MATN2	NM_002380	9.63E-04	1.50342	3.61E-03	1.4057	3.65E-02	1.29524
RHPN1	NM_052924	1.23E-04	1.29147	3.74E-04	1.25316	4.87E-03	1.20379
C8orf51	NR_026785	8.67E-07	1.27628	5.59E-06	1.22846	8.06E-05	1.20001
C8orf73	NM_001100878	1.04E-02	1.37454	6.80E-02	1.23581	1.03E-02	1.44525
NPR2	NM_003995	1.58E-05	1.46282	6.67E-05	1.38947	8.63E-03	1.22615
GRHPR	NM_012203	2.38E-03	1.2851	1.60E-02	1.20268	2.80E-02	1.20965
FAM189A2	NM_004816	2.68E-02	1.46127	2.05E-03	1.79215	1.39E-01	1.31887
C9orf3	AF043897	1.69E-05	1.48498	2.18E-05	1.47055	2.43E-06	1.73043
NIPSNAP3A	NM_015469	1.28E-05	1.44175	2.96E-03	1.21701	9.71E-03	1.20717
ARRDC1	NM_152285	4.09E-07	1.74846	5.70E-07	1.72052	4.51E-03	1.26792
PTPLAD2	NM_001010915	2.21E-07	2.42495	3.35E-06	2.00393	3.25E-02	1.28292
TLE1	NM_005077	7.80E-05	1.98957	6.76E-04	1.71392	1.49E-01	1.24041
HDHD3	NM_031219	2.73E-02	1.21184	1.79E-03	1.35297	2.20E-02	1.26123
PTRH1	NM_001002913	8.47E-03	1.25899	2.30E-02	1.211	5.87E-03	1.32616
NPDC1	NM_015392	5.95E-04	1.43109	1.55E-03	1.37363	5.30E-02	1.21613
SCML1	NM_001037540	3.55E-05	1.47592	3.27E-06	1.63206	4.95E-04	1.40074
FAM156A	NM_014138	9.97E-03	1.21367	5.06E-04	1.34309	8.82E-03	1.25655
GABRE	NM_004961	6.66E-05	1.81362	2.29E-03	1.47851	4.39E-03	1.5082
GABRE	U92285	2.59E-04	2.57423	4.17E-02	1.53774	3.39E-01	1.24385
L1CAM	NM_000425	8.88E-03	1.31114	2.74E-03	1.38376	3.21E-02	1.27652

Chapter 5

5. Discussion and future directions

5.1 Summary of findings

RanBPM was first described as a factor involved in Ran-mediated microtubule nucleation. However, this notion was quickly dismissed and many studies have since attempted to elucidate the cellular functions of RanBPM. While some progress has been made in understanding its role, the diverse processes in which RanBPM has been proposed to participate have made defining a unified function for this protein difficult. In this thesis, we aim to address this matter by describing a function for RanBPM in the regulation of signalling pathways that mediate cell survival and apoptosis. Further, this work suggests a previously unknown function for RanBPM as a tumour suppressor, and also expands upon a role for RanBPM in development.

Although RanBPM has been implicated in apoptotic regulation, a specific mechanism for such a role has not been demonstrated thus far. In chapter 2, we identify RanBPM as a pro-apoptotic protein that regulates the intrinsic apoptotic signalling pathway. In this chapter we also provide evidence that RanBPM modulates the localization and expression of Bcl-2 family proteins, thus identifying a novel mechanism by which RanBPM executes its pro-apoptotic activity. We go on to show in chapter 3 that the effect of RanBPM on the expression of Bcl-2 family proteins is mediated at least in part, through repression of the ERK1/2 pathway. RanBPM has previously been proposed to regulate ERK1/2 signalling, however, its role in this pathway remains controversial. The studies in chapter 3 reveal that RanBPM inhibits ERK1/2 signalling through destabilization of the c-Raf protein, thus uncovering a novel function for RanBPM in the regulation of the ERK1/2 cascade. Finally, the findings in chapter 4 reveal that altered RanBPM expression affects transcriptional programs involved in cellular signalling, regulation of organism development, and tumourigenesis. This is the first example of a characterization of global gene expression patterns regulated by RanBPM. The data presented in this thesis also suggest a potential role for RanBPM as a novel tumour suppressor in cells. We ascribe this function to RanBPM based upon the

observation that down-regulation of RanBPM expression is associated with the acquisition of multiple hallmarks of cellular transformation. Together, our findings assign a biological significance to the molecular functions of RanBPM by describing how perturbations in RanBPM expression affect normal and pathological development.

5.2 Functions for RanBPM in tumour suppression

A critical aspect of normal cellular function is the ability to balance the extracellular cues that signal either proliferation, or growth suppression [1, 2]. For example, cells in a given tissue are able to stimulate the growth of adjacent cells by secreting mitogenic stimuli, such as growth factors. This triggers growth-inducing signalling cascades, and leads to cell cycle progression and/or differentiation [1, 2]. Conversely, cells can also secrete factors that convey growth-restrictive signals in neighbouring cells [2]. These stimuli activate signalling pathways that prohibit cell proliferation by halting cell cycle progression, inducing differentiation, or activating apoptosis [2]. Importantly, the inability to properly respond to these extracellular cues is associated with the occurrence of pathological conditions such as developmental abnormalities and cancer [1].

A common feature of cancer is chromosomal rearrangements that cause the amplification of oncogenes, and the deletion of tumour suppressors [3]. In its most simple form, an oncogene is defined as a gene that conveys growth-inducing signals in cells, while tumour suppressors are genes whose products potentiate growth-restrictive signals within cells [2]. Thus, mutations that promote the growth-inducing activity of oncogenes, and abolish the restrictive activity of tumour suppressors, together cause the deregulated cellular growth that is observed in cancer [2, 4]. Our analyses of the cellular functions of RanBPM suggest a role for this protein as a tumour suppressor, as absence of RanBPM expression in cells disrupts apoptotic activation, leads to growth factor increases of migration independence, and rates and invasion (Fig. 5.1).
Figure 5.1 ERK-dependent and ERK-independent functions of RanBPM. *Left* – Novel function for RanBPM in the repression of c-Raf-mediated ERK1/2 signalling. Destabilization of the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex by RanBPM inhibits signalling downstream of c-Raf. This has implications in the regulation of cell survival, cell proliferation, cell migration, apoptosis, and transcriptional programs mediated by activated ERK1/2 signalling. *Right* – Regulation of gene expression by RanBPM may occur independently of the ERK1/2 cascade, through Notch and Wnt signalling pathways, and FOX family transcription factors. RanBPM may also inhibit the migratory capacity of cells independently of ERK1/2, by regulating EMT programs or the c-Raf-Rho-Rokα signalling pathway.



5.2.1 Down-regulation of RanBPM expression confers resistance to apoptosis

Pro-apoptotic factors comprise an important class of tumour suppressor genes, and are often mutated or inactivated in cancer [5]. The first piece of evidence for a potential tumour suppressor role for RanBPM arises from the observation that RanBPM is a critical pro-apoptotic factor (Chapter 2). In this chapter, we show that ectopic expression of RanBPM leads to caspase-mediated apoptotic cell death. Conversely, the down-regulation of RanBPM expression was able to protect cells from apoptotic activation induced by DNA damage, and corresponded with an order-of-magnitude increase in cell survival upon exposure to IR. In the absence of RanBPM expression, we also observed a marked up-regulation in the cellular levels of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, and a concurrent decrease in mitochondria-associated Bax. This suggests that down-regulation of RanBPM causes a shift in the cellular ratios of anti- and proapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins within the cell. We hypothesize that this prevents genotoxic stimuli from properly signalling mitochondrial permeabilization, thus blocking the activation of cell death. Based upon the data presented in chapter 2, we propose that RanBPM is required for the proper execution of apoptosis, and that disruption of its proapoptotic activity contributes to the acquisition of a transformed phenotype in cells.

In the future, it will be important to determine whether, in addition to IR-induced DNA damage, RanBPM can also participate in apoptotic activation in response to other forms of cellular stress. For example, exposure to cytotoxic factors can cause ER dysfunction, consequently disrupting calcium homeostasis and protein folding, and leading to apoptotic cell death [6]. Assessing such a function for RanBPM will help to determine whether RanBPM is a general apoptotic factor that can be activated downstream of various stress stimuli, or whether it may be involved in "sensing" specific types of cell stress and mediating the apoptotic response to these stresses. A potential role for RanBPM as a stress sensor is supported by our observation that the induction of caspase-2 activity is abrogated in RanBPM-deficient cells upon exposure to IR. Caspase-2 can be activated by various forms of cellular stress, including DNA damage and ER dysfunction, to trigger pro-apoptotic signalling [7]. While the precise mechanisms of caspase-2-mediated apoptosis remain enigmatic, it has been suggested to promote

apoptosis through both p53-dependent and p53-independent mechanisms [7]. In addition, caspase-2 has been shown to localize to the nucleus and to participate in DNA damage-dependent signal transduction [7, 8]. These observations have also led to the notion that caspase-2 is an important tumour suppressor that safeguards cells from undergoing transformation by responding to specific forms of cellular stress and promoting apoptotic induction, even when p53-dependent apoptotic pathways have become inactivated [7, 8]. As RanBPM is also known to localize to the nucleus [9-11], it will be intriguing to investigate whether RanBPM may be involved in promoting the induction of caspase-2 activity to further enhance the apoptotic response of cells exposed to certain types of genotoxic or cytotoxic stress.

5.2.2 Decreased RanBPM expression is associated with loss of growth factor dependence in cells

Factors that function as negative regulators of growth factor-mediated signalling often exhibit tumour suppressor activities in cells [12-14]. Deletion or inactivation of these negative regulators can contribute to growth factor independence, which is often characterized by the constitutive activation of a component of a signalling pathway that thereby vacates the need for upstream ligand-mediated receptor activation [14]. Here we propose that RanBPM functions as a negative regulator of the ERK1/2 signalling pathway (Chapter 3). We found that down-regulation of RanBPM expression in cultured cells results in the hyperactivation of MEK1/2 and ERK1/2. We also show that the elevated Bcl-2 protein levels observed in the absence of RanBPM is specifically due to the hyperactivation of ERK1/2 signalling. Further, we demonstrate that RanBPM functions to regulate this pathway through the destabilization of the c-Raf protein. RanBPM was found to form a complex with c-Raf, and its expression corresponded with a marked down-regulation in c-Raf protein levels. Intriguingly, this latter effect of RanBPM was especially pronounced on activated forms of the c-Raf kinase. Finally, decreased c-Raf protein levels were found to be mediated through the disruption of the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex by RanBPM. Based upon these findings we hypothesize that in RanBPM-expressing cells, RanBPM prevents aberrant ERK1/2 activation by maintaining

low cellular levels of c-Raf. In the absence of RanBPM expression however, this repression on c-Raf is removed, leading to the deregulation of ERK1/2 signalling. The data presented in chapter 3 indicate that loss of RanBPM expression confers growth factor independence upon cells, thus further contributing to the acquisition of a transformed phenotype in these cells.

Our findings that RanBPM disrupts the c-Raf-Hsp90 protein complex suggest a mechanism by which RanBPM may mediate low c-Raf protein expression. Molecular chaperones are known to be essential for the folding and stability of c-Raf, and blocking c-Raf-Hsp90 complex formation was found to cause its rapid ubiquitination and degradation by proteasomes [15, 16]. Therefore, it will be necessary to assess whether RanBPM expression is associated with increased c-Raf protein turnover. Rapid protein turnover is one of the mechanisms by which cells "fine-tune" the duration of, and response to, signalling cascades. For example, activation of Notch signalling causes the rapid degradation of transcription factors that mediate neuronal differentiation, thereby promoting stem cell maintenance in the nervous system [17]. Likewise, the absence of upstream Wnt activation stimulates the rapid turnover of β-catenin to prevent aberrant Wnt target-gene expression [18]. Therefore, it is plausible that RanBPM may function to "fine-tune" ERK1/2 signalling by maintaining low cellular levels of c-Raf. This role for RanBPM is supported by the observation that it is a component of the evolutionarily conserved CTLH complex that is proposed to mediate the ubiquitination and degradation of various cellular proteins [19-21]. Whether RanBPM regulates c-Raf by promoting its ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation is the subject of on-going investigation in our lab.

The mechanism by which RanBPM destabilizes the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex will also need to be elucidated. One proposed mechanism would be that RanBPM directly competes with Hsp90 for binding to c-Raf. A similar role was previously described for Hsp70, which competes with c-Raf for binding to the co-chaperone BAG1 [22]. In this study, binding of c-Raf to BAG1 was found to be necessary for c-Raf kinase activity, and induction of signalling downstream of c-Raf [22]. Disruption of the c-Raf-BAG1 interaction by Hsp70 was thus suggested to facilitate the repression of mitogenic signalling by c-Raf in response to heat shock [22]. RanBPM may function in a similar manner in order to attenuate c-Raf-mediated ERK signalling. The binding of Hsp90 to c-Raf is not only required for stabilizing c-Raf protein structure, but also for c-Raf catalytic activity and signalling [16]. Therefore destabilization of this complex by RanBPM may provide a means of preventing aberrant ERK1/2 signalling, or attenuating activated ERK1/2 signalling in cells. This notion is supported by our observation that, in addition to modulating c-Raf protein levels in resting cells, RanBPM also robustly down-regulates activated forms of c-Raf. Therefore in this model of RanBPM function, we propose that RanBPM would compete with Hsp90 for binding to c-Raf in resting cells, in order to maintain low c-Raf expression. Upon c-Raf activation, the affinity of RanBPM for c-Raf, or its competition with Hsp90 for binding to c-Raf, would be enhanced and ultimately lead to the down-regulation of c-Raf and repression of its downstream signalling. Alternatively, the interaction of RanBPM with c-Raf may mediate the recruitment of a protein complex that causes the dissociation of c-Raf from Hsp90, thus leading to its destabilization. One of the cellular functions of the molecular chaperone complex is to shuttle client proteins that cannot be properly folded to the proteasomes for degradation [23, 24]. This often requires client-protein transfer, wherein co-chaperones facilitate the physical transfer of protein substrates from one chaperone to another, in order to ubiquitinate client proteins and target them to proteasomes [25]. For example, such a mechanism has previously been described for the ubiquitination and degradation of the Hsp90 client protein ErbB2 (epidermal growth factor receptor 2), by the co-chaperone CHIP. CHIP was reported to bind the Hsp90-ErbB2 complex, and mediate the stepwise dissociation of ErbB2 from Hsp90, followed by its binding to Hsp70, and its ubiquitination and shuttling to proteasomes for degradation [26]. As c-Raf is a known CHIP client protein [27, 28], RanBPM may function to promote CHIP-dependent transfer of c-Raf from Hsp90 to Hsp70, thereby destabilizing the c-Raf-Hsp90 complex. If RanBPM is found to function in this manner, it will also be important to determine whether its binding to c-Raf corresponds with enhanced proteasomal degradation of c-Raf.

A critical physiological outcome of growth factor independence is the ability to undergo sustained proliferative signalling, even in the absence of receptor or growthfactor stimulation [14]. In chapter 3, we demonstrate that RanBPM-deficient cells exhibit a sustained proliferative phenotype, as they are able to grow under serum-free conditions. We propose that this occurs as a result of hyperactivated ERK1/2 signalling in these cells. Collectively, these findings characterize the molecular and physiological consequences associated with RanBPM down-regulation (Fig. 5.1), and serve to further implicate a role for this protein in tumour suppression.

5.2.3 Absence of RanBPM expression corresponds with enhanced cellular migration and invasion

Cytoskeletal proteins are an important class of ERK1/2 effector proteins, and one of the physiological outcomes of ERK1/2 activation is cell migration [29-31]. Thus, it is not surprising that deregulated ERK1/2 signalling can increase cell migration and invasion, and lead to tumour metastasis [29]. In chapter 3 we show that in addition to apoptotic resistance and loss of growth factor dependence, down-regulation of RanBPM expression in cultured cells is also associated with increased rates of cellular migration and invasion. As tumour suppressors are known to regulate processes associated with cell motility [32], these observations further support the potential of such a role for RanBPM. In the future, it will be necessary to determine how RanBPM-deficient cells acquire their enhanced invasive and migratory capacities (Fig. 5.1). This phenotype may be a result of sustained ERK1/2 activation, or may be attributed to the elevated c-Raf levels observed in these cells. C-Raf is known to mediate cell migration and invasion in certain cell types by signalling through the Rho family of small GTPases, in a process independent of its kinase activity [33]. Thus, it is plausible that the increased cell motility observed in RanBPM-deficient cells occurs in an ERK-independent manner, highlighting yet another signalling pathway in which RanBPM may function. Alternatively, RanBPM may affect rates of cellular migration and invasion through a process that is completely independent of its functions on c-Raf and ERK1/2. Specifically, the data outlined in chapter 4 reveal that RanBPM regulates components of the Notch, Wnt, and TGF β signalling pathways, all of which are well-established modulators of the EMT program [34, 35]. Whether the down-regulation of RanBPM

expression is associated with the acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype, and whether this is the cause of the enhanced migratory and invasive capabilities observed in RanBPM-deficient cells, will need to be investigated.

5.3 Regulation of diverse transcriptional programs by RanBPM

The responses to the broad extrinsic cues that cells receive are mediated by changes in gene expression patterns that drive processes such as proliferation, differentiation, and cell death [1, 36]. During embryogenesis, for example, transcriptional changes arising from signalling through the Notch, Wnt, and TGF β pathways facilitate cell fate determination and organogenesis across a wide range of tissues [36, 37]. Similarly, these pathways regulate maintenance, renewal, and repair in adult tissues [36]. Alterations in these transcriptional programs can result in developmental abnormalities, and in diseases such as cancer. Thus, delineating the complex gene regulatory networks of the cell has important implications in understanding both normal and pathological development [38]. The gene expression profiling data presented in chapter 4 implicate a role for RanBPM in regulating the expression of genes involved in organism development and tumourigenesis.

With regard to a role in development, we found that one-quarter of the genes whose expression is altered in response to RanBPM down-regulation are involved in tissue development, and include components of the Notch, Wnt/ β -catenin, and TGF β pathways. Included in this group of genes are factors implicated in the regulation of cellular proliferation, stem cell differentiation, neurite outgrowth, and organ morphogenesis. Additionally, we found that the promoters of many RanBPM target genes contain binding sites for transcription factors that have key functions in development, including the FOX, HMG, and Homeobox family factors. Together, these observations suggest that RanBPM may function to regulate developmental processes both directly and indirectly. With respect to a direct function in development, RanBPM may modulate the expression of components of signalling pathways in order to execute specific developmental responses. For example, we found that RanBPM down-regulation corresponded with decreased expression of the Notch ligand JAG1. During embryogenesis, ligand-mediated Notch signalling is essential for cellular differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and migration [39]. Defects in this pathway, arising from mutations in either Notch ligands or receptors, are associated with severe developmental defects [36]. Specifically, mutations of JAG1 lead to a developmental disorder known as Alagille syndrome, which is characterized by growth retardation and abnormalities in the development of cardiac, renal, ocular, vascular, and hepatic tissues [36, 40]. Intriguingly, in their recent studies of RanBPM function in development, Puverel and colleagues reported that over half of RanBPM-null mice died perinatally, and those which did survive exhibited severe growth retardation [41]. While the causes of the growth and survival abnormalities observed in these mice have not yet been determined [41], it is tempting to propose that they may be a result of defects in Notch signalling. To assess this, it will be important to determine whether JAG1 expression is down-regulated in RanBPM-null mice compared to wildtype controls, and if so, whether this indeed disrupts JAG1/Notch-dependent pathways in RanBPM-null cells obtained from the tissues of these mice. RanBPM may also indirectly function in development by modulating the activity or function of transcription factors that regulate the expression of groups of genes involved in various aspects of organism development. This function for RanBPM is supported by the fact that it is a known transcriptional co-activator of steroid hormone receptors, including the androgen receptor (AR) [42]. AR is involved in the development, function, and maintenance of male reproductive organs and more recently has been suggested to function in a similar role in female reproductive organs [43, 44]. AR has been shown to interact with the transcription factor FOXA1 to regulate the expression of AR target genes during prostate development [45]. In addition, the interaction of AR with the transcription factor FOXO3a has been found to regulate gene expression patterns associated with development, growth, and apoptosis in the prostate and ovary [46, 47]. As our data in chapter 4 indicate that RanBPM down-regulation alters the expression of FOXA1- and FOXO3a-target genes, we postulate that a potential function for RanBPM may be to regulate developmental programs driven by FOXA1/AR- and FOXO3a/AR-dependent transcription. This hypothesis is corroborated by recent findings that highlight a critical function for RanBPM in the development and

function of mammalian reproductive organs [41]. This study reported that RanBPM knockout led to severe gonadal defects that prevented spermatogenesis and resulted in sterility in male mice, and to sterility and premature ovarian failure in female mice [41], the latter being a characteristic that has previously been attributed to the deletion or mutation of FOXO3a [48]. Therefore, future experiments will need to address whether the gonadal abnormalities observed in RanBPM-null mice arise due to defects in the FOX/AR transcriptional program. This may be assessed using gene expression profiling comparing the expression of FOX/AR gene targets involved in development in control and RanBPM-null mice. It will also be important to verify that any observed changes in transcriptional output occur due to the absence of RanBPM, by assessing whether re-expression of RanBPM can restore normal gene expression patterns in RanBPM-deficient cells.

The data in chapter 4 also strongly implicate a role for RanBPM in tumourigenesis, as more than one-third of all RanBPM target genes identified in our analyses have been associated with cancer. We found that down-regulation of RanBPM expression affected signalling pathways that, when perturbed, can promote cellular transformation and tumour metastasis. For example, decreased RanBPM expression corresponded with a marked up-regulation in the expression of the RTK RON, which drives tumourigenesis by enhancing signalling through the ERK1/2 and Akt signalling pathways [49, 50]. Interestingly, we also noted that many of the transcription factors identified in our analyses that normally function in development can become deregulated to promote oncogenesis. For example, in addition to their aforementioned roles in normal biological processes, most FOX transcription factors have also been found to contribute to oncogenic transformation by functioning as either tumour suppressors or oncogenes [48]. FOXA1, for example, exhibits oncogenic activity in certain tissue subtypes, as its overexpression positively correlates with metastatic lesions in the thyroid and prostate [45, 51]. Conversely FOXO3a is an established tumour suppressor, and its deletion corresponds to enhanced cell cycle progression and inhibition of apoptosis [51]. Inactivation of FOXO3a is associated with tumourigenesis in a broad range of tissues, particularly in haematological cancers [48, 51]. In addition to FOX transcription factors, the deregulated activities of Homeobox (ie. HOXA5), [52, 53] and HMG (ie. SOX9 and

SOX17) [54, 55] families of transcription factors are associated with cancer development and metastasis in several tissues. An important question that arises based upon these observations is whether the expression of RanBPM may correlate with the oncogenic activity of specific groups of transcription factors. While it is known that RanBPM is ubiquitously expressed in normal tissues [10], little is known regarding its expression patterns in cancerous tissues. However, one study did report that the expression of RanBPM was either significantly down-regulated, or completely absent, in patient tumour samples from the lung, kidney, and breast, when compared to RanBPM expression in the normal adjacent tissue [9]. As FOXA1 is suggested to strongly contribute to breast cancer development, but not metastasis [45, 51], it will be highly informative to determine whether RanBPM expression may negatively correlate with FOXA1 expression in breast cancer. A similar analysis could be applied to tumour samples from the lung, as it has been reported that the FOXA1 gene locus is amplified in lung cancers [45]. In addition, the expression of HOXA5 [53] and SOX17 [56] is known to be decreased in breast cancers, therefore whether RanBPM expression positively correlates with the expression of these factors in breast cancer will also be of interest to The proposition that RanBPM may regulate the activity of these investigate. transcription factors is supported by previous findings that RanBPM promotes the nuclear localization of steroid hormone receptors and enhances their DNA-binding affinities [42, 57], and that RanBPM itself exhibits a predominantly nuclear localization in resting cells [9-11]. Therefore, it is tempting to hypothesize that one of the roles of RanBPM within the nucleus may be to modulate the function or activity of specific groups of transcription factors, and that disruption of RanBPM expression would impede this regulation, and thus lead to aberrant gene transcription patterns that promote tumourigenesis. Collectively, the findings in chapter 4 suggest that RanBPM can have wide-reaching effects on cellular transcription programs, which when disrupted, may lead to malignant transformation.

5.4 Oncogenic and metastatic potential of RanBPM in vivo

The data presented in this thesis underscore a potentially critical function for RanBPM in regulating tumour suppressor programs in cultured cells. However, an important question that remains to be answered is whether RanBPM can exert such a function in animal models that more closely reflect normal mammalian physiology. This may be addressed through the use of mouse models of tumour formation, and RanBPMnull mice.

The ability of RanBPM to promote tumourigenesis *in vivo* can be addressed by xenografting either control, or RanBPM-deficient cells into athymic nude mice, and measuring the tumour volume in these animals post-injection. We hypothesize that if the absence of RanBPM expression is oncogenic, then mice injected with RanBPM-deficient cells should exhibit increased tumour volume, compared to those injected with control cells expressing physiological levels of RanBPM. To ensure that any observed increase in tumourigenicity occurs specifically due to decreased RanBPM expression, the ability of cells re-expressing RanBPM to rescue the oncogenic phenotype of RanBPM downregulation will also need to be assessed in these mice. In addition, a role for RanBPM in tumourigenesis can be studied in genetically engineered RanBPM knockout mice, by determining whether these mice may be "pre-disposed" to cancer and exhibit increased rates of spontaneous tumour formation, compared to normal littermate controls. An intriguing aspect of utilizing this model to study the oncogenic potential of RanBPM will be determining which tissues may be pre-disposed to tumourigenesis as a result of RanBPM deletion. Based upon previous reports of RanBPM expression in human cancers [9], we hypothesize that tumours may be particularly likely to develop in the breast and lung tissues of RanBPM-null mice. This notion is also corroborated by our findings in chapter 4 that RanBPM-deficient cells exhibit enhanced expression of genes such as ELF-3, L1CAM, and RON, which are all known drive the development of cancerous lesions in the breast or lung [58-60]. In addition, the expression and activity of transcription factors with over-represented binding sites in the promoters of RanBPMtarget genes, such as HOXA5 and FOXA1, are also known to be deregulated in these cancer subtypes [45, 53], further suggesting that ablation of RanBPM expression may

indeed pre-dispose these tissues to tumourigenesis. These mouse models will also be beneficial to assessing whether RanBPM down-regulation is associated with metastatic disease. Our data suggest that RanBPM modulates the invasive and migratory capacity of cells, and may also be involved in EMT of cells (Fig. 5.1). Therefore, it will be interesting to determine whether the number of secondary-site lesions is increased in RanBPM-null mice, compared to controls. For example, advanced stages of breast and lung cancer may be associated with bone metastasis, thus it will be necessary to assess RanBPM-null mice for cancerous lesions of the bone. Further, if RanBPM is found to promote metastasis, the cells from these secondary lesions may be isolated and analyzed for markers of EMT, such as decreased E-cadherin expression or increased vimentin expression [34], and for hyperactivated ERK1/2 signalling. These analyses would provide insight into potential functions for RanBPM in driving EMT and metastatic programs in cancer.

5.5 References

[1] Aaronson SA. Growth factors and cancer. Science 1991; 254: 1146-1153.

[2] Weinberg RA. Tumor suppressor genes. Science 1991; 254: 1138-1146.

[3] Mattison J, van der Weyden L, Hubbard T and Adams DJ. Cancer gene discovery in mouse and man. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009; 1796: 140-161.

[4] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100: 57-70.

[5] Zhivotovsky B and Kroemer G. Apoptosis and genomic instability. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 752-762.

[6] Jin Z and El-Deiry WS. Overview of cell death signaling pathways. Cancer Biol Ther 2005; 4: 139-163.

[7] Kumar S. Caspase 2 in apoptosis, the DNA damage response and tumour suppression: enigma no more? Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 897-903.

[8] Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H and Zhivotovsky B. The unpredictable caspase-2: what can it do? Trends Cell Biol 2010; 20: 150-159.

[9] Denti S, Sirri A, Cheli A, Rogge L, Innamorati G, Putignano S, Fabbri M, Pardi R and Bianchi E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 13027-13034.

[10] Nishitani H, Hirose E, Uchimura Y, Nakamura M, Umeda M, Nishii K, Mori N and Nishimoto T. Full-sized RanBPM cDNA encodes a protein possessing a long stretch of proline and glutamine within the N-terminal region, comprising a large protein complex. Gene 2001; 272: 25-33.

[11] Atabakhsh E, Bryce DM, Lefebvre KJ and Schild-Poulter C. RanBPM has proapoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. Mol Cancer Res 2009; 7: 1962-1972.

[12] Stambolic V, Suzuki A, de la Pompa JL, Brothers GM, Mirtsos C, Sasaki T, Ruland J, Penninger JM, Siderovski DP and Mak TW. Negative regulation of PKB/Aktdependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN. Cell 1998; 95: 29-39.

[13] Shin SY, Rath O, Choo SM, Fee F, McFerran B, Kolch W and Cho KH. Positiveand negative-feedback regulations coordinate the dynamic behavior of the Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK signal transduction pathway. J Cell Sci 2009; 122: 425-435.

[14] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011; 144: 646-674.

[15] Schulte TW, An WG and Neckers LM. Geldanamycin-induced destabilization of Raf-1 involves the proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 239: 655-659.

[16] Kolch W. Meaningful relationships: the regulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by protein interactions. Biochem J 2000; 351 Pt 2: 289-305.

[17] Sriuranpong V, Borges MW, Strock CL, Nakakura EK, Watkins DN, Blaumueller CM, Nelkin BD and Ball DW. Notch signaling induces rapid degradation of achaete-scute homolog 1. Mol Cell Biol 2002; 22: 3129-3139.

[18] Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 2006;127: 469-480.

[19] Tomastikova E, Cenklova V, Kohoutova L, Petrovska B, Vachova L, Halada P, Kocarova G and Binarova P. Interactions of an Arabidopsis RanBPM homologue with LisH-CTLH domain proteins revealed high conservation of CTLH complexes in eukaryotes. BMC Plant Biol 2012; 12: 83.

[20] Regelmann J, Schule T, Josupeit FS, Horak J, Rose M, Entian KD, Thumm M and Wolf DH. Catabolite degradation of fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a genome-wide screen identifies eight novel GID genes and indicates the existence of two degradation pathways. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14: 1652-1663.

[21] Kobayashi N, Yang J, Ueda A, Suzuki T, Tomaru K, Takeno M, Okuda K and Ishigatsubo Y. RanBPM, Muskelin, p48EMLP, p44CTLH, and the armadillo-repeat

proteins ARMC8alpha and ARMC8beta are components of the CTLH complex. Gene 2007; 396: 236-247.

[22] Song J, Takeda M and Morimoto RI. Bag1-Hsp70 mediates a physiological stress signalling pathway that regulates Raf-1/ERK and cell growth. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3: 276-282.

[23] Young JC, Agashe VR, Siegers K and Hartl FU. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5: 781-791.

[24] Taipale M, Jarosz DF and Lindquist S. HSP90 at the hub of protein homeostasis: emerging mechanistic insights. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010; 11: 515-528.

[25] McDonough H and Patterson C. CHIP: a link between the chaperone and proteasome systems. Cell Stress Chaperones 2003; 8: 303-308.

[26] Xu W, Marcu M, Yuan X, Mimnaugh E, Patterson C and Neckers L. Chaperonedependent E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP mediates a degradative pathway for c-ErbB2/Neu.Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99: 12847-12852.

[27] Demand J, Alberti S, Patterson C and Hohfeld J. Cooperation of a ubiquitin domain protein and an E3 ubiquitin ligase during chaperone/proteasome coupling. Curr Biol 2001; 11: 1569-1577.

[28] Dogan T, Harms GS, Hekman M, Karreman C, Oberoi TK, Alnemri ES, Rapp UR and Rajalingam K. X-linked and cellular IAPs modulate the stability of C-RAF kinase and cell motility. Nat Cell Biol 2008; 10: 1447-1455.

[29] Hood JD and Cheresh DA. Role of integrins in cell invasion and migration. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2: 91-100.

[30] Huang C, Jacobson K and Schaller MD. MAP kinases and cell migration. J Cell Sci 2004; 117: 4619-4628.

[31] Ramos JW. The regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in mammalian cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008; 40: 2707-2719.

176

[32] Sahai E. Mechanisms of cancer cell invasion. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2005; 15: 87-96.

[33] Ehrenreiter K, Piazzolla D, Velamoor V, Sobczak I, Small JV, Takeda J, Leung T and Baccarini M. Raf-1 regulates Rho signaling and cell migration. J Cell Biol 2005; 168: 955-964.

[34] Thiery JP and Sleeman JP. Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7: 131-142.

[35] Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ and Ivy SP. Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2011; 8: 97-106.

[36] Andersson ER, Sandberg R and Lendahl U. Notch signaling: simplicity in design, versatility in function. Development 2011; 138: 3593-3612.

[37] Harris PJ, Speranza G and Dansky Ullmann C. Targeting embryonic signaling pathways in cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2012; 16: 131-145.

[38] Stathopoulos A and Levine M. Genomic regulatory networks and animal development. Dev Cell 2005; 9: 449-462.

[39] Sethi N and Kang Y. Notch signalling in cancer progression and bone metastasis. Br J Cancer 2011; 105: 1805-1810.

[40] Bolos V, Grego-Bessa J and de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in development and cancer. Endocr Rev 2007; 28: 339-363.

[41] Puverel S, Barrick C, Dolci S, Coppola V and Tessarollo L. RanBPM is essential for mouse spermatogenesis and oogenesis. Development 2011; 138: 2511-2521.

[42] Rao MA, Cheng H, Quayle AN, Nishitani H, Nelson CC and Rennie PS. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 48020-48027.

[43] Quigley CA, De Bellis A, Marschke KB, el-Awady MK, Wilson EM and French FS. Androgen receptor defects: historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. Endocr Rev 1995; 16: 271-321.

[44] Matsumoto T, Shiina H, Kawano H, Sato T and Kato S. Androgen receptor functions in male and female physiology. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2008; 109: 236-241.

[45] Augello MA, Hickey TE and Knudsen KE. FOXA1: master of steroid receptor function in cancer. EMBO J 2011; 30: 3885-3894.

[46] Yang L, Xie S, Jamaluddin MS, Altuwaijri S, Ni J, Kim E, Chen YT, Hu YC, Wang L, Chuang KH, Wu CT and Chang C. Induction of androgen receptor expression by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt downstream substrate, FOXO3a, and their roles in apoptosis of LNCaP prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 33558-33565.

[47] Brenkman AB and Burgering BM. FoxO3a eggs on fertility and aging. Trends Mol Med 2003; 9: 464-467.

[48] Benayoun BA, Caburet S and Veitia RA. Forkhead transcription factors: key players in health and disease. Trends Genet 2011; 27: 224-232.

[49] Camp ER, Yang A, Gray MJ, Fan F, Hamilton SR, Evans DB, Hooper AT, Pereira DS, Hicklin DJ and Ellis LM. Tyrosine kinase receptor RON in human pancreatic cancer: expression, function, and validation as a target. Cancer 2007; 109: 1030-1039.

[50] Danilkovitch-Miagkova A. Oncogenic signaling pathways activated by RON receptor tyrosine kinase. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2003; 3: 31-40.

[51] Myatt SS and Lam EW. The emerging roles of forkhead box (Fox) proteins in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7: 847-859.

[52] Gendronneau G, Boucherat O, Aubin J, Lemieux M and Jeannotte L. The loss of Hoxa5 function causes estrous acyclicity and ovarian epithelial inclusion cysts. Endocrinology 2012; 153: 1484-1497.

178

[53] Raman V, Martensen SA, Reisman D, Evron E, Odenwald WF, Jaffee E, Marks J and Sukumar S. Compromised HOXA5 function can limit p53 expression in human breast tumours. Nature 2000; 405: 974-978.

[54] Pritchett J, Athwal V, Roberts N, Hanley NA and Hanley KP. Understanding the role of SOX9 in acquired diseases: lessons from development. Trends Mol Med 2011; 17: 166-174.

[55] Jia Y, Yang Y, Liu S, Herman JG, Lu F and Guo M. SOX17 antagonizes WNT/beta-catenin signaling pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma. Epigenetics 2010; 5: 743-749.

[56] Fu DY, Wang ZM, Li C, Wang BL, Shen ZZ, Huang W and Shao ZM. Sox17, the canonical Wnt antagonist, is epigenetically inactivated by promoter methylation in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010; 119: 601-612.

[57] Poirier MB, Laflamme L and Langlois MF. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. J Mol Endocrinol 2006; 36: 313-325.

[58] Wagh PK, Gray JK, Zinser GM, Vasiliauskas J, James L, Monga SP and Waltz SE. beta-Catenin is required for Ron receptor-induced mammary tumorigenesis. Oncogene 2011; 30: 3694-3704.

[59] Hai J, Zhu CQ, Bandarchi B, Wang YH, Navab R, Shepherd FA, Jurisica I and Tsao MS. L1 cell adhesion molecule promotes tumorigenicity and metastatic potential in non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2012; 18: 1914-1924.

[60] Oliver JR, Kushwah R and Hu J. Multiple roles of the epithelium-specific ETS transcription factor, ESE-1, in development and disease. Lab Invest 2012; 92: 320-330.

Appendix I-Permissions

AACR Journals: Instructions for Authors

Page 14 of 16

1

- 1. Reproduce parts of their article, including figures and tables, in books, reviews, or subsequent research
- articles they write;
- Use parts of their article in presentations, including figures downloaded into PowerPoint, which can be done directly from the journal's website;
- Post the accepted version of their article (after revisions resulting from peer review, but before editing and formatting) on their institutional website, if this is required by their institution. The version on the institutional repository must contain a link to the final, published version of the article on the AACR journal website. The posted version may be released publicly (made open to anyone) 12 months after its publication in the journal;
 Submit a copy of the article to a doctoral candidate's university in support of a doctoral thesis or dissertation.

Reuse of Materials by Others

Third parties (or authors who are not the authors of the paper in question) must seek permission to reuse content from the AACR. Please send requests to use an article or its content by completing and returning the AACR Permission Request Form to the AACR Publications Department; Fax: (215) 440-9354; Email: permissions@aacr.org.

Requests to reproduce an article in its entirety will be considered on an individual basis, and permission may be granted contingent upon payment of an appropriate copyright fee. All reproduction requests must include a brief description of intended use.

Our standard turnaround time for permission request replies is two weeks. Please note that if a reply is required in five or fewer business days, a \$50 per request Rush Fee may be assessed. The Rush Fee is levied in addition to any applicable copyright fees.

FREE ACCESS TO AACR JOURNAL ARTICLES AND ARCHIVING MANDATES

All content in AACR journals is made free (open) to anyone to read or use (subject to the conditions listed above) 12 months after its original publication at our online publishing site. In addition, the AACR provides many countries in the developing world with immediate free access to all AACR journals through the HINARI program. Select content will sometimes be made freely available immediately upon publication. Patients or caregivers who need access to an article that is not already freely available should write to pubs@aacr.org.

Assisting Authors with Archiving Mandates

The AACR can assist journal authors in meeting their funders' archiving mandates. Authors of articles published in AACR journals can elect to have the AACR deposit their accepted manuscripts to PubMed Central or UK PubMed Central, thereby meeting the archiving requirements of the following funding agencies:

- National Institutes of Health
- Howard Hughes Medical Institute
- Cancer Research UK
 Wellcome Trust
- · Medical Research Council

When an author submits a manuscript to an AACR journal, he or she will be asked to indicate whether any manuscript authors are employed by or funded by any of the agencies listed above. The author will then be asked to select one of the following options for manuscript archiving:

- My manuscript is funded by National Institutes of Health, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Cancer Research UK, Wellcome Trust, and/or the Medical Research Council. If this manuscript is accepted for publication, please archive it on behalf of the authors. By choosing this option, I authorize the AACR to transmit information to the archive that I sective.
- My manuscript is funded by National Institutes of Health, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Cancer Research UK, Wellcome Trust, and/or the Medical Research Council, but I do not wish the AACR to archive this manuscript if accepted. I understand that it is my responsibility to archive it in accordance with my funder's policies.
- My manuscript is not funded by National Institutes of Health, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Cancer Research UK, Wellcome Trust, or the Medical Research Council; this service is not applicable to me.

http://mcr.aacrjournals.org/site/misc/ifora.xhtml

04/10/2012

AACR Journals: Instructions for Authors

Page 13 of 16

Generic names of drugs are preferred with the brand name included at first mention only to identify new compounds that may not be recognized by their generic name. If a non-U.S. proprietary name is used, the name of the comparable U.S. product should be given. When there is no generic name for a drug, authors should give the chemical name or formula or a description of the active ingredients. Authors should refer to the formally adopted generic names listed in the current edition of USAN and the USP Dictionary of Drug Names.

Abbreviations are in general a hindrance to readers in fields other than that of the author(s), to abstractors, and to scientists whose primary language is not English. Authors should limit their use. Standard Abbreviations are defined as those that may be used without explanation (e.g., DNA). See our list of Standard Abbreviations. Abbreviations not on the Standard Abbreviations list should be spelled out at first mention in both the abstract and the text. See our list of Accepted Abbreviations for examples. Single words should not be abbreviated—for example, melanoma, folate, vincristine, nor should abbreviations be used for individual types of cancer or other diseases that consist of 2 words, such as prostate cancer or breast cancer. Abbreviations should not be used in titles; however, running titles may carry abbreviations for brevity.

COPYRIGHT AND PERMISSIONS

Copyright Transfer

As a not-for-profit organization incorporated in the United States, the AACR adheres to U.S. copyright law (PL 94-553), which became effective January 1, 1978. The law stipulates that copyright for works is vested in the author from the moment of creation and remains the property of the author until legally transferred. Authors who wish to publish articles and other material in AACR journals must formally transfer copyright to AACR. The copyright transfer form must be signed by all authors before AACR an proceed with publication.

After the Editor has made the first decision about the potential suitability of a manuscript for publication (i.e., requesting revisions or a provisional acceptance), all authors on the manuscript will receive an email requesting that they complete an online copyright transfer agreement through the SmartSubmit system. If an author is unable to complete the copyright transfer agreement online, the Copyright Transfer Form can be downloaded and returned to the email address or fax number noted on the form. The AACR journals will not publish a manuscript unless forms have been properly completed and returned by ALL authors.

NOTE: With our writable PDF forms (containing fields within the PDF in which one can type information or add a signature) you will need to add a digital signature (an electronic signature used to authenticate the identity of the signer of a document). Instructions on how to create a digital signature are available for download.

(PDFs require Adobe Acrobat Reader — click icon for free download: 5

It is understood in conveying copyright that the authors have not published this material elsewhere, either whole or in part (except in abbreviated form as a preliminary communication or abstract), and that they have neither concluded previous negotiations nor initiated pending negotiations for copyright of this material.

The duly authorized agent of a commercial firm or commissioning organization must sign the AACR copyright transfer form if the author prepared the article as part of his or her official duties as an employee.

The U.S. government has determined that it has a nonexclusive right to publish or republish material developed from work performed by federal employees. Because the federal government does not recognize private copyright for work performed by its employees as part of their official duties, the journal will accept manuscripts from government laboratories without copyright transfer, provided that the authors abide by the same provisions required of other authors and sign the designated section of our copyright transfer form.

Reuse of Materials by Authors

Authors of articles published in AACR journals are permitted to use their article or parts of their article in the following ways without requesting permission from the AACR. All such uses must include appropriate attribution to the original AACR publication. Authors may do the following as applicable:

http://mcr.aacrjournals.org/site/misc/ifora.xhtml

04/10/2012

PLOS ONE : accelerating the publication of peer-reviewed science

For submissions that describe new software, authors should adhere to appropriate open source standards and deposit source code in an acceptable archive. The manuscript should also provide full details of any algorithms used. See the Manuscript Guidelines for further information.

Back to top

5. Copyright and Licensing

Open Access Agreement

Upon submitting an article, authors are asked to indicate their agreement to abide by an open access Creative Commons license (CC-BY). Under the terms of this license, authors retain ownership of the copyright of their articles. However, the license permits any user to download, print out, extract, reuse, archive, and distribute the article, so long as appropriate credit is given to the authors and the source of the work. The license ensures that the article will be available as widely as possible and that the article can be included in any scientific archive.

US Government Authors

Papers authored by one or more US government employees are licensed under a Creative Commons public domain license (CC0), which allows unlimited distribution and reuse of the article for any lawful purpose.

Images and Figures

Submitted manuscripts should not contain any images or figures that have already been published. This can cause serious copyright concerns. If authors must include previously published figures or images, please obtain express written permission from the copyright holder to publish under the CC-BY license.

Authors must also take special care when submitting manuscripts that contain potentially identifying images of people. Identifying information should not be included in the manuscript unless the information is crucial and the individual has provided written consent by completing the Consent Form for Publication in a PLOS Journal (PDF).

Further information about policies regarding figures can be found in the Figure Guidelines.

Back to top

6. Publication Fees

To provide open access, PLOS journals use a business model in which our expenses—including those of peer review, journal production, and online hosting and archiving—are recovered in part by charging a publication fee to the authors or research sponsors for each article they publish. The fees vary by journal.

http://www.plosone.org/static/editorial.action

04/10/2012

Subject: **Re: copyright transfer** To: Elnaz Atabakhsh Date: 09/05/12 02:27 PM From: Editorial Office

Dear Dr. Atabakhsh,

Congratulation on your exciting achievement...Please feel free to use your paper in any way you like, now and future. There is no need to get permission, but please do cite the source of your paper whenever appropriate.

Thank you again for publishing your wonderful paper with us.

Best regards,

Editorial Office American Journal of Cancer Research http://www.ajcr.us

From: Elnaz Atabakhsh To: Sent: Wednesday, September 5, 2012 12:40 PM Subject: copyright transfer

Hello,

We recently published an article in your journal, in the issue due out September 15, 2012. I will shortly be submitting my doctoral thesis for defense and examination, and will need to submit the data published in our AJCR article as a part of my thesis. I'm just wondering whether I need a copyright transfer from AJCR to do this, or if it is sufficient to cite the article in my thesis.

Thank you in advance for your time and assistance.

Sincerely, Elnaz Atabakhsh

Curriculum Vitae Elnaz Atabakhsh

EDUCATION	
Ph.D., Biochemistry University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada	2012
Honours B.Sc., Specialization in Biochemistry University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada	2007
RESEARCH EXPERIENCE	
Ph.D. Candidate, Department of Biochemistry University of Western Ontario Supervised by Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter, Robarts Research Institute	2007-12
Honours Thesis Project, Department of Biochemistry University of Ottawa Supervised by Dr. Jonathan Lee, University of Ottawa	2006-07
SELECTED PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCES	
 Teaching Teaching assistant-Biochemistry 2280 University of Western Ontario 	2011
 Teaching Teaching assistant-Biochemistry 3382 University of Western Ontario 	2012
 Laboratory Technician, University of Ottawa Lab of Dr. Jonathan Lee, University of Ottawa 	2006

PUBLICATIONS

- 1. **E. Atabakhsh**, D.M. Bryce, K.J. Lefebvre, and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>RanBPM has</u> pro-apoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. *Mol. Cancer Res.*, December 2009.
- 2. **E. Atabakhsh** and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>RanBPM is an inhibitor of ERK signaling</u>. *PLoS One*, October 2012.
- 3. **E. Atabakhsh**, J. H. Wang, X. Wang, D. E. Carter, and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>RanBPM expression regulates transcriptional pathways involved in development</u> <u>and tumorigenesis</u>. *Am. J. Cancer Res.*, August 2012.

SELECTED NON-REFEREED CONTRIBUTIONS

- E. Atabakhsh* and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>Inhibition of the ERK1/2 pathway by</u> <u>RanBPM.</u> American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting. Chicago, IL (2012)
- **E. Atabakhsh*** and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>Inhibition of the ERK1/2 pathway by</u> <u>RanBPM.</u> London Health Research Day. London, ON (2012)
- E. Atabakhsh* and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>Pathways of RanBPM-mediated</u> <u>apoptosis.</u> Oncology Research and Education Day. London, ON (2011)
- E. Atabakhsh* and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>Pathways of RanBPM-mediated</u> <u>apoptosis.</u> American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting. Orlando, FL (2011)
- E. Atabakhsh*, D. M. Bryce, and C. Schild-Poulter. <u>Pathways of RanBPM-mediated apoptosis.</u> AACR Special Conference: Cell Death Mechanisms and Cancer Therapy. San Diego, CA (2010)
- E. Atabakhsh, D.M. Bryce, K.J. Lefebvre, and C. Schild-Poulter*. <u>RanBPM</u> regulates the activation of apoptotic pathways in response to DNA damage. Keystone Symposia: Cell Death Pathways. Whistler, BC (2009)

AWARDS AND FELLOWSHIPS

•	Ontario Graduate Scholarships in Science and Technology (\$15,000/yr)	2010-12
	Oradivate These Desserves Aurand (\$540)	0044

- Graduate Thesis Research Award (\$510)
 Department of Biochemistry Publication Incentive (\$500)
 Western Graduate Research Scholarship (\$7,000/yr)
 Dean's Honour List
 University of Ottawa optrance scholarship (\$2000)
- University of Ottawa entrance scholarship (\$2000) 2003